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CAROLYN VEAL-HUNTER:  __________________ we are honored to be here today presenting to you the Yurok Tribe for discussion of the Tribal Gaming Compact that they have negotiated with the State.  The Yurok Tribe has been seeking ratification of its compact for the past three consecutive legislative sessions, yet this is the first time a legislative hearing has taken place to allow them to tell their story.  
Allow me, also, to thank Senator Pat Wiggins, who so ably picked up the ball when former Senator Chesbro, who advanced the Yurok Tribe agenda for the last two years, was termed out, along with Assemblywoman Patty Berg, who was also the Assembly champion for the Yurok Tribe.

When the voters passed Proposition 1A, the Indian Self-Reliance Amendment, it was tribes, like the Yurok Tribe, that they had in mind.  Their compact, which we’ll hear about today, is not a cookie cutter approach to tribal gaming.  Many of you have read articles in the Sacramento Bee about the poverty and lack of infrastructure at the Yurok tribal lands.  This compact will allow the Tribe to begin to address core infrastructure issues, such as clean water, safe roads, and access to electricity and telephone service.  The compact provides for 99 gaming devices on two separate locations; allows the Tribe to maintain access to RSTF funds; and gives them credit for infrastructure monies paid to Del Norte and Humboldt Counties for mitigation efforts.  This compact has been embraced by the local community and they’ve also adopted an ordinance identical to the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance approved by voters in Proposition 1A. 

Without further ado, allow me to introduce the Yurok tribal members who have traveled here today to discuss their compact in greater detail.  I have here with me at the table today, Chairwoman Maria Tripp; Vice-Chairwoman Bonnie Green; and senior attorney, John Corbett.  Also, in the audience today, is staff attorneys Shawna McCovey(?) and Deputy Director Muretty(?) Wickey(?).  


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MARIA TRIPP, CHAIRPERSON, YUROK TRIBE:  Members of the committee and Chairman Florez, my name is Maria Tripp, and I am chair for the Yurok Tribe.  And I wanted to thank you for this opportunity to testify this morning on behalf of the Tribe.  

The Yurok people have lived along the banks of the Klamath River in rural northern California.  We remain strong in culture, spirit and resolve despite years of economic and social hardship.  We are California’s largest tribe and poorest tribe, with approximately 5,000 members—just over.  Our reservation is comprised of nearly 58,000 acres of land across two counties—Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.  Without a tax base or other revenue, business revenue, the Yurok Tribe does not have the resources to meet infrastructure, employment, or sustainable economic development needs.  The majority of residencies on the upper part of our reservation lack even the basic services that are provided to everyone else in California, including electricity and telephones. 

Our previously negotiated compact is the Humboldt Compact.  It is a 
class III compact and authorizes the Tribe to operate 99 gaming devices.  We want to provide jobs to our people, where the poverty rate is an appalling 80 percent.  We have traditionally been a resource-based tribe with extensive fisheries and forestry management programs.  Conservation measures to protect the Pacific salmon fishery have greatly restricted Yurok’s subsistence fishing in recent years.  However, the Yurok Tribe will continue to be a natural resource-based tribe even as we undertake job creation and other economic development endeavors with the revenue generated by our proposed gaming facility.


The majority of our reservation lands are held in fee by non-Indian interests.  The State of California and both Humboldt and Del Norte Counties receive tax revenue to provide governmental services.  Unfortunately, the financing system in rural California is broken.  Our response has been, and will continue to be, to provide what public services we can offer to all residents of California, including use and access to our cross-deputized Yurok tribal public safety officers and our tribally operated water systems which provide most of the basic services on the reservation for Indian and non-Indian alike.


The Yurok Tribe’s large membership, our extreme economic need, and the limit on the number of gaming devices specified in our compact, prevent the Tribe from having to make any payments into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  Further, our compact allows us to remain entitled to the benefits of the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  Revenue generated from our gaming facility is not expected to be very high.  Due to our large membership and concomitant needs, our compact allows us the ability to deduct the amount to be paid to the State pursuant to entering into Intergovernmental Agreements with Humboldt and Del Norte Counties that would mitigate significant effects on the off-reservation environment that a gaming facility might cause.  We have already demonstrated our capacity to work well with the counties to provide governmental services.


In conclusion, our gaming compact will give us some financial means to begin to address the economic problems we face.  The longer the Yurok goes without the financial assistance gaming would allow, the more difficult it becomes to uphold the duties and responsibilities prescribed to us by our Yurok belief system and by our tribal constitution to reclaim our land base; to preserve and promote our culture; and to provide for the health, education, economy and social wellbeing of our members; and most importantly, to preserve, forever, our own survival.

Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Let me ask you a question about the reservation land, if I could.  That was established in 1988?


JOHN CORBETT:  Well, the reservation has been there way earlier.  What happened is; there were two reservations created early in the nineteenth century when federal law limited the total number of reservations in California into four.  Over the years you had several different Indian tribes up river, particularly the Hoopa; down river, the Iroq.  The 1988 was really a division of the reservation, and the Yurok remained, in part, of what was their former reservation.  So the reservation itself has been continuous, and Yurok residents and Yurok tribal and cultural activities have been continuous since the original European arrival.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And tell me about the Klamath Town site, then; that’s in federal trust?


MR. CORBETT:  No, it isn’t.  In our particular reservation there is a huge amount of allotment under federal policy.  That allotment transferred most of the land to private fee interests within the reservation boundaries, and part of the Klamath Town site is in trust and part is not.  And the reason why it’s so important on the private fee is; the citizens of the reservation are paying the counties their full share for taxes for services in the first place.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I understand.  But for the purposes of this compact, the land in trust issue, at least for me, is extremely important, so it’s the reason I asked.  Part is and part isn’t; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And can you tell me, ultimately, what the reservation, in essence, looks like in terms of the non….is the reservation on the…


MR. CORBETT:  Basically, it’s a natural resource tribe, so the reservation is one mile on each side of the Klamath River from the mouth up 46 miles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The tribal members that live on reservation land; how many?

MR. CORBETT:  I believe that’s approximately….well, are you talking on trust land or within the boundaries of the reservation?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, let’s do both—let’s do trust land and then the boundaries of their reservation.


MR. CORBETT:  Eleven hundred on the reservation itself.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Eleven hundred on the reservation.  And in trust land?


MR. CORBETT:  We’d have to give an estimate, but I would say 500—something like that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Five hundred in trust.  And the aspects of the gaming class III; that would obviously be in trust lands?


MR. CORBETT:  I believe some of the parcels are held in fee as currently listed; some are not.  They would be acquired and put into trust lands, although we believe we own enough we could put the casino there.  There are provisions for two sites—one is at Pame, which is owned by the Tribe trust land; and the other is, there’s available land on the Klamath side.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  We’ll get into that in a minute.  But the compact is set to expire in what year—the terms of this particular compact?


MR. CORBETT:  I would have to check that.


UNIDENTIFIED:  2010.


MR. CORBETT:  2010.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The proposed compact?


UNIDENTIFIED:  Umhmm.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  To expire?  Members have longer terms here than 2010 so I assume…


MR. CORBETT:  I think that’s a reopener timeframe.


UNIDENTIFIED:  Mr. Chairman, it looks like 2025.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, 2025.  How long would you have the compact last?

MR. CORBETT:  Well, I think a perspective is; from the Yurok Tribe’s standpoint, we have been trying to negotiate a compact since 1999.  We worked with multiple governors and we really feel we came to a compromise that’s acceptable to us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go through the proposed compact in some sort of sequential order, if we could.  I do have some questions on particular sections, so what I’m going to do is, I’m going to try to go through the compact in those sections.  I will tell you, that I hope that you have the answers as we move through this because the basic question is, when does your compact end, and if you don’t know that part we’re going to have trouble going through the rest of it.  So, let’s start with Section 4, which has to do with authorized permitted class III gaming.


Under the proposed compact the Tribe is allowed to operate two gaming facilities, as I think you have mentioned, primary and ancillary; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And both must be in the Klamath Town site?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the Klamath Town site is land in trust?


MR. CORBETT:  Some of it is; some of it is not.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it fair to say, then, some of the class III gaming facilities will be in non-trust land?


MR. CORBETT:  No, I don’t believe we’ve located the specific site; we’ve just authorized the Klamath site as the way the compact is negotiated.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m sorry—the Klamath Town site is where these two proposed facilities are going to be located?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, that’s correct, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you just told me that the Klamath Town site isn’t necessarily all land in trust.


MR. CORBETT:  Some of it is not in trust; some of it is in trust.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is the class III gaming going to be in land in trust?  It’s very simple; straightforward; you can’t get any more direct than that question.


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.  Because the timing and other matters, it will only be located on the trust land portions in the Klamath Town site.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, thank you.  And do you currently have a facility or does that need to be constructed?


MR. CORBETT:  We have no gaming facility.  We have our tribal headquarters, tribal court, tribal police and tribal housing at the Klamath Town site.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What are your construction plans?  When do you expect to open your casino?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, because this has been going on since 1999, we had some market studies done; those are now outdated and would have to be updated.  There’s a situation where we would want to negotiate with the Klamath Community Services District.  The Tribe has the capacity to provide sewer for itself and for the casino, however, that district needs the added volume of both tribal business to really succeed and right now it’s under cease and desist orders from the regional board and is unable to provide adequate facilities.  So one part is; we’d have to complete negotiations with them.  So, to really answer, it would not be in the near future; it would be one to two years out at the earliest.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  One to two years out?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is there any requirement to demonstrate local support for the construction of this casino—installation of slot machines?  I mean, do you have anything to tell us—if there’s local support for this beyond telephone polls?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  


MR. CORBETT:  First of all, we have a great working relationship with local government.  And so for example, California law is enforced under cross deputization with Humboldt and Del Norte Counties by tribal police; and vice versa, California police or the county sheriff’s office also enforces on the reservation.  And as we mentioned in our earlier statement, many of the water systems are for Indian and non-Indian alike.


In addition, the compact has a huge incentive for us to cooperate locally, and that is, if we get agreements from local governments we can get set-asides from the revenue that goes to the State of California.  And that is our intention, is to seek those set-asides.  And as I said, we have some governmental services issues that will require cooperation to properly solve both entities.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go over, if we could, the terms of the slot machines under this section.  You’re authorized to offer no more than 99 slot machines; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, that’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And only 20 can be operated at the ancillary?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s the significance of 99?  I mean, why not a larger number?  Why only 99?  Is that what the market bears?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, first of all, we are in a rural area.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We are what?


MR. CORBETT:  In a rural area, and there will not be a huge market.  Second of all, there are tradeoffs in the compact that were made to get at that number.  One of them is, we can still collect your RSTF funds while still operating a casino.  The State of California felt it needed to put a limit on the machines in order to protect itself, and in effect, they didn’t want you to get paid twice.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you are, under this.


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, although we believe the revenue generated by 99 machines is going to be rather modest.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And are there any plans for card tables or card games, or is this simply a slot machine operation?


MR. CORBETT:  We currently would have to.  Because this has been going on since 1999, we have to put the whole thing out for bid.  In ’99, in one of the marketing studies, there were also card tables proposed and we really want to base it on a marketing study that shows what will have a reasonable prospect of making it in a rural site.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you let the Governor’s Office know that that was within the plans of this particular…


MR. CORBETT:  There have been extensive negotiations with multiples of the Governor’s Office.  We’ve not hidden anything.  We’ve shared every document anyone has asked for.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  When was your marketing study going to be completed?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, because we have had so many challenges getting through the State Legislature, we wanted to wait and see whether we could even get a compact before we start the whole process again because it’s been going on from 1999, from our perspective, and we don’t want to do a study and then have to redo a study and then redo a study.  We did do an updated environmental report that we shared with the Governor’s Office.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The Tribe is required to pay the State a minimum of 10 percent of net win?


MR. CORBETT:  That would be under the zero to $50 million minus the offsets on agreed upon local governmental services.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Minus those.  So it’s, for the first $50 million, 
10 percent.  Anything above $50 million it raises to what?


MR. CORBETT:  Fourteen percent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fourteen percent.  And then all the way up to a 
25 percentage if you go over $200 million?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you ever expect to hit that?


MR. CORBETT:  No.  We’re hoping to hit the upper end of the first percentage.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So what was the purpose of negotiating up to 25 percent?  It sounds good, or, I mean, what’s the…


MR. CORBETT:  Those particular provisions, we didn’t care because we’re never going to pay them, so we negotiated for the percentages that mattered to us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Pay them meaning pay the State of California?


MR. CORBETT:  Right.  I mean, it would be unrealistic for you to think that we would have $200 million.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright.  And so, if it’s unrealistic for us to think we’d ever have more than $200 million and the 25 percent number has been set in terms of the negotiation then, just for the committee, as we understand these compacts, that’s never going to happen?


MR. CORBETT:  It will never happen.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  


MR. CORBETT:  You can take that to the bank, or, not to the bank, in this case.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why is the Tribe required to pay an amount to the State given that we exempted, in many cases….in the ’99 compact we exempted the first 350 machines from any payment whatsoever, so the ’99 we simply said no payment.  And yet on yours, for the first 99, we’re in essence taking a 10 percent.  Do you guys talk about that?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.  And changes were made after the ’99 compacts with the prior governor as well, as well with this governor, and they have demanded additional revenue for California.  I think the impetus for that came out of the State budget crisis; I’m not sure.  We feel we’ve negotiated for years with a lot of give and take and so we accepted this _________.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess my question is more for the Administration but it just seems a bit odd.  We have a tribe with over 11,000….4,000 plus members and the State is taking our percentage, and I’m just kind of wondering how that worked with some of the past negotiations.


MR. CORBETT:  And I think another perspective on that might be, because of the services issue with local government….and you have to understand the services issue.  You’re used to the casino causes and services; we’re used to no services with or without the casino.  So to provide regular governmental services to county residents, Indian and non-Indian alike, there will have to be an upgrade in services.  The compact provides an offset for that and we believe the Governor’s Office looked at that and thought that this was less a revenue compact and more a compact to allow cooperation between two governments that was economically funded.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So the Tribe membership, obviously, in terms of fluctuation for payment or nonpayment, is that an issue in this particular compact?  Meaning the amount of….there was some tie-in earlier, I remember, in this compact, between enrollment or population; is it not in this compact?


MR. CORBETT:  The compact is as it is.  No, we do not get anything special based upon the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mentioned the deduction for negotiations for mitigation with local governments, tell us how that works.  So in other words, the State only gets what’s left after you negotiate with Del Norte or Humboldt Counties?


MR. CORBETT:  Right, that would be correct.  And the State would review those, b
ut essentially, we would reach a compact with the county governments.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And do we have any thought processes what that means in terms of revenue for the sovereign of the State of California?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, I do not think you’re going to get much revenue from this compact, to be blunt, Sir.  I think what the State of California will get is better governmental services for rural county citizens, both Indian and non-Indian alike.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s talk about exclusivity for a moment before we move onto the next section, which is, there’s a 55-mile radius of the Tribe’s gaming facility; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what’s the significance of 55 miles?  I mean, why not 40 miles, or 70 miles, or 100 miles?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, I believe that was based a lot on what was reasonable to expect.  And second of all, there are other Indian tribes.  Humboldt and Del Norte County have some of the highest populations of Native Americans and multiple tribes, and there are major governmental entities in that and we wanted to coordinate so we’re not impinging on other Indian entities with the exception of Resighini, which is drawn in the center of the reservation and has their own gaming compact. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that’s the exception?

MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And any breach of exclusivity from your vantage point means that you have the right to terminate this compact?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, it would be the provisions, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So in other words, nothing other than paying for the reasonable cost of regulation, but you would be released from the obligation to the State of California—that’s the exclusivity?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 5—the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  (Members, if there are any questions, just jump in as we go through this.)  Obviously, you’ve mentioned the trust fund and the participation in both, if you will; that means you’ll continue to get the $1.1 million?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, whatever it is.  It changes and fluctuates dramatically and there are also delays in payments, speed up in payments, but yes, essentially correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But there’s no requirement for you to pay into that fund?


MR. CORBETT:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But you’ll take from the fund along with 
99 slots?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, that’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that was the tradeoff for you in terms of structuring this compact?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, and that was important with the Governor’s Office as well.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto Section 9—The Rules and Regulations for the Operation of the Management of Gaming operations and Facilities.  I read through all the rules the Tribe has to follow.  It’s a very long list and I’m not going to go through all of them, but I did want to point out the Tribe is required to conduct an independent audit of the Tribe’s financial statements; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And there were never provisions with respect to problem gambling, which this committee has focused on early on in terms of placing notices or allowing patrons to voluntarily limit their access to gambling and a few other restraints in terms of the types of access to patrons who exhibit signs of problem gambling.  All of those you’re serious about?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.  One of our concerns in operating a casino is we don’t want just to take money from the poorest of our tribal members and cause an additional problem.  This is supposed to be a net gain for the reservation, so we’re very serious about it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I did notice that there’s a code of conduct as well, and standards for advertising, and I think that was somewhat different from what I’ve read in some of the other compacts; is that your suggestion; the Governor’s suggestion?


MR. CORBETT:  I can’t specifically answer on the code of conduct where that was originally submitted from but we have reviewed the provisions and we are not signing this idly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto Section 10—The Patron Disputes.  At least in this section it provides a pretty formal process to address these types of disputes with binding arbitration as the ultimate remedy; is that correct in terms of these disputes?


MR. CORBETT:  That’s correct, Sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the Tribe, at this point, in this section, waives its sovereign immunity in connection to this type of arbitration?

MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’re waiving?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. CORBETT:  And that is not uncommon.  In our various governmental contracts and other actions we do grant limited waivers when it’s in mutual self-interest.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So a patron can go to a state or a federal court to enforce any arbitration award; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto Section 11—your off reservation environmental and economic impacts.  The Tribe is required to do a Tribal EIR; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, that’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you’ve done that; haven’t done that; where are you on that process?


MR. CORBETT:  We did an environmental assessment.  Again, we have not done it on a revised and specific project because getting through the State Legislature has taken so long; we wanted to complete that process and then we’d really start over again on marketing.  But we did do an environmental impact assessment really dealing with water and sewer issues, which are the number one issues on the Klamath Town site, including, we have a failing county district that’s going to need a bailout to work.  In other words, if nothing happens, the system is failing, and like I said, they’re under cease-and-desist orders right now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s, if we could, talk about the Intergovernmental Agreements under this section in terms of economic and the environmental impacts; you have to come to some agreement within 55 days of submitting this EIR?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes, but you obviously take some time on the EIR before the final, to make sure you have your ducks in a row.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And if you don’t, that gets you to what, binding arbitration?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the Intergovernmental Agreement and the reasons supporting us, obviously, is that we’re paid after all of that occurs; correct? 


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me go through some of those; ____________ repair of the Klamath Waste Water Treatment Plant?  


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  There’s a compensation for law enforcement, fire protection, emergency medical services?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Programs for gambling addiction?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did I miss anything that you, in essence, are going to be mitigating with the counties of record?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, they have an all purpose clause for any effect on public safety, which is a little different than providing law enforcement services.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any effect on public safety?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How large of an amount could that be?  That’s pretty broad.


MR. CORBETT:  I believe it is broad.  That’s the language in the compact.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do you interpret and resolve that?  When the State of California is trying to figure out what we’re getting, which is nothing, using your term; right?


MR. CORBETT:  Right.  Well, other than perhaps additional services to citizens in the State.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But we get to say we’re up to 25 percent we’re taking from this compact?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Which equals nothing?


MR. CORBETT:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can you tell me about the provisions, services that are in Humboldt that you could not find in Del Norte County?  I mean, are these counties going to be negotiating together with you when we figure out what…

MR. CORBETT:  No, the counties are very independent.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so what’s different about them and what county is going to cost more or less in terms of…


MR. CORBETT:  Well, Del Norte County will be the primary county because that’s the primary site of the casino.  And we already have a cross ____________ agreement with Humboldt County, and I would expect roads and law enforcement would be the two issues.  But almost all the roads are state highways.  And there are some other road issues that are being worked out between the county, the Tribe and Caltrans.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto Section 12 – the public workplace health, safety and liability issues.  The Tribe has agreed to comply with standards for food and beverage handling, safe drinking water, building and safety standards, workplace and occupational health and safety standards, those are all sufficient in your mind with _________ ?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you like to comment on any of them?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, many of those we do anyway.  As a matter of sovereignty, we do not have to require the California building codes.  As a matter of contracting, we put it in our contracts for construction on a regular basis and then we supplement it if there is any areas we feel aren’t properly covered, and we usually do that through a bid rather than an actual ordinance process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there a waiver of sovereign immunity when it comes to punitive damages in terms of liability insurance?


MR. CORBETT:  In regard to what type…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Liability insurance.  You’ve got to have a $5 million policy; correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Right.  It would be subject to the terms and conditions of the insurance policy, basically, and that’s a way to, sort of, split the dime with the State of California where the State has provisions for accidents, liability and that type of thing and yet the Tribe has protection on its own assets.  And we have structured quite a few private arrangements that way.  For example, we have exchange of right-aways with Green Diamond Timber Company and we have them both structured to the insurance policy.  So, we spend a lot of time on insurance policy terms and conditions as a way to meet the concerns of people that are hurt and need to be taken care of versus sovereign immunity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  A few more questions:  In terms of an ordinance on dealing with California tort law, you are required to adopt an ordinance that California tort law will govern injury claims; is that correct?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, it says that in the event the Tribe fails to adopt an ordinance, the tort law of the State of California will apply. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So first you have to exhaust your tribal administrative revenues?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how long does that take?  What’s the length of that to incur?


MR. CORBETT:  To do an ordinance?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, to exhaust your remedies?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, we do not have such an ordinance now, so it hasn’t been defined.  We generally do not have as well a developed system of prerequisites for people to go through before our ordinances are implemented.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, when is that going to occur?  In other words, you don’t have any tribal administrative remedies for injured cases at this point, so you’ve got to go through 120 days after that…

MR. CORBETT:  Well, one of the reasons we have the option of California law, and one way we’ve structured many items of governance is, California law will apply until we bring up to certain standard the tribal law.  And we also have a tribal court, but if you were to greatly increase the workload in it, we would need additional funding, and so, more and more we’re going towards a process where you may very well have the State of California law; then you would go to a tribal ordinance; then you would go for proper funding; and then you would go to implementation.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go to workers’ comp.  You’ve agreed to work in the State’s workers’ compensation program?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you’ve agreed to participate in the State’s unemployment compensation program, as well?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.  And we already participate in the State unemployment.  Worker’s comp was a tradeoff, very frankly.  There’s an alternative workers’ comp that the Tribe has that we think, in some ways, has a lower pay in and greater pay out.  But as part of the overall package, we support it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so that was offered by the Governor’s Office in other words?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Lastly, you have to adopt a Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance; that’s provided in the compact, as well?

MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is the TLRO?


MR. CORBETT:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the TLRO is only effective (and tell me if I’m incorrect on this), it’s only effective if the Tribe has 250 or more employees.


MR. CORBETT:  Right.  And we doubt we’ll ever hit that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You won’t have a TLRO?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, no, we’ll have it.  It will be effective if and when we should hit 250 employees.  It may be an ordinance that doesn’t have a lot of legs.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I got you.  But you said that you’ll never get there.


MR. CORBETT:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, in essence, there will be no TLRO.  I get the jest of it.  The TLRO exempts supervisors, security personnel, cage employees, dealers, etcetera, is that the exemption to that?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go on to the final section, Section 13, which has to do with dispute resolution provisions.  In this, you have good faith efforts on the part of the Tribe in the State when there is a dispute between the parties, the sovereigns, and then it moves to arbitration if it can’t be resolved within 30 days.  Are there provisions to go to federal or state court in the compact?


MR. CORBETT:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  There are, okay.  Members, are there any other questions regarding the compact?  Senator Yee.


SENATOR LELAND YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  I’d like to ask the representative of the Tribe, let’s go to page-8 of your compact agreement.  You know, one of the issues relative to these compacts is how do we ever audit what is collected within your machines?  And that’s always been a debate?  So in 
Section 4.3.1 under (c), “The Tribe shall remit to such agency, trust, fund or entity, as the State Director of Finance,” and so on; what if there’s a debate in terms of how much a machine is, in fact, collecting and there’s a dispute of that?  What is your understanding as to how the State will come in, or can come in, to determine for itself, in an objective way, what you are reporting is, in fact, the case?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, first of all, we have to pay in the money while the dispute is ongoing.  We basically gave the State what they wanted on the audit provisions (and probably should have asked for different audit provisions if you don’t think they will protect you), and there’s also access to the State to go on and check.  So if they want ground _________ they could that, as well.


SENATOR YEE:  And what is that audit provision?


MR. CORBETT:  It was, I’ll get the specific standards in just one second.  Page-10:  “The California Gambling Control Commission or other state designated agency may cause an audit to be made by or on behalf of the State of the Quarterly Net Win Payment Report submitted pursuant to subdivision (f).”

SENATOR YEE:  But within that provision, and then I think there is another provision in terms of, I think, your audit, it still puts you in the driver’s seat as to the audit itself.  It’s not as if we come in.  Does the State come in and conduct its independent audit?


MR. CORBETT:  Well, I believe we have our financial statements.  We have our audit, and then, I believe (h) allows the State to audit as well.


SENATOR YEE:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions by members?  Thank you.  Let’s have the Administration come up, if we could.  And, by the way, Madam Chairwoman, do you have a closing that you would like to leave with the committee?


CHAIRPERSON TRIPP:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  Okay.

CHAIRPERSON TRIPP:  I would like to say thank you for considering it today.  And, like I say, we’ve been preparing for a long time.  And a lot of different questions you have asked today, but we’ve been here, back to this point, three different times, and so, that’s why we’re more waiting now for the compact than we are for building it, at this point.  But we do really appreciate your considering this.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, you’re in steady hands with Senator Wiggins, I can tell you that.


MR. CORBETT:  And I did want to thank Senator Wiggins.  I do want to thank the committee.  And I believe if you look at the balance of the compact, it’s a win/win for California, the local governments and the Tribe.  


CHAIRPERSON TRIPP:  And I did want to say one thing:  I never think that when you help the constituents that it’s nothing for the State, because I think that those of us that live way up north think that anything that you can do for us to help our people, is not gone unappreciated.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much for your testimony.  Okay, 
Ms. Cates, if we could, from the Administration.  If you could introduce yourself for the record, and the folks with you.  I have a few questions. 

SYLVIA CATES:  Thank you.  My name is Sylvia Cates.  I’m in the Governor’s Office—Deputy of Legal Affairs Secretary.  I’ll let my colleagues introduce themselves.


BRIAM JAMESON:  Brian Jameson, governor’s Office of Planning and Research.


TODD JERUE:  Todd Jerue, Department of Finance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you all for being here.  Ms. Cates, I think what we’re going to do is, we’d like to hear your comments, and I have questions.  And, if I could get through my questions and anything I didn’t cover you can then give us a statement, if that’s possible.  I have about eight questions, so it’s not very lengthy.


MS. CATES:  Alright.  And I do have an opening statement, I can hold that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t you hold it and see how far we get and if I don’t cover something we’ll go from there.  But I do want to say what we’re going to do today is that we’re going to hear….I’d like to get some questions answered on the Yurok Compact, and of course, because it’s a new compact, and then we have the Agua Caliente Compact coming up, and we have a whole set of questions for you on that since they’re amended compacts, so there’s a little bit of a distinction here.  


The first question, obviously, I have is why 99?  Why is 99 slot machines the magic number given the Tribe’s size and responsibilities?  I mean, why wouldn’t we allow these tribes to have more slots, if you will, than 99, given the breadth and depth of the membership?


MS. CATES:  Well, as with many of the provisions that was a negotiated point.  One thing that was very important to the Tribe was to be able to continue to receive the RSTF monies, and to enable them to do that, the lower number of machines was negotiated.  It is my understanding that that is what the Tribe believes is a realistic number for the facility that they are planning to build in their reservation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So the tradeoff was, you’re going only up to 99 will allow you to get distribution dollars?


MS. CATES:  It was a negotiated number.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I think, as I mentioned before….Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  I’d like to add something here.  This is in a remote area and it’s going to be in a market at a gas station, so this is not a huge enterprise.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  Let me also ask about the issue of the 10 percent of the net win up to $50 million.  I think it was asked earlier.  Why is the Tribe being asked to make any revenue contribution to the State, let alone, 10 – 25 percent given the small amount of dollars that are provided here?  What’s the rationale behind that?


MS. CATES:  That has been consistent throughout this Administration, to ask the tribes to contribute to the State in exchange for either if it’s an amended compact, an increase in the number of machines and all the other terms, and the Administration feels that’s important, however, because of this tribe’s size and needs, this compact does allow an offset for payments made pursuant to the Intergovernmental Agreements.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, so after the negotiations with the counties, the State gets what’s left?


MS. CATES:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And, at least according to my calculations, in order for us to get any money, even after the offsets, we need an average daily machine net win of about $1,300.  Is that even possible, or given what Senator Wiggins just said, kind of the remote nature of where it’s at, do we plan to see any revenue from this at all in our state coffers from this particular compact?


MS. CATES:  I’m not familiar with the calculation to get the $1,300.  We did not have a revenue projection for this tribe.  And, of course, if the Tribe is very successful there may be some revenue coming in, but it would have to be very successful, that’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, right.  The way I got to this was the $50 million and then if we were to, kind of, look at what we need to do to get the $50 million, it comes up to about $1,384 per machine.


Let’s talk about exclusivity.  I think you heard me mention earlier the significance of 55 miles.  Since you’ve negotiated this, what is the significance for 55 miles?


MS. CATES:  That also is a negotiated point with each tribe.  One thing I do want to make clear:  As you know, the Yurok Compact was initially negotiated by the Governor’s previous negotiator, and the new negotiation team did negotiate some changes to some of the provisions, but I won’t be able to answer a lot of details on some of the provisions that were unchanged.  So I do apologize for that.  But I am very familiar with all the provisions.  But in terms of the actual negotiations of some of these, I won’t be able to.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  One thing I did, particularly as an individual like about this compact, was that there were provisions on annual financial audits and provisions for problem gambling; is that part in parcel; was that negotiated prior to?


MS. CATES:  Yes.  All the compacts do require an annual audit, including the ’99 compact, and so, all the amended compacts retain the annual audit requirement.  There are some differences compact to compact on the certifications (for the quarterly certifications), and you will see some differences compact to compact on those.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why is, at least in the one section of the compact, we seem to be, in essence, looking out for the Klamath Waste Water Treatment Plant being addressed in this; why is the State asking that that be mitigated, why aren’t the locals negotiating that?


MS. CATES:  That was something discussed with the Tribe.  I guess I really don’t have an answer, but it was a project that was already being planned, and so, it was something appropriate to discuss during the negotiations.  Whereas the Intergovernmental Agreement isn’t designed to cover mitigation for the gaming facility itself and that’s typically what the Tribe will negotiate with the locals once they have a plan for their facility and what it will look like.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’d like to go over a bit on the worker’s comp and some of the State unemployment compensation programs we’ve talked about earlier—withholding is being taken out.  But I think the Tribe pretty much covered that, and those were all negotiated points you agreed to, so I don’t think there’s any reason for me to ask you about that.

The TLRO provided in the compact, I think we heard, is triggered at 250, and given that some people are exempted from that, they never reached a TLRO, is that a problem for the Administration?  Is that of significance?


MS. CATES:  Given the size of the facility, well, I can’t speak….it seems unlikely that it would be a facility that would be unionized.  But if a union did want to organize there and the facility had 250 or more workers, they would be able to do that under the TLRO.  Of course, the gaming facility employees would include all the workers at the facility, not just those on the gaming floor, so conceivably they could get up to that 250 employees at some point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would kick in?


MS. CATES:  And then it would kick in, yes.  It’s important for the Administration to have the TLRO in place so that when the times comes to kick in it’s there, so, we always negotiate what that TLRO will look like so that it’s in place.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, we have the Department of Finance here.  The question is, is it safe to say that the amount of revenue that the Governor included in his projections are devoid from any revenue from this particular compact?


MR JERUE:  That’s correct.  There was no revenue for this compact and it has no impact on the RSTF because they get it now and they will continue to get it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got you.  Ms. Cates, we’ll see you after the Agua Compact.  I appreciate it.


MS. CATES:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re welcome.  Is there any opposition to this compact?  Now would be the time to come.  Seeing no opposition, Senator Wiggins, would you like to say a few words about it?


SENATOR WIGGINS:  Well, I’m pleased to be the author of the Yurok Compact Ratification SB 106.  In fact, it was the first bill I introduced as a senator.  This is the third year that the Yuroks have tried to have a Tribal State Gaming Compact and I am optimistic this year the Legislature will see the wisdom in giving the Yuroks the means to improve their quality of life.  I believe in tribal sovereignty.  I believe that each tribe deserves the opportunity to improve the lives of their members.  Each compact is negotiated in good faith between the Governor and the Tribe, and each compact is as unique as the unique history of the Tribe.  And I believe that every compact that comes to this legislature should be given an opportunity to be heard.  It is a matter of respect and one that we should not tarnish with politics.  With this in mind, I hope that in the very near future we give the Big Lagoon and Los Coyotes tribes and their compacts the courtesy of an informational hearing before this committee.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you, Ms. Wiggins.  Okay.  We’re going to now move onto the Agua Caliente Compact.  We’re going to be asking for opposition on a per compact basis, so just to let everyone know.  

JACK GRIBBON:  __________ support.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Support?  Okay.  Would you like to support the prior compact Mr. Gribbon?  Come on up. 


MR. GRIBBON:  My name is Jack Gribbon.  I’m with UNITE HERE.  We think that the Yurok Compact is way long overdue for ratification.  This will create an opportunity, in particular, for some jobs for the almost 5,000 members of the Yurok Tribe.  And it is what Prop. 1A, Prop. 5, prior to that, was all about—impoverished tribes in this state getting an opportunity for economic development.  And we heartily support this, and we hope to ratify unanimously in the Senate and the Assembly—the Yurok Compact.  


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Broad.


BARRY BROAD:  Mr. Chairman and members, Barry Broad with the Teamsters.  I want to echo Mr. Gribbon’s comment and say that we’re very gratified that the large tribes have removed their opposition so that you guys could hear this. 


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.


BARRY BROKAW:  Mr. Chairman and members, Barry Brokaw on behalf of the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians.  We’re supporting this measure, as well.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Everybody, I assume, that isn’t in opposition is in support?  Correct.  Okay.  

Alright, let’s go on and let’s move to the Agua Caliente Compact.  Chairman Milanovich, I’d like to thank you for being here today.  Obviously, this is your second time before the Senate G.O. Committee addressing the issues of your Tribe’s proposed amended compact.  
Last August, as you know, in 2006, we had an extensive hearing on the Tribe’s proposed amended compact and it was, if you will, the first of five amended compacts that were going to come before the Legislature in this session.  Fortunately, the hearing was transcribed and I’ve forwarded to the committee members a copy of the transcript to help them get familiar with the amended compact and some of the issues we discussed at that time.  Most of those issues raised by members of the committee and yourself, Chairman Milanovich, are available, obviously, for other members and the public to view.  
I don’t necessarily want to go into the same level of exacting detail of that particular hearing.  I will tell you that we have four other amended compacts to follow yours.  And, obviously, this compact takes us into a more detailed look as this is an amended compact.  I would like to go through some of the highlights of the amended compact for the benefit of the new members of the committee and refresh our understanding of the amended compact.  
I think the last time we went through an amended compact in sequential order we started with Amendment I and proceeded to Amendment XIII. and made it a little easier than jumping around.  I think we’re going to try to follow that model, as well, today.  
First, let me just ask two introductory questions, if I could, and then we’ll go into the amendments.  And, obviously, if you can give us some general information about the Tribe; and how many members there are; and the terms of the amended compact that is set to expire December 31, 2030, then we’ll proceed from there.

And you can introduce your team, as well.

RICHARD MILANOVICH, CHAIRMAN, AGUA CALIENTE TRIBE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the committee. My name is Richard Milanovich, and I do serve at the pleasure of my tribal members as chairman, and have for last 23 years.  With me today is Barry Brokaw, Sacramento Advocates; Michelle Carr, in-house counsel; and Alva Johnson, Governmental Affairs.  Also, in the audience, is Moraino Patencio, Secretary/Treasurer; Jeff Grubbe, who was just re-elected to the Vice-Chairman’s position; and a newly elected council member, Vincent Gonzalez, III.

When you say that you have a transcript of last August’s hearing, I don’t have to go through my two-hour opening statement, then, I take it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That would be the assumption, Mr. Chairman, yes.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Thank you, Sir.  I do have about 20 minutes, though.  

Mr. Chairman, members, I am Richard Milanovich, chairman of the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians.  This committee spent five hours dissecting our compact amendment last August, and the members have transcripts, so I will be brief.  I have a lot of comments here, but, you know, I think the comments coming from you and the members are going to be much more important as to the purview of what this hearing is all about—the informational hearing—so I’ll skip over most of my written comments.

If this compact amendment is ratified, the State General Fund is guaranteed to receive $23.4 million a year through 2030 for our current 2,000 slots which were approved as of the 1999 compact, or about $550 million over the term of the compact.  Payments begin at the end of the first quarter following the enactment of the ratification bill.  For anything above 2,000 machines the State will receive an additional 15 percent of our net win or an estimated $1.7 billion over the life of the compact—that’s $1.7 billion over the life of the compact.

Under this amendment we have also agreed to pay $2 million annually to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for non-gaming tribes.  We currently pay $550,000 annually.  

We will work with the Legislature and the Governor to develop a bill to protect annual payments to non-compact tribes.  

Our goal is to add 1,000 machines between our two casinos within 90 days of the effective date of the ratification.  Our new hotel, which will be opening next March, we hope to have an additional 1,000 operational for the opening.  We will be able to accommodate a total of 4,000 machines in our existing facilities and planned hotel projects.  

This amendment is a good deal for the State, our Tribe, and all Californians.  The State General Fund will gain new money for the programs you, as policymakers, care about.  Absent new taxes or fees, I don’t see any other comparable new revenues for the State.
Regarding regulatory oversight of the gaming operations, the Agua Caliente Gaming Commission has an annual budget of $4 million.  And, as required by federal law, the gaming facilities are audited annually by an independent auditing firm.  In this case, we use Price Waterhouse Coopers.  The result of this audit, which includes financial and internal audit procedures and established surveillance procedures, are submitted to the National Indian Gaming Commission annually.

Environmentally:  This amendment requires us to prepare a Tribal Environmental Impact Report and negotiate Intergovernmental Agreements for new projects for the County of Riverside and any impacted city to address any significant off-reservation impacts, as we recently did with the City of Rancho Mirage.  There was an impasse resolution process with binding JAMS arbitration under this agreement if necessary.

On the Rancho Mirage matter, under this agreement, an agreement reached by the city and our Tribe just last month, our new hotel will be within the boundaries of the city.  The city accepted the Tribe’s longstanding offer for mitigation under this agreement which was approximately $5 million under the previous agreement.  The city will annex 40 acres of trust land and receive an additional $800,000 in road improvements in and around the casino site.  The city will also receive a 10 percent in lieu bed tax for the hotel once it is in operation in return for providing public safety services.  They now fully support this compact amendment, as do the City of Palm Springs, Cathedral City and Riverside County.

We will continue, under this amendment, our strong patron and employee protection practices, including workmen’s compensation coverage equal to or greater than the State Workers’ Compensation program and practices and resolution patron disputes in claims with binding JAMS arbitration.  

Untouched by this amendment is the right for unions to organize under the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance attached to our 1999 compact.  The TLRO was supported by Senate President pro Tempore John Burton and Speaker Antonio Villaraigosa.  It was applauded by labor.  The TLRO is not changed in any way.

Under the TLRO, our team members continue to have the option of organizing for collective bargaining.  Once licensed to operate in our facilities all it takes is for 30 percent of the employees at one of our facilities to sign a card asking for an election to be represented by a union which then triggers, which we consider to be very important, a secret ballot election whereby any team member can vote one way or the other.  That is their right under a secret ballot election.

One union spokesman wants the right to organize with just a card check rather than a secret ballot system.  He suggests the Tribe would retaliate against team members who wish to organize.  This is absolutely not the case.  The TLRO maintains fundamental guarantees for freedom of speech, secret balloting, and a simple majority vote.  Tribes have been organized under this provision, namely San Manuel, Viejas, under the TLRO.  This process called for by the TLRO has not been attempted by UNITE HERE.  We are not antiunion.  Much of our hotel construction is under union contracts.

Mr. Chairman, members, I hope I have covered the key issues related to this amendment.  As always, I invite each of you to visit our reservation.  Be sure to stop in at our casinos and have some lunch, dinner, talk to our team members yourselves, you will get real unscripted comments regarding the type of employer we are.  I’d be pleased to answer any questions at this time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Okay, let’s go through the compact.  Let’s go to Amendment I, if we could.  And thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the comments.

Just to refresh some of our memory from our last, as you mentioned, five-hour, I remember it being six hours, but who’s counting?  

The 1999 compact allowed for two casinos and the amended compact allows for the construction of a third; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that third casino will be built on the Tribe’s current trust lands?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And according to the amended compact, there is a provision which requires the Tribe to demonstrate local community support to build the third casino; is that correct?  And is that sufficient, at this point in time, from the local community perspective?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  As I stated in my opening comments, we do have written approval letters from the County of Riverside, the City of Palm Springs, Cathedral City and the City of Rancho Mirage, all in support of the submitted ratification process.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in previous testimony before the committee late last year, you indicated the Tribe currently has no plans to build a third casino; is that still the case today?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  That’s still the case, yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you mentioned that would be (if you did build a third casino) seven years out; is that still roughly the timeframe?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  At least, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that’s the minimum bar?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Undoubtedly, it would be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And, obviously, this has impacts on proposed revenues coming to the State, so I wanted to see if there were any changes in this situation; so we’re still where we’re at as of last year?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  As it stands right now, Mr. Chairman, we have plans to get our new hotel open March of next year.  That, of itself, is a 
$300 million project.  When everything is taken into consideration, the new showroom, parking structure, etcetera, $300 million plus that we, ourselves, are borrowing to finance it.  Once that gets open, we have every intention, and, hopefully, by that time we’ll have our environmental impact report statement done on the downtown project, which also takes apart the old spa hotel; raises this hotel; and creates another brand new hotel structure downtown.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 2 of the compact.  Just so we can understand the revenue contributions for our sovereign, the State of California; under the amended compact the Tribe is entitled to operate 2,000 slot machines at two of its existing facilities and 1,000 slot machines at its third.  So, the third that’s still out there, at some point in time, seven years out plus, gives us a total 5,000 slot machines; is that still the case?
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you give us any idea, the committee any idea, when you plan to install the 4,000 slot machines at your current facilities?  In other words, we have some that are being captured and some that were exempted?  I mean, how do we get to, if you will, minus the 1,000 slots at the third facility, are the current slots, then, covered?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Right now, we can probably put in at the present location, the Agua Caliente Casino, 4- to 500 machines and then we could also put in another 500 to bring it up to the maximum of 2,000 by the time the hotel is open next year.  And then the downtown project, an additional 1,000 downtown would have to wait until that hotel is fully operational; the casino floor expansion, etcetera
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And under the compact the Tribe has agreed to make annual payments of $23.4 million; is that still the case?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s on the Tribe’s existing 2,000 machines?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Were you making any payments on those machines in prior compacts?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.  Under the present Special Distribution Plan Funding apparatus we put in about $11 million per year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, but is it anything equating to what the State is getting under these new compacts?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  No, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So in other words, that went to the Special Distribution Fund.  It’s better that the State receive zero dollars until this new compact?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that is $23.5 million?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And, at least my calculations say of the 
2,000 machines, that equals about $538 million over the life of the compact—a half a billion dollars; is that fair to say?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And these are new revenues, then, coming to the State?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  I would think they would be, yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And according to at least my calculations, that comes up to about $11,700 per slot machine for the first 2,000 slots, that represents about 9 percent of the net win in 2005; is that the way it was calculated?
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  I’ve never figured out it was $11,000, but okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, $11,700.  So I’m just trying to figure out, ultimately, do we expect that?  So the $23.4, I guess my point is, seems to be a pretty conservative number as compared to looking at some of the other compacts that we’re going to be looking at, so it seems it could be above that.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.  We prefer in dealing with conservative numbers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And under the ’99 compact, you mentioned the Tribe pays about $11.9 million to the Special Distribution Fund.  No longer obligated to pay into that under the new compact; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the responsibilities, at this point in time, are to be taken up by the State and the State is going to, in essence, look to General Fund dollars to pay for things that the Special Distribution Fund used to pay for.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Not necessarily.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  We are in discussion right now with Riverside County to make up for that shortfall, as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So there’s ongoing discussions on the mitigation side, but I guess the theory is, and I’ll ask the Administration this, more importantly, is that given the significant amount of increase of revenue the State is getting, $23.5 million, that more than makes up for what we would normally…
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Going directly to the State General Fund, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Of the slot machines above 2,000, the Tribe, at least according to the compact, has to pay 15 percent of net win; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Up to 15 percent.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And those go to the General Fund?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And according to the amended compacts, the chief financial officer of the gaming operation certifies the net win and we have the State Gaming Agencies able to audit that?  Are we allowed to do that?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Ms. Carr; Michelle?

MICHELLE CARR:  That is correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And who pays for the regulation of the gaming facility?
MS. CARR:  Well, the gaming facility is regulated by the Tribal Gaming Authority, and that has a budget of over $4 million a year for regulation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the Tribe has also agreed to pay $2 million annually to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Whereas before you were paying $500,000?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  $550,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So this is an increase in terms of the Revenue Trust?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And those are direct payments as opposed to being made, if you will, in another method?  How are these payments calculated?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Do you recall how that’s supposed to be paid out—the Revenue Sharing?

MS. CARR:  The $2 million?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a straight payment; is that correct?

MS. CARR:  It’s a straight payment, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So this is a quadrupling of what you’re paying now?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the question I have, even though we are quadrupling our contribution to the Revenue Trust Fund, I guess the thought is, as I mentioned at the last hearing, we always like to see more go into the Revenue Trust Fund.  And I shared those concerns with you last year because, obviously, the issue of economic benefits of casinos and going back to what those original funds were for, is something that we care about.  But let’s leave it to say that you’re going to quadruple it at this point in time.  

And let’s move onto the next section, if I could, which is Section 3, and that has to do with the authorization of exclusivity, so let’s go through that.

I guess at the last hearing we talked quite a bit (I think most of the hearing), on exclusivity.  And I wanted to go over the issue one more time so we can understand the provisions in this case. 

Now under the ’99 compacts, which you’re operating under, if exclusivity is breached anywhere in this state, what happens (for our newer members)?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Presently, any fees that are paid to the State are halted.  Because based on the IGRA, there is a clause in IGRA that says that there has to be some sort of quid pro quo for the tribes to pay anything to the State, and in this instance it is exclusivity which allows that to happen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So in other words, the Tribe can terminate the compact at that point in time?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  I don’t think it’s a compact.

MS. CARR:  The Tribe can terminate the compact if exclusivity is breached anywhere in the State under the ’99 compacts—correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The ’99 compacts.  And it also means that you no longer would have to pay into the Special Distribution Fund; is that correct?

MS. CARR:  That is correct, because the entire compact would be annulled at that point.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But under the ’99 compact, if exclusivity is breached, the Tribe is still obligated to pay into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund if you continue to be an ongoing entity operating in the….is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So in other words, that’s still an ongoing….you State you don’t have to pay the Special Distribution Fund, but at the end of the day you still pay into, if you’re an ongoing entity, to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Sure, we do that irrespective, just to help our brothers and sisters.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that’s under the past ’99 compact.  Let’s go to the amended, proposed amended compacts.  Now, exclusivity, if it’s breached under these particular conditions, that you don’t have to pay the State; the same issue?

MS. CARR:  First of all, we’d like to note that the exclusivity provision is narrowed in this new compact.  It’s no longer a statewide exclusivity; it’s core geographic market, so there’s four counties; that’s a narrowing.  And what happens is, the Tribe can either, (a) cease making payments to the State, or, (b) nullify the entire compact and quit gaming.  If the Tribe does cease making payments, if exclusivity is breached, and they operate no more than 2,000 machines, then they still have to compensate the State for actual reasonable costs of regulation.  However, if the Tribe chooses to operate more than 2,000 machines, they are still obligated to pay the 15 percent net win of those additional machines.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Going forward?

MS. CARP:  Going forward, correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that comes up to about 12.5 percent?

MS. CARP:  Twelve point five, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you wouldn’t have to pay into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund either, at that point, according to the new compact, even though Chairman Milanovich said he would nonetheless?  I just want to make sure that we’re clear for the record.

MS. CARP:  That is correct; there is a change in that provision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the exclusivity clause, as you’ve mentioned, was narrowed from a statewide perspective to a more core geographic market.  And that market again is Riverside….

MS. CARP:  Riverside, Los Angeles, San Bernardino, and San Diego Counties.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if I could, to make the point as we did the last hearing, a federally recognized tribe under this exception, is one that enters into an agreement with the State, exclusivity is the reason it gets us to the payments for the State; is that correct?  I mean, that is, in essence, the reason we’re here.

MS. CARP:  Correct.  Under federal law in order to give the State the extra funds beyond money needed for regulatory enforcement, the State has to give the Tribe something, and that is, exclusivity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I just wanted to make sure we got that on the record.  Thank you.  Section 4 and 5 of the compacts, I have no particular question.  Obviously, in regard to testing gaming devices and building codes, we covered that quite a bit at our last hearing.  And I do want to say that the language is also similar to the four other amended compacts.  We might get into detail with them, but I remember going through this quite at length.

Section 6 has to do with patron disputes.  I did notice provisions for binding arbitration.  Patrons can take disputes to binding arbitration to resolve them.  I think its questions you heard me ask the last tribe that was up, and we don’t have to go into that again.

Section 7 has to do with public and workplace health and safety and liability.  I’ve noticed that the public liability insurance is doubled from $5 million to $10 million for bodily injury; is that correct, in this compact?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think that makes sense.  And, of course, the California tort law governs all claims of bodily injury and personal injury, and that’s covered under this compact, as well.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Section 8 is workers’ compensation.  I have no questions.  It’s pretty self-explanatory.  You’re participating in the program.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And let’s go onto Section 9, which I have a few more questions about mitigation on off-reservation impacts.  Obviously, I’d like to talk a little bit about local governments for mitigation.  And in terms of the Intergovernmental Agreements with Riverside County particularly, the amended compacts, do they affect those agreements at all in any way in terms of the current existing agreements?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  No, not that I’m aware of.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And under the amended compacts in terms of expansion, those are all things you work out with the local governments?
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And those are ongoing?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if there’s some sort of impasse, it goes to an arbiter? 
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any thought about foreseeing any problems with mitigation for the third, yet to be built, casino?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  We don’t see any problems, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And let’s talk about the Tribal Environmental Impact Report.  It’s a little bit more elaborate, obviously, than the ’99 compact and it includes significant effect listings, which I thought was somewhat interesting in terms of the mitigation efforts.  The compact, in essence, gives some binding arbitration issues for local governments, county governments, once that report is submitted.  That’s no different than this compact.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Because the impacted cities are impacted government _________, local government.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I have some questions that not necessarily directly address the amended compact, but I’d like to ask you some questions in regard to you, as you know, an interest of mine, which is problem gambling.  How does the Tribe address the issues of problem gambling, and do you have any perspective on…

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  From day one, Mr. Chairman, the Tribe has been supportive of the Compulsive Gambling Institute.  I don’t think they called it that then when we started, but we’ve been supportive of them.  We’ve paid for office space for them.  We’ve put up little flyers or little cards on their behalf saying, “if there are issues please contact so and so.”  And we do have a self-policing, self-expulsion process in effect in the casinos.  If a player asks us to keep them out, we will take that to heart.  And, I think there’s a little over 115 of them so far that have signed up for that program where they asked us not to come back.  We don’t allow them back in.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I ask you that, I’d like to see if I can get your commitment to work with us on a more robust policy.  I think I’m going to ask every single tribe that comes, in giving dollars to the State, because I actually think it’s a very broken system on our side.  I mean, you give money, but we really aren’t putting it to the use that we really could.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Pardon me, Mr. Chair, but that’s our understanding too.  I mean, we do put in a good chunk of money into the program, and for whatever reason on the State side, it doesn’t seem to be getting dispersed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we have a bill this year that hopefully will get to problem gambling in a more statewide manner, and somewhat more reflective of Las Vegas, throughout our agencies in terms of recognition, not just a agency out there; it kind of needs to filter all the way down to the locals, so we’d like to get your support on that.

Let me ask you a last question, and then I think we’ll have the Department of Finance come up, and that, obviously, has to do with the perspective on the labor provisions of the ’99 compact that you mentioned earlier.  Now, you’re going to continue to operate under the TLRO, as you’ve mentioned, in this compact; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the amended compact, does it have any change in terms of those labor provisions from the ’99 compacts whatsoever?

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Mr. Milanovich, I’ll let you close and ask you if you have any other questions.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  I think, because the labor issue was the last one, again, we have had a TLRO from the beginning, 1999, when we had the first compact.  We argued back and forth with Senator Burton’s office about having that included, but he said, “If you want a compact, this is what has to be done.”  We were the first to sign it, so we’ve had it in place all this time.  Not once has any group other than CWA come in and attempted to organize under the TLRO, but they were called off by the AFL-CIO as they were the wrong union for this jurisdiction.  At the time, HERE had the jurisdiction to organize.  HERE has not made an attempt to come and organize under the TLRO.  Certain individuals complain about it, but they have never made an attempt to come in and organize under that.  They say that they’re scared of duress or that we’re going to scare our employees or team members.  But by the same token, this one team member who comes up every time there is a hearing and talks about how mean we are, has been working with us now for over five years, and she’s still here, still working; I don’t see a lot of duress on her part other than maybe getting it from the organizers.  
We have a system that works if given the opportunity to do so.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Members, any questions?  Mr. Chairman, thank you, and thank you for your team’s presentation.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ: Let’s have the Administration come up, if we could—Ms. Cates.  It’s a little shorter than last time, Mr. Chairman—half hour.
Ms. Cates, thank you for joining us.  Let’s start off with the revenue contributions to this state, if I could.  And let me ask, given these are amended compacts, quite different than the last compact we’ve seen earlier, in the amended compacts we are providing funds to the General Fund versus the Special Distribution Fund, what’s the reason for that, and why was that policy changed?  I mean, ultimately, we used to give it to the Special Distribution Fund, these compacts are significant, they come now to the General Fund with obviously less strings attached to it; what’s the purpose for that?

MS. CATES:  That’s correct.  As you’ve noticed, all of the recent amended compacts have the same structure in that regard.  The monies are paid to the General Fund.  The Administration believes the impacts of the casinos in mitigation are best dealt with at the local level.  That’s why all the agreements do provide for the Intergovernmental Agreements with the local counties or cities in some circumstances.  Those are the entities that are most knowledgeable about the mitigation needs and the types of things that they would be dealt with through the Special Distribution Fund are now dealt with on a government to government basis between the tribes and the local communities.  So those activities will still get funded, but it will be dealt with a little bit differently.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me state, before we go on, for the record, that most of these larger questions are, obviously, going to apply to the other compacts as well, so what I will do is, I will mark them off as having been asked and then make sure they’re part of the larger record.  So that would be one of those questions, and I appreciate that very much.

The impact to the Special Distribution Fund, obviously, money no longer goes to the Special Distribution Fund.  Do we know what percentage of that does that represent, of the Special Distribution Fund?  Do we know what that looks like?
MS. CATES:  That I will defer to Finance.

MR. JERUE:  Todd Jerue, Department of Finance.  The annual revenues currently into the Special Distribution Fund are about $130 million, and so, this is roughly just a little bit less than 10 percent—this particular tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now, break that $130 million down, the funding of the local governments to backfill of Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.
MR. JERUE:  Sure, it’s approximately $48- $47 million per year to backfill the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How much?

MR. JERUE:  It’s been ranging from $47- to $48 million per year to make those full quarterly payments.  As far as the remaining expenditure, it’s about $54- to $55 million per year; that’s $15 million for the Department of Justice—
$7 million for the Gambling Commission; $3.3 million for the Gambling Addiction Program.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How much for the gambling addiction?


MR. JERUE:  Three point three million.  And then, $30 million is the estimate for the mitigation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  For the cost of regulation?


MR. JERUE:  No, that’s for the local mitigation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Local mitigation; and how much was that again?  I’m so sorry.


MR. JERUE:  It’s assumed to be $30 million per year right now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thirty million.  And did you include cost of regulation in that?

MR. JERUE:  Yes, it’s $15 million for the Department of Justice, and 

$7 million for the Gambling Commission.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that was the Special Distribution Fund breakdown.  Now, how much of these budget items will now have to be funded by the General Fund?  Is it all of them that you’ve just mentioned?


MR. JERUE:  I’ll talk in totality:  If all of these compacts were ratified, the revenue loss to the Special Distribution Fund would be approximately $90 million.  The annual expenditures from that point on, because we would no longer make the transfer, the other compacts that we’re going to talk today and tomorrow, address the shortfall in the RSTF, so we would have about a $5 million annual….the expenditures would exceed revenues by about $5 million per year.  And so, it would actually take quite a few years until we eliminated the reserve, because even if we do one additional transfer from the SDF in the ’07/’08 fiscal year, we would still finish that year with a $76 million fund balance, so it would take 15 years to eliminate the reserve at that $5 million deficit number.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s what we call “ramp up” correct?  In other words, it gets us to some point of equilibrium; is that the theory?


MR. JERUE:  Right.  I mean, to get to equilibrium we would have to either have revenues go up by $5 million or cut either the mitigation or the regulatory—cut $5 million off that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And is that a positive or a negative of the compacts from your vantage point?


MR. JERUE:  Well, I think you mentioned before, you raised a question of, would the General Fund have to pick up costs?  I don’t think that would be an immediate pressure, but if there were any pressures for other programs, then that would create that pressure on the General Fund.  At the same time, we might be getting upwards of $500 to $1 billion annual of General Fund revenue, so.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is the State obligated to pay through the Special Distribution Fund now that there’s less money going to it then?


MR. JERUE:  I’m not sure if I understand the question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In other words, Riverside County, for example, no longer gets Special Distribution Funds because tribes have provided through governmental relation mitigation…


MR. JERUE:  Right.  It can still be a jump-in if need be.  It’s based on the number of machines that qualify; that are eligible.  You’re talking about mitigation; right?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Umhmm.


MR. JERUE:  Yes, the Controller does the calculation based on number of eligible machines, then they prorate those dollars out.  And so, I believe if they’re currently eligible, if the compact is amended, I think they’re taking out of that eligibility if mitigation is included in the amended compact.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s talk about the revenue contributions to the State’s General Fund.  Obviously, the Governor’s proposed budget to put a figure somewhere near $500 million; the LAO puts it near $200 million; the question of the day is; are we going to get to, at the end of the day, ramped up $500 million plus?


MR. JERUE:  As of today, we still have confidence that we will.  This particular compact, if you want me to speak to the Agua Compact…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In totality, though, do we get there?


MR. JERUE:  As of today, that’s still where the Department of Finance is.  Now, we do work off the assumptions provided by the Governor’s Office.  I have received nothing from them that that number should change as of today.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  And according to, at least, my calculations, we seem to look at the revenues that are coming (just so I can understand Finance’s point of view or the Governor’s point of view)….that we look at these and as we negotiated these at some end known number?  I mean, how do we measure success in this?


MR. JERUE:  As far as the negotiation side, I would have to defer to 
Ms. Cates.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MS. CATES:  When you say “end known number,” I’m sorry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, the total value of this exercise.


MS. CATES:  You mean the total package—the revenue package?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MS. CATES:  Yes, each compact is negotiated tribe by tribe.  We don’t have a template.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess what I’m asking for (maybe I’m asking the first question when I need to ask it last after all the compacts have been heard by the committee), you know, I would like to see if you might be able to give us some present value calculation of what all of these compacts look like if they were successfully passed by the Legislature together at year 2030, that sort.  I know we’re focusing on this year, but I would like to focus in on the total thing.


MR. JERUE:  Right.  Well, I have that based on assumptions of machines, so if you want to pick a year.  You said, “I go out to 2030.”


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MR. JERUE:  Well, that’s a bad year because it’s a half year.  Because this chart was assuming Jan. 1 of ’07.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got you.


MR. JERUE:  So I’m going to ’29/’30.  At that point, with these five compacts, not including Yurok, we would be at approximately $1 billion annual revenue.  Now, that’s assuming they all go to the maximum, which is 7,500 machines for Pechanga, San Manuel, and Morongo.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that’s a $1 billion annual contribution to the General Fund?


MR. JERUE:  If they go to the maximum number of machines.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I assume we’re all going to go the maximum.  It’s a question of ramp-up, so I think that’s what I’m looking for, is that end known number?

MR. JERUE:  Yes, it’s a $1 billion per year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  A billon dollars more, okay.  And currently it’s what?  


MR. JERUE:  In the current budget?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  As compared to the ’99  compacts, and I were to put an end known on those; what’s the comparison?


MR. JERUE:  Well, the ’99  compacts had no General Fund.  The compacts that have been amended or anew, under this governor, prior to this said, is about $26 million per year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so a billion versus $26 million dollars?


MR. JERUE:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just trying to compare real money coming in at some point in time.


Let me ask some questions about the cap on the number of machines allowed under the amended compacts.  It would seem that we would want to be successful with partners and these are under these compacts.  I mean, if they’re successful, the State of California is successful, it seems, but yet, we put a cap on this.  I mean, what’s the reason for that?


MS. CATES:  Well, the Administration has moved away from the unlimited that you saw in the first several amendments, and we work with the tribes to come up with the best realistic number given their market.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And ultimately, is that the Administration asking for a cap, or tribe’s asking for a cap?


MS. CATES:  It’s negotiated and it’s happened both ways.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Has any tribe ever come in and said, “We absolutely want a cap?”  I don’t think so, but that’s okay; right?  I’m just wondering, obviously, it’s negotiated.

MS. CATES:  It’s negotiated and some tribes do come in and they have a number, “This is what we want.”


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I think the Yuroks just said that really 99 was their maximum in terms of that particular site.


MS. CATES:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me go, if I could, one step further and ask about why each tribe is to make, if you will, a “fixed payment” on the first 2,000 machines as opposed to a percentage?  I mean, why fixed; why not a percentage?  If they’re successful, why didn’t we lock in on a percentage basis?


MS. CATES:  Well, under their current compacts they do pay a per device fee and the Administration felt it important to stick to that kind of format where we have a sum certain for the existing machines that are currently being operated.  These are funds that will come to the State no matter what.  And so, we _____ negotiate with that with each the compact amendments.  So whatever the number of current machines is, we sat down and negotiated a fixed payment that would enable the tribes to keep their licenses for those existing machines.  And then when they do expand….and that would be a payment to the State that would be a sum certain so that the Administration and Legislature would have a sum that they could do their planning with, even if they don’t put in one new machine, and then, on the additional machines, as you know, then we switch to the percentage.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so this is the baseline amount?


MS. CATES:  Right, it’s a baseline.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In other words, this is how much we can count on no matter what?


MS. CATES:  Right, we can count on, so the State can do planning; it has a sum certain for fiscal planning purposes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, I understand.  And given that, do you believe that some tribes are paying more and some are paying less under that particular formula per machine?


MS. CATES:  Per machine?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  I mean, you locked in.  But let me give you an example:  San Manuel is going to be paying about $22,500 and Sycuan’s going to be paying about $10,000, and it seems to be a variation under that type of formula.  I mean, why didn’t we lock in ________ a number per machine?

MS. CATES:  Well, we weren’t doing a per machine formula.  I mean, you’re asking why…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And why weren’t we doing a per machine formula on the first 2,000 given we were looking for….I don’t know, I’m a finance person, so I’m not sure why we didn’t do it on a per machine basis.


MS. CATES:  It’s just another negotiation point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, let’s not belabor that.  Let’s go to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  I think you heard me ask Chairman Milanovich earlier, in the amended compacts four out of five tribes were required to pay a flat $2 million; that’s also a flat contribution.  Sycuan is paying $3 million.  So it’s a total of about $11 million for, if you will, the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  And I guess the question I have is the same for the machines is; what’s the benefit of a fixed payment as opposed to a percentage of net win for this particular account; and why did we negotiate that type of payment schedule as opposed to, if you will, some sort of percentage of net win for the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund itself?

MS. CATES:  The Administration believes the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund is very important; it’s important that funds be available for the non-gaming tribes, and having the fixed fee facilitates that.  Each of the amended compacts, it does provide for an increase in payment to the RSTF by each tribe, and that was also another point that the Administration felt that was important—that they do step up their payment.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess the reason I asked it is because, obviously, is our sovereign negotiated with their sovereign, it seems to me (I’ve been fairly consistent on it), that we should ask tribes to pay more into that particular account, and a percentage basis would have been an easier to deal with that versus the variations that we have seen on a flat fixed on per machines for, if you will, our own planning purposes.  It’s just a thought.  We’re not going to require you to go back and do it, but it seems to me, that would have been something that would have been of value.


Let’s talk about the exclusivity portion of the compacts, if I could.  For the most part, it has been mentioned by the Chairman, is that I believe it’s Riverside, Orange, Los Angeles, and either San Bernardino or San Diego Counties; why are the core geographic regions, why were they created?  I mean, what happened to the statewide impact?  Why were these four areas created in the compacts?

MS. CATES:  Well, again, the Administration has been consistent in moving away from statewide exclusivity and has worked with the tribes to determine what is their core geographic area.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I’m asking; what is the public policy benefit of the core geographic area?  I mean, why that?


MS. CATES:  Well, from a public policy perspective, if there’s a breach of exclusivity within an area that is core to their market, then the tribes do have a loss.  Otherwise, if it’s somewhere remote in the State, there’s really no reason for them to have exclusivity statewide.  And it is important to have exclusivity because the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act forbids states from imposing tax, so the tribes do have to get something in exchange for making revenue payments to the State, and the Interior Department generally has required that they have some exclusivity for that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that exclusivity covers, then, what type of games?  I think that’s a really important question for us.  I mean, is that slot machines or is that all class III games?


MS. CATES:  I think it covers all class III games.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s, if we could, go to another topic.  Obviously, we moved a little quickly because we covered it quite a bit in the last hearings on building codes, standards, food handling, inspections, etcetera, but, you know, probably the major question I have in terms of these new standards is, these were all included in the amended compacts; were any carried over from the ’99 or are these new standards or just kind of standard rote agreements that we’ve had from one compact to the other?


MS. CATES:  The amended compacts do improve upon some of the provisions in the ’99 compacts.  For example, the building code provisions are much more detailed than in the ’99 compacts.  Food and beverage handling is in the ’99 compacts and there were some minor changes—those were fairly minor.  But the other core provisions that the Administration has added, such as testing of machines, building codes, environmental review procedures, those are significant changes from the 1999 compacts.  They all are much stronger provisions and were intended to address some of the shortfalls in the 
’99 compacts.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’ve also noted that the liability insurance doubled; was there any particular reason for that?  Patron dispute process was required binding arbitration; any reason for those types of changes?


MS. CATES:  Yes, it was felt that given the size of the facilities, an increase in the insurance was necessary.  And I understand that many of the tribes already have $10 million or more in coverage.  And I’m sorry, what was the other provision?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The other provision had to do with patron disputes.  We require binding arbitration, which I appreciate, but was there any reason a patron dispute process was necessary to put into this compact as compared to the ’99?


MS. CATES:  Well, as you know, the ’99 compact did not have specific procedures and the Administration and the tribes also agreed, that it was important that the patrons feel that if there are disputes either with a game or if there’s an injury, that there’s a fair process by which to have their dispute resolved, and so, the compacts provide for that process and spell it out in some detail.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Under the section of the environmental protections, obviously the State has been very interested in environmental mitigation, and I guess, is there anything you would highlight in this compact in terms of environmental mitigation that is different, enhanced, or better in these particular compacts?


MS. CATES:  The environmental provisions in the Agua amendment and the other three will be seen.  They are quite consistent with the previous amendments.  There are some slight improvements in language—just some clarification.  It was brought to our attention there was some need for that.  And if you look closely, you’ll see the language that was added actually is taken from CEQA.  So there was an attempt to make some further refinements and clarifications in the language.  


The other changes, some of the previous compacts provided for baseball arbitration as a dispute resolution mechanism.  These provide for binding.  Some have JAMS comprehensives; some have JAMS streamline, but the Administration’s goal was to have a fair and impartial review and whether it was JAMS or Triple A (AAA) really was not important, so those are some differences you’ll see from compact to compact.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you a question about problem gambling, which I think I’ve asked a couple of times here.  The Yurok Compact laid out quite a detailed amount of steps in order to implement the issue of getting, if you will, better policy for problem gambling.  And I guess the question I would have is; the amended compacts don’t have those, so is the State going to step in with our additional revenue on our side that we’re getting from these compacts?  We’re getting half-a-billion dollars from the Agua Compact alone.  I mean, are we going to step up and create a program out of our General Fund dollars that has really some value?  And this committee had quite an extensive hearing on problem gambling, and as we are about to, it appears to discuss and vote on quite a few more slot machines in the State of California, the question will become, what is the State going to do itself on the mitigation side to deal with problem gambling?  Do we have a plan yet beyond an office that….a remote office where a director has….you know, the last term we had here was a disaster.  I mean, really just no plan at all other than a written plan.  How are we going to….the Administration has stepped up to the plate and come up with a real plan at some point in time?

MS. CATES:  The Administration shares your concerns about problem gambling.  We feel it’s something that really should be addressed on a statewide level, and the Administration will welcome sitting down with you and discussing that.  


You’re right, there is a difference between new compacts and amended, however, the amended compacts do all have a provision that does cover problem gambling in the mitigation provision.  It’s something that would be provided for in an Intergovernmental Agreement negotiated with the local.  But we would welcome further discussions to approach problem gambling on a statewide level.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Alright, that’s all the questions I have.  Thank you very much.


MS. CATES:  Thank you.  And I appreciated the opportunity…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, is there any support for the compact—Agua Caliente Compact?  


PHIL WYMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Wyman.


MR. WYMAN:  Mr. Chairman, Phil Wyman and Associates, Phil Wyman representing the Chemehuevi Indian Tribe.  We specifically support this important compact since gaming is located on recognized ancestral land.  We think that’s most important, and that certainly seems to be the case with the Yurok Compact.  So we wanted to go on the record.  And appreciate the hearing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Wyman, appreciate it.  Okay, opposition.  Mr. Polasky, welcome to the committee.


ART POLASKY:  Mr. Chairman, thank you very much; committee, Art Polasky.  That’s Art Polasky with the California Labor Federation.  I’m going to save you some time today, Chairman, and speak only once on each of, what I think, are the next subsequent three also, compacts before you.  And please know, though, that my objections refer to each one of those, as well, so that would include Agua Caliente, Morongo, Pechanga, and Sycuan.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Then, Mr. Polasky, if you’re going to do that, then take your time.


MR. POLASKY:  Thank you very much.  These compacts constitute the greatest expansion of gambling in the history of America and they have no assurance that workers’ rights will be protected.  Unless these compacts are amended in a way that ensures that tribal workers have the opportunity to negotiate for basic worker rights, then we call upon you to reject them and to send them back to the Governor, the Administration, for improvement.  

These compacts are negotiated.  Presumably they are negotiated between two sovereign entities.  We support tribal sovereignty, but we also want to recognize, if you will, the sovereign obligation of the State of California for its part in these negotiations.  The state has a critically important interest in guaranteeing that workers are protected at their work sites.  Because the State cannot enforce most labor laws at tribal casinos, the terms of the compact are the only opportunity for those workers to independently and separately and privately negotiate those protections on their own behalf.  
Nearly all the State laws cannot be enforced to protect those workers at those tribal casinos.  You can include minimum wage, Cal/OSHA protections, even federal protections, for example, that prohibit discrimination against women under Title IX.  Without legal protection, tribal casino workers are vulnerable.  It’s essential that they have the ability to organize and join unions to ensure themselves, collectively, that they can protect their own rights at work.

I remind you that this is the fastest growing industry in California, and therefore, it is of tantamount importance, I believe, that the State take on its obligation to find the best possible way to protect those workers in the fastest growing industry in the State.

I want to take issue with something that Chairman Milanovich said a short time ago, because I think he was wrong.  Chairman Milanovich indicated that the TLRO of the 1999 compacts, in fact, was the enabler of agreements such as, the San Manuel contract with the unions.  I believe this not to be so and I would urge your independent checking on the accuracy of that.  It’s my understanding that the San Manuel contract was arrived at simply by the independent agreement of the two parties and it was achieved by that voluntary agreement not under the value of the TLRO.
The current TLRO, under the ’99 Agreements, does not work, and so we would urge you not to consider any testimony that suggests that that is the means by which workers can effectively advocate on their own behalf.  

There are many tribal casinos that are unionized including, San Manuel.  Many of them provide good wages and benefits to workers, and I think that there may be some 5,000 of those workers so protected.  Some of those were facilitated rather by the 2004 compact language which, in fact, did provide for this card check recognition agreement.

We are not, I want to emphasize, singling out the Indian casinos for this kind of language that protects worker rights.  The State of California, in fact, provides for card check recognition in every possible venue in the public sector that has come up in recent years.  The legislature has amended statutes that cover public employees and local agencies and schools and colleges and trial courts, just to name a few.  It is becoming the standard for us in the public sector; it is becoming the standard for us in the private sector; it is a national issue among all of our unions across the country.  
So, the Legislature has a very important decision to make that is of critical importance to a growing number of workers in this state.  If you ratify these compacts without those adequate worker protections, the workers at these casinos will most likely continue to suffer low wages, they will be forced to rely most likely on State funded health care programs by our taxpayers, they will have no acceptable recourse if they are sexually harassed, discriminated against for getting pregnant, or fired for supporting a union.  You have the power simply to say “We should have this protection for our workers in California.”  

And so I ask you to send it back; to reject it and simply say to the Administration, “We support tribal sovereignty; we support Indian compacts; and we support workers’ rights; and we reject this until we have those provisions within these compacts and then we will support it.”  So until that happens, I urge your rejection and a “No” vote on your part.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Polasky.  Senator Denham, you have a question?


SENATOR JEFF DENHAM:  If you support the tribal sovereignty and you support labor rights, what is the opposition in today’s current compacts?


MR. POLASKY:  What is the opposition in today’s…


SENATOR DENHAM:  I guess I’m unclear on what you’re opposing.  If you’re supporting workers’ rights, what in current compacts doesn’t support workers’ rights?


MR. POLASKY:  The ability for them to…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Card check?


MR. POLASKY:  Yes.  The ability for them to have a card check neutrality understanding, which means that they can, unhindered, if you will, have the opportunity….see, as you know, many of the tribal casinos are very distant from freeways.  We had one Tribe that said to the union, “Okay, stand at the exit to the freeway four miles away from where the workers get out of their cars to go to work and pass out your fliers there.”  So in other words, the access can be severely restricted to be able to talk to those workers.  


And if I may also add to that, Senator, that if you believe in the private sector, I would say that you would be firmly in support of the opportunity for the private sector, for the workers, to reach out and to bargain collectively with their private sector employers.  And so this merely enables the private sector protection of one’s own rights.  And so I would hope that you, in the spirit of private sector, would enthusiastically support our point of view on that.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Does Viejas have card checks?  


MR. GRIBBON:  The Viejas Compact…

SENATOR DENHAM:  I don’t believe they do.


MR. GRIBBON:  Can I answer your question?


SENATOR DENHAM:  It’s a yes or no question.  Do they have card check or not?  


MR. GRIBBON:  Well, actually, I don’t know the answer to that.  What I do know, is that the workers at San Manuel and Viejas organized under neutrality conditions.  Those employers did not campaign against their workers’ rights to organize.  They did not campaign against the union.  They did not threaten employees who tried….and that’s the real answer here, Senator Denham, they were not campaigned against, and as a result, those workers organized.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Are they being campaigned against elsewhere?


MR. GRIBBON:  Absolutely, and you’re going to hear testimony to that effect today.  
MR. POLASKY:  And, Senator, I would only add that, for example, we support the San Manuel Compact, because, in fact, they have worked out a private sector understanding with the workers and their union so that they have a viable way of representing mutual interests, and so that’s why we, in fact, will support San Manuel, because they have been able to work that out in their private sector interests.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wyland, and then we’ll go on to the rest of the testimony.


SENATOR MARK WYLAND:  Just a comment that sort of poses a question, because I understand what you’re saying about private sector.  I was in business for many years in an industry which was sometimes organized and sometimes not, and became familiar, in a practical way, with the National Labor Relations Act, which I think now is probably 70-years-old.  And that act, and the creation of the National Relations Board, and many, many court decisions, very clearly defined the relationships between those who wish to organize and the private sector.  And in my experience (and I know there are some which are very contentious), usually those elections, which are held after cards are submitted….and usually in my experience, the NLRB makes sure that the opportunity to inform employees of their rights, and should be enforced, because I’m someone who believes it should be a level playing field….and I have seen industries become organized that, well, they not only won elections, but they should have been because they were fair elections and they often had employers who sometimes weren’t giving them a fair shake.  But what I don’t quite understand in this instance, I can understand it from a very narrow point of view; it’s a lot easier with a card check.  Bingo.  And I can understand why that has become more often the pattern in public employee unions where there’s the ability to make that happen.  What I don’t quite understand though, in a private sector, if the interest truly is those workers (and I believe they ought to have this opportunity, and they ought to have decent working conditions), why you wouldn’t just say, “Let’s have the reasonable provisions that have existed in law for so many years,” and make it a fair playing field?

MR. POLASKY:  Senator Wyland, I appreciate the question.  It’s a good question, and I think it strengthens my argument and here’s why:  The National Labor Relations Act is very inadequate in terms of how it protects workers, and as a result, many workers, nationally, are intimidated by employers who put on major campaigns to, if you will, scare those workers away from the risk of being in a union, so to speak.  As weak and as ineffective as the federal law currently is, there is not even the weakness of that law that protects those workers in those Indian casinos and that’s why we need the opportunity to be recognized without intimidation, so that we can privately bargain these protections for our workers because they don’t even have the weakness of the federal law behind them.


SENATOR WYLAND:  And so, you’re saying the provisions which I read mirror the provisions, at least, the concept of the NLRA, you’re saying that it’s not in effect?


MR. POLASKY:  They may attempt to mirror the concepts of the National Labor Relations Act but do not provide any of the enforcements, all be it weak enforcements, that the National Labor Relations Act has, so that they are wholly inadequate in that regard.


SENATOR WYLAND:  I’ll leave it there.  Obviously, this is going to be an issue that will be discussed.  I’ll just say, in the tribes that I have seen, I’ve been actually, and I certainly haven’t seen every Tribe, but the ones that I’ve seen and visited, both organized and not organized, but including the ones that were not organized, I was impressed, frankly, with a lot of things that they did which were more than what you see in an industry, in general.


MR. POLASKY:  Senator Wyland, I would only hope that you counted heads for those employees who were paid a living wage and were not being subsidized by State health care plans that taxpayers have to pay to subsidize those that aren’t covered by their employer, and so many other protections that they lack behind the scenes.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Yes; Mr. Gribbon.


MR. GRIBBON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Senators.  My name is Jack Gribbon.  I’m the California political director for UNITE HERE, the hotel and casinos employees union in our state and across the U.S.


I think that the Legislature has a real challenge as it contemplates the ratification of a number of compacts that will create the largest single expansion of gambling in American history.  And these are extremely important issues that you’re going to have to be looking at.  And there’s going to be, again, a very, very big challenge that I’m going to mention at the end here.


First of all, the most important thing in our view with respect to these compacts is, again, the achievement of those rights for workers that occurred in the 2004 compacts which were signed by Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger and were approved by two-thirds of the Senate and the Assembly, which created a balance for the purposes of workers to be able to organize because of the lack of federal and State labor laws, some of which Secretary/Treasurer Polasky has just mentioned.  However, conversely, under these compacts that are being contemplated, tens of thousands of workers with no effective way to join together to improve their lives in spite of the incredible profits of the California Tribal Gaming Industry, is a problem.  It’s a problem that these workers will not be able to join together because they will not be able to enjoy the rights that were approved in 2004 by many of the legislators here and by this governor.  In addition to that, you will be burdening the taxpayers who support taxpayer funded health care and other social services for the working poor for the remainder of these compacts should they be ratified through the year 2030.


There are other issues though, of concern with respect to these compacts, separate and apart from the issue of the workers, which, of course, we think is the most important, and workers can speak for themselves much more articulately than I can, and they will be.

These compacts have serious voids in regulatory oversight as the result of the D.C., District Court of Appeals decision called the CRIT Decision last October, as evidenced by letters from both Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger and U.S. Senator Diane Feinstein to U.S. Senator Dorgan two weeks ago, who is the chairman of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, complaining that that court decision has created a huge void and that it’s a problem in California.  This issue has not been resolved in these compacts and now is the time to do that, if you’re going to do that.


The fact that impoverished non-gaming tribes, like the Los Coyotes Tribe, are left without even a hearing for their compacts while other tribes who have been enjoying the incredible profits of this industry for many years get upfront consideration for their expansion opportunities; a lack of mitigation for the racetrack industry, putting 50,000 middle-class jobs in our State in jeopardy, middle-class jobs that exist in places like in Inglewood, California, where it’s very difficult to find a middle-class job; and finally, no guarantee that the bingo machines installed in non-tribal bingo parlors around the State, as reported in the Sacramento Bee last week, will not undercut the State’s share of revenue which would arguably be the one positive outcome from this expansion.  So, in fact, if these bingo machines are seen by the tribes to violate the exclusivity clause, there won’t be a penny, possibly, going to the State as a result of these compacts, and yet, you will be creating the largest expansion of gambling in American history.


So to finish off with what I started with, there’s going to be a very, very big challenge, in my view, to the legislators who will be contemplating the ratification of compacts like, Agua Caliente, and that is, trying to figure out if there is one single good public policy reason to ratify these compacts at this particular moment in time that will create enormous problems for the workers, most importantly, and many, many of your constituents throughout the State until the year 2030—one positive good public policy issue to vote in favor of these compacts—not one.

Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


GRACIELA HUESO (Unnamed Translator):  So as my boss mentioned, I am that woman, but I have a name.  My name is Graciela Hueso and I’ve worked at the Spa Casino, Agua Caliente, for eight years.  I have publicly supported the union, along with a few of my coworkers, and then we were taken to HR.  We were told that a few of our coworkers were complaining that we were bothering them.  And someone from human resources told us that we could not talk about the union at work; not during our breaks; and if we continue to talk about the union, there will be other alternatives taken on us.  They would put security to follow us in the parking lot.  We were also told that if the union came to our house, we should call the police. 

In August of 2000, I was pulled into human resources again, this time by myself.  They again told me that coworkers were complaining that I was coming to talk to them about the union during work hours.  How was I talking to them about the union when I also was working and doing my work the way it is supposed to be done?  The person from human resources asked me to give her a list of the folks that were involved, of the other workers that were involved in the union, and I told her that I would not do that.  There was a security person put on me to look as I walked to the parking lot to my car.  I was given a warning for having talked about the union.  A letter was sent to me telling me that I could not talk about the union, religion; I could not talk about anything at all at work.  They started taking in workers one by one into human resources to threaten them all because we wanted to defend our rights.  

That is why, today, I am asking for you not to vote for these compacts, because as they are they do not give us the right to organize.  And I refer back to what my boss said before, it’s not that I am happy or unhappy at work, it’s a necessity—I need to work and it’s a job.  If he wants to fire me because I came and I spoke what my experience has been, then you guys will know that I came because it is my right to come and defend myself.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay, any other witnesses in opposition?


REVEREND KEVIN A. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Reverend Kevin A. Johnson.  I am the pastor of United Church of Christ and Reconciling Methodist Congregation in Palm Springs.  I am here representing the Coachella Valley affiliate of CLUE California.  The acronym CLUE stands for Clergy and Laity United for Economic Justice.  There are CLUE California affiliates throughout the State. 


Today as I speak to you, I feel like I imagined how David felt as he looked in the eyes of Goliath.  The casino gambling business in California has become a giant.  This goliath giant has its own rules and a mocking and cursing voice that rings in my ears saying, “Who do you think you are to come here opposing me?”  But I am not here to oppose the casino gambling industry.  I am here asking the California Legislature to not ratify the 2006 compacts negotiated between the tribes and our governor until the two pages of labor language in the 2004 amended compacts, that were not included in these recent negotiations, are restored.


The 2004 labor language that was omitted from these compacts would have ensured that employees considering organizing a union could do so free of intimidation and reprisals.  Without the 2004 language, workers are left to rely solely on the 1999 TLRO language that has never, in my opinion, worked to protect workers from reported unfair labor practices and antiunion activities on the part of some tribes and their managers.


Over the past four years I have had the opportunity to hear the testimony of dozens of tribal casino and hotel workers regarding workplace conditions and relationships with their employers in both union and nonunion settings.  I have heard firsthand accounts of routine abuses that occurred during employment in some nonunion settings.  And, I have heard the benefits of self-determination and workplace dignity that a unionized workforce was able to develop.  
When we look at the antiunion casinos operating under the 1999 TLRO, the most frustrating conduct by casino management has been the consistent use of intimidation to dissuade employees from organizing.  Commonly reported tactics are:  surveillance, interrogation, threats of loss of benefits, making false or misleading statements about the union, and, what appears to me, to be firing of workers for union activity or for speaking up about abuses at work.


Now, I cannot speak for all, but many faith groups publish official statements that support a workers right to organize without having one’s job security threatened by the employer.  It is a matter of social justice in the quest for economic justice.  


Along with that, we affirm that Native Americans are due sovereignty.  Our churches, temples, synagogues, and mosques work for Native American cultural integrity and social justice.  Our denominations stand firm on the side of tribes in their social and political self-determination.  And where gambling receipts have not brought prosperity, our interfaith groups minister in works of compassion and justice, seeking tribal empowerment by other means.


In the case of the Coachella Valley area, I have heard and read that the leadership of the Agua Caliente and Morongo Tribes claim that workers have a means to address complaints and to organize under the TLRO.  But that claim is not supported by the testimony of the workers I have listened to.  Furthermore, while at work, these workers are not covered by the EEOC, the ADA or other important legal protections afforded all other American workers.  The San Manuel Tribe has even appealed the recent ruling of the federal courts that the NLRB has jurisdiction on Indian lands which leaves workers without yet another basic protection.  


It seems unjustifiable that Californians who work in these casinos do not have the equal protection of federal and California labor laws.  Even enforcing the 1999 TLRO is problematic.  Prounion Agua Caliente employees waited for a nine-month arbitration process to enforce a clearly specified right in the 1999 TLRO that would have allowed them, and eventually did, after nine months, to post a 
16-inch by 20-inch prounion poster in their employee cafeteria.  

Repeatedly, the people of California are told that there is no barrier to workers organizing on tribal sovereign lands, yet I personally have met the barrier when trying to meet with casino managers and tribal executives.  I have had repeated phone calls to casino management unreturned, as I was asking why pregnant workers were not allowed to work assignments in nonsmoking areas upon request in the casino.  I have written polite letters to casino management asking for meetings and conversations, they were answered with arrogant and insulting replies.  


If it is so easy to talk with casino management, why is it that when Clergy and Laity United for Economic Justice show up with employees wanting to facilitate a dialogue, we are met with bureaucratic rambling and security guards.  Every time we show up to talk, we end up not in the office but on the sidewalk.  That does not tell me that the 1999 TLRO works.  It tells me that the only response to labor issues by some tribes and their managers is bullying and intimidation.  If that is how they treat us, clergy and laity seeking economic justice, how can we expect there to be fair treatment for employees to organize in the workplace?  That’s why California employees need to be protected by this legislature with a guarantee of a neutral workplace and the ability to sign up for a union out from under the intimidating eye of the casino manager.  And that’s why we implore you to not pass the compacts as they exist today.


We believe that the tension between these tribes and the advocates for social and economic justice will ease substantially when the two pages of 2004 worker protections, specifically employer neutrality and card check process, are reinstated to the 2006 compacts.  These agreements work well already in several business settings, including in other tribal casinos in California and in commercial gaming nationally.  We think they engender the hope of better jobs and brighter futures for all low wage workers in California.


So maybe I am not David in the shadow of Goliath, maybe instead, I am Daniel, in the lion’s den.  Either way, because I serve the God who loves justice, I know I am on the side of right and you can be too.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


FRED JONES:  Mr. Chair and Senators, Fred Jones representing the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion.  Just briefly, obviously this state has a good faith duty, according to IGRA, to negotiate with federally recognized tribes on federally recognized trust lands for class III gambling.  That has been done with the five richest tribes that are here before you today and tomorrow.  That good faith measure for economic development negotiated by the State of California has been done and they are prospering quite well.  The question is; what necessitates a new negotiation for another round of the largest expansion of gambling in this nation’s history, and, certainly, this state’s history?  I don’t see citizens elect your representatives clamoring for more gambling, expansion of more gambling, especially in light of the economic social costs associated with this type of large scale gambling.

So, we at the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion take a principled position on the five compacts of the richest tribes already in California, that we don’t need a further expansion of their gambling economic opportunities.  We don’t see the need and we stand against it, as do many, many citizens of this state. 


Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


FRAN SCHRIEBERG:  Thank you.  My name is Fran Schrieberg, I’m acting Executive Director of Work Safe.  We are advocates for occupational safety and health in California.  I’m here basically to talk about a specific labor issue that is of concern in these compacts, and that is, the lack of coverage under California occupational safety and health law.  There is a significant difference between Federal Osha and Cal/OSHA with respect to safety and health in four specific areas that are important in this particular industry.  

The first issue, is that California law has provisions for something called an “Injury and Illness Prevention Program,” and that’s a program that’s a written program that an employer must have that allows them to be proactive to kind of look at workplace conditions for safety and health hazards before an injury or a death occurs and to prevent those injuries and deaths.  


The second thing, is that California has provisions for people who are suffering from repetitive motion injuries; lifting heavy beds when you change linens.  Housekeepers are particularly affected and actually the statistics show that housekeepers in this particular industry, in a hotel setting, are actually twice as likely as other service industry folks to sustain these injuries.  And we’re not talking about a small amount of money that’s involved, we’re talking about very significant amounts of workers’ comp injuries, and I think Lydia is going to address that in her testimony.

The third area where California would provide adequate and better protection, or more adequate and better protection than Federal OSHA, is in the area of heat related illnesses, and I think you’re familiar with that from previous.  And there’s, of course, people who do grounds work and landscaping that would be impacted by that.  And we’ve had so many fatalities that I think when we recognize that this is a hazard; folks need to be protected from that.


The last is, of course, smoking.  And I think everybody is familiar with California’s commitment to understand that there are severe results from secondhand smoke. 


So, those four things in particular, not to mention many others, but those four things in particular, would be left out if these compacts are ratified because these compacts do not allow folks to be covered by California OSHA

And let me just say one other thing, which is that in addition to bringing California OSHA into these compacts, I think it’s very important to also bring in the ability of folks to have representation in their workplace.  And the reason is, is that I worked for Cal/OSHA for four years.  I did the criminal prosecutions of companies that killed and maimed workers.  I brought criminal cases.  And I read every single accident report over a period of several years; maybe 220, 250 of those a year, and there was one thing that was in common in, I’d say, 98 percent of those cases, and that’s somebody ahead of time knew that that so-called accident was going to happen, and either they spoke up. were told to shut up, or they didn’t bother to speak up because they knew that was what the result would be.  And I was prosecuting these cases and looking at them and clearly understanding that something could have been done to prevent them.  I would much rather have those injuries and deaths prevented than have to go to court to prosecute somebody after the fact.  

The way you can prevent injuries is through labor management safety and health committees.  The only way you can have a labor management health and safety committee is to have a fair representation on the side of labor.  That’s what prevents injuries and deaths in the workplace.  And so, I would urge for both of these reasons that these compacts be denied.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


LOU BENCHER:  Hello, my name is Lou Bencher.  I’ve worked for the Agua Caliente Tribe in Rancho Mirage for six years and ten days.  I’d like to report an incident that happened to me maybe two years ago—maybe a little over two years ago.  I was going into the team dining room, not having a good day, and I looked on the team members’ bulletin board and there were several announcements there; Disneyland tickets, a union flyer.  The only word that came out of my mouth was, “Man, that’s probably the number to call.”  That was all I said.  I sat down and had lunch and went back to work.  Two weeks later I had put in the request for a couple of days off (my wife and I were going to go away for the weekend), my manager came up to me and said before I reported back to work, after my long weekend, I had to report to HR.  And I asked him what for.  He said, “I don’t know.”  And when I came back to work I went to HR; I went to one of the conference rooms in there and there were two people from HR and the slot director.  Their opening statements were, “We understand that you want to help organize for a union.”  First of all, I was dumbfounded that, what could even have brought this on because, number one, I didn’t even remember having made that comment.  So my first comment was, “Wow, wouldn’t the union like to hear about this?”  And then they kind of started back pedaling which, “Well, we only wanted to make you aware that the union cannot guarantee you anything.”  

My whole professional career has been in textiles.  I was a manager.  I probably had more antiunion training than those three people combined, and I specifically told them that.  I said, “You know, I know they can’t guarantee you anything.”  The bantering went on back and forth and I asked if I still had a job and they said yes.  I said, “Well, I think this meeting is over,” so I left.  
I am no longer employed there.  I think if we had been organized, because I was terminated unjustly (I feel I was terminated unjustly), that if we would have been organized and had a union, I would still be working there.  And I enjoyed my job.  I would still be there.  

So unless the verbiage in the compact as it is now is changed so that people can talk about it, I don’t believe my former coworkers at Agua will ever be able to organize.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

DAWN DONTHIT:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  My name is Dawn Donthit and I’ve worked at Cache Creek Casino for 18 years.  And I work as a beverage server.  And I live in the Capay Valley.  And I have two children, Emily and Manuel.

This time last year my mom passed away and I didn’t know it at the time, but she didn’t have health insurance and if she would have gone to the doctor she would be alive today.  

California casinos are a booming industry and casino workers shouldn’t have to rely on Healthy Families and Medi-Cal or with just no insurance at all.  

When I started working at Cache Creek I didn’t have kids so health insurance wasn’t my main concern, but now that I have children, I thank God that I have it and that Cache Creek has it for me.  And I can imagine what the parents of children, that they don’t have insurance, what they must go through, hoping each and every day that the child doesn’t get hurt or that they don’t get too ill; and I can’t imagine that.  
And I’m one of the lucky ones because my tribe negotiated for great insurance for us and we did this by a card checking neutrality agreement.  And they took a step back and they allowed the workers at Cache Creek to decide if we want a union or not.  They sent us a letter stating the fact that they were not going to say anything to us; that it would be our decision.  
And your vote today on these compacts, without that same process at Cache Creek that we had, you’re making sure that thousands of other casino workers will never have the same chance we had to, and that’s to freely and fairly choose the union.  These workers will never have guaranteed good wages and affordable medical coverage for themselves and their family.  And in the end, our ability to keep our standards will be undermined and your vote for this compact will affect my ability to take care of my family.  And I urge you to vote “No” on these compacts.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

LIBBY SANCHEZ:  Libby Sanchez on behalf of Teamsters United Food and Commercial Workers Union and the Jockeys Guild.  I want to concur with the testimony already presented by Misters Gribbon and Polasky, but I want to focus my testimony just on workers’ compensation and our concerns about the lack of workers’ compensation protections under the compact today.

We all assume that workers in California are protected under workers’ compensation laws, and those workers that are not are able to pursue industrial illness or injury claims under tort law, are able to pursue discrimination for filing workers’ compensation claims pursuant to Labor Code Section 132(a) (which is the work comp discrimination section), or if they aren’t returned to work or if there is some workplace accommodation problems, that they can file claims under ADA or FEHA.  This is not an accurate statement for employees working at tribal gaming casinos.  There have been a series of Work Comp Appeals Board cases which have either found that unless there’s a provision that expressly waives sovereign immunity for workers’ compensation purposes, no such waiver of sovereign immunity for workers’ compensation is found.  That’s even where there’s language that indicates, and some other evidence that indicates, that the Tribe intended to waive sovereign immunity.  For example, purchase of a workers’ comp policy or things of that nature.  So there is no guarantee, absolutely, that workers are protected under workers’ compensation under the State system.

Additionally, we have the understanding that workers who have filed claims with their employer, that they have been injured on the job, have kind of just disappeared.  They have not gotten appropriate medical treatment.  They have not gotten to see a doctor of their choosing.  They have not gotten independent medical review.  They have not gotten referral.  They have not gotten indemnity benefits.  They have not gotten a review by the Work Comp Appeals Board.  There are a couple of cases by the Work Comp Appeals Board that have determined that even where there was an express waiver of sovereign immunity for workers’ compensation purposes for tribal gaming employees, other employees who thought they were employed in the same capacity, like maybe mechanical workers or landscapers or other nonspecific tribal gaming employees thought they were covered similarly, the Work Comp Appeals Board has found no, you’re not, and only are you not covered, so you have no work comp, you have no way to sue, so you’re totally unprotected.  
There’s a greater level of concern, of course, when the Tribe makes the determination not to participate in the work comp system operated by the State of California and instead decides to do an alternative system.  The language in these alternative systems that have been adopted by tribes have not provided any guarantee for workers—that they’re going to be protected.  

So, I was very interested when Mr. Denham asked the question about what it is we’re really concerned about when we’re talking about a lack of labor protections.  It’s not just a lack of right to organize, although we do believe a lack of right to organize directly relates to additional labor protections, it’s what actually happens to the workers while they’re there.  And we have serious concerns about this.  And we urge your “No” vote on these compacts which do not contain appropriate and adequate protections.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

REVEREND JAMES BUTLER:  Senator Florez, members of the committee, thank you for the opportunity to voice opposition to the ratification of this, as well as the others, proposed compacts between the State of California and the various tribes with casinos.  I’m the Reverend James Butler, Executive Director of the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion.

The ratification of these compacts is at best, problematic.  It is my understanding from hearings held last year, as well as today, that these compacts cannot be modified or amended in any way.  This means that they must be wholly accepted or rejected.  If there are questions, concerns or problems that would require corrective action or even clarifying language, those changes cannot be made.  This means that unless these compacts are 100 percent acceptable, these compacts should not be ratified.
As you consider the particulars of these compacts and the specifics, I would like to raise some questions regarding the intention of these compacts in general and certain elements, in particular.  

1. The origin of request for slot machines in California:  This request has come from the industry itself—the tribal casinos.  The last time the voters of California voted regarding more slot machines in California was in 2004 with Proposition 68 and 70.  Had either of these passed, the results would have been more slot machines, but they were soundly defeated.  I would suggest that the best interests of the gambling industry, in this case, tribal casinos, is not always the same as the best interests of the people of California.  
2. The inherent dangers of the gambling industry:  This is evidenced not only by the recent state reports “Gambling in the Golden State in the 2006 California Problem Prevalence Survey,” but even by the simple fact that you’re holding hearings regarding the expansion of this industry.  Because of the hearings that you have held regarding high-risk problem in pathological gamblers, I do not need to spend time recounting the specifics of the report.  However, it is important that we recognize the risk associated with gambling and the increased risk that will accompany expanded gambling.

3. Because of the dangers posed by the gambling industry, it is important to evaluate the cost benefit associated with the decisions regarding these compacts.  Often we look only at fiscal impacts; that is, how much money will we make or how much money will we get, instead of the real cost of gambling in our state and communities—the moral, economical, social, environmental, etcetera, versus the monetary return.

4. And finally, supervision and oversight:  To whom does this belong?  Who do you think has authority to establish and enforce the controls on 
class III gambling in tribal casinos?  Some may think that it is the responsibility of the federal government.  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act determined that all class III gambling must be regulated by the State, but in 1998 and 1999, tribes challenged the authority of states to hold them accountable, insisting that they were regulated by the federal government.  They even developed the minimum control standards with the National Indian Gaming Commission.  To avoid confrontation, many states acquiesced their regulatory authority to the NIGC.  Then, the Colorado Indian Tribe sued the NIGC and won when it was determined that the National Indian Gaming Commission did not have the necessary regulatory authority.  If the State, therefore, is then clearly responsible, then the many regulatory details, as well as the established authority, need to be part of the tribal compacts.  But we do not have the ability to amend or modify these compacts and address any of these concerns, questions, or problems.  
The people of California have declared by their vote that there are enough slot machines in California.  The official bodies of this state have determined that there are inherent dangers associated with the gambling industry.  An increasing amount of research is challenging the positive benefits of gambling, versus the negative associated social cost.  There is a lack of clarity regarding the regulatory and supervisory authority of tribal casinos.  I hope that all of these issues will be addressed and resolved before these compacts are ratified. 

Thank you again for your time and this opportunity to voice our concerns regarding these compacts and the expansion of gambling in California they represent.

DOUG BURGE:  Thank you.  Chairman, committee members, Doug Burge with the California Thoroughbred Breeders Association.  We represent the numerous thoroughbred breeders and horse farms located throughout the State of California.  In fact, many of these farms are in some of your districts.

California is the third largest foal producing state in the country.  We used to be second and we’re going backward.  But as breeders, we’re the backbone of the industry.  We breed and board the mares and stallions; we raise the foals; we break and train the yearlings and two-year-olds; provide lay-up facilities for race horses, and, in many cases, retirement homes for older horses.

There are many people who are employed and participate in this process.  Besides the many employees of the farms and the racetracks (which you’ll hear from shortly), there are numerous service providers that are involved as well; the feed and the bedding suppliers, the veterinarians, the ferriers, the insurance providers and others.  In fact, a large percentage of the 50,000 jobs can be attributed to the breeding farm sector.
Now that being said, the breeding industry in California is facing many threats.  These include the obvious; the pressure for property development, the increased cost at the farm and track level, and, most importantly, the competition both in and out of state for other forms of gaming.  We have farms that are closing. We’re losing horses and horsemen to other racing states that offer a larger return with fewer costs.  There are certain states that were never a serious threat to California that are now luring our horsemen; our horses.  In fact, the foal crop and the number of mares bred in California have dropped sharply over the last two years.  In the last two years alone, over 1,000 brood mares have been removed from production, which will have a significant negative impact on the racing industry down the road.

Thoroughbred racing in California has a valued history and tradition but we can no longer compete with other states.  But it’s the exclusivity clause in these compacts that will further prevent us from competing.  Including such a clause limits the rights at our expense.  We must improve the economics and allow California racing to become more competitive in order to preserve this vital agribusiness in this state.

Thank you.

RICK BAEDEKER:  Senator Florez, members of the committee, my name is Rick Baedeker and I’m a senior vice president for Hollywood Park and Bay Meadows Racetracks.  

At 57-years of age, I’ve been in the racing business for about 55 years and the reason for that is, is that my dad was in the business and so I grew up at the racetracks, and I think that can be said for many of the people that work on both sides of the racetrack—the front side and also on the back stretch.  It’s been a family business for many generations, going back 70 years.  
And racing in California was always on the top or right near it.  We always competed head to head with the other big racing state, which was New York.  And if you were a significant player you were either in New York or you were in California and we usually did better because our weather out here was so good.  As Senator Vincent has said on many occasions, “We’ve got the best weather in California, we have the best facilities in California, and as a result, for years, we’ve had the best horses, we’ve had the best jockeys, we’ve had the best trainers, and because of these great markets in California, we’ve had the best fans.”  

But over the last 10 years, racetracks in other states have seen their purses (which is the amount of money that’s offered as prize money in races), supplemented by other forms of gaming.  These are called “racinos.”  There are now fourteen states where the Legislature or the voters in those states have decided that while raising revenue they could also help to save the horseracing industry.  It used to be that they were just small states, like West Virginia or Okalahoma or Delaware, now states like New York and Pennsylvania and Florida are coming online with purses that are enhanced from racinos—from other forms of gaming.

So you would say, “Well, it’s a fair marketplace, get out there and compete,” and that’s where we have a problem with these compacts.  We understand that expanding tribal gaming in California is a matter of fact, a question of the marketplace.  If a customer wants to go and play another form of gaming at a casino and not come to the racetrack, then we lost that one; we understand that.  That’s just part of the business.  But these compacts will preclude us from coming to this body or to the voters to be able to conduct some other form of gaming that will allow us to compete with New York and Pennsylvania and with Florida.  And the reason is, that because the State will need this exclusivity to remain in place, any measure that we pursue will put us at odds with the State, and that is exactly the opposite of our relationship to date.  We are a highly regulated industry that has always worked cooperatively with the Legislature, the Governor’s Office and the body that regulates racing.
I work for Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park.  Those are two racetracks.  There’s only five major racetracks in California.  If we don’t get some kind of help for racing, if the economics of racing do not improve, then these two racetracks will close, and that’s 40 percent of the major racetracks in California.  They’re not just big arena buildings.  
You’re going to hear in a minute from Richard Castro about the jobs—48,000 jobs in this state related to racing.  Now, I’ve known these people. Many of them have been involved as long as I have.  You’ve got the parking lots, you’ve got the parking lot attendants, the admission clerks, the ushers, the people that work in the restaurants, you’ve got the people who sell the tickets, the mutuel clerks, you’ve got the janitors, you have the security guards, you’ve got the electricians, you’ve got the painters, all up and down the facility, and this is just the front side, it doesn’t count all the jobs in back stretch; in the stable area; these are good paying jobs with benefits.  They have medical insurance; they have pensions, and we’re very proud of the relationship that we’ve had with our workers over many decades.  These jobs are going to be lost.

And so, as you consider these compacts we want to make it clear, and on behalf of everybody that works at Hollywood Park and Bay Meadows, and I speak for these two racetracks, we don’t oppose prosperity for the Indian tribes; we don’t oppose revenue for the State, certainly not.  What we are opposed to, are compacts that take it out of our hides; that keep us from competing in the future; that keep us from competing with all of those other major racing states.  

I doubt this government wants to pass legislation to expand tribal gaming while at the same time killing horseracing.  It makes no sense.  And so, we would hope to be part of a negotiation that bargains away our ability to compete in the future, and until that time, we urge you to oppose the compacts.
RICHARD CASTRO:  Senator Florez, committee members, respected staff my name is Richard Castro.  I represent Pari-Mutuel Employees Guild, Local 280.  We believe if racing continues to fail, and we are failing, I’m talking about the middle-class jobs, California residents, California taxpayers with good wages, good benefits, people like, supervisors, janitors, security guards, mutual clerks, if that goes away, we’re all lost, we’re all losers.  And I believe it’s because of the exclusivity clause in the proposed compacts that hinders us to compete.  It’s the exclusivity clause that takes it right out of our hide.  And when I’m talking “out of our hide,” I’m talking out of the hide of racing associations; I’m talking out of the hide of workers.  I urge a “No” vote on the compacts as they are currently written.
Thank you.

CHERYL SCHMIT:  Good afternoon.  My name is Cheryl Schmit.  I’m director of Stand Up for California, a statewide organization that works with community groups, individual elected officials and members of law enforcement, and we act as a resource of information to local, state and federal policymakers.  There’s been many statements made today and I just want to reiterate four that are very important to me, maybe two that are new.  
First, the minimal internal control standards:  You’ve heard testimony today regarding the expansion of gaming in this state with no regulatory oversight of these new slot machines.  I cannot stress the seriousness of this issue.  It does not appear at this time, that there is any federal fix for the CRIT litigation, and the only hope is that the compacts can include language.  I know that the California Gambling Control Commission is working on a regulation, but I believe that we would be in the same position as the National Indian Gaming Commission if we were to end up in court—that we have no statute, no compact that calls for that type of regulatory language.  

The second issue is charity bingo:  A few weeks ago I felt like Chicken Little saying “the sky was falling,” when I took opposition to AB 1314.  But certainly, charity bingo, if we’re going to be playing on gaming devices, really affects the ability of the State to collect revenue from the tribes.  The Tribal-State compacts, the ’99 compacts, in Section 2.6, give a very broad definition of a gaming device.  And if charity bingo devices can fall under that, certainly any other type of machine will as well.  So I hope that you resolve that issue before we move forward with these compacts.

The third issue is the Fair Political Practice Commission dispute with Agua Caliente and some other tribes.  This dispute is still unsettled and certainly compact language requiring tribes to respect our political process and play on a level playing field would be appropriate language to resolve some of these conflicts.  

And lastly, the revenue sharing:  The revenue sharing formula in these last compacts is very different from the formula in the 2004 and 2005 compacts.  Basically, the tribes are incentivized to acquire the largest number of machines and yet will pay less money to the State, whereas in the 2004 and 2005 compacts there are disincentives; it’s more expensive to install new machines and it provides for a more balanced market and certainly appeases the concerns of citizens who do not want to see the expansion of gaming in their communities.  
Until there is minimum internal control standards, a stronger regulatory framework, until there is a resolution or determination on charity bingo machines, until there is a settlement on the Fair Political Practice Commission dispute with Agua Caliente and other tribes, until there is a clarification on why this formula is so different with these compacts, Stand Up for California urges this committee to send the compacts back to the Governor for renegotiation.

Thank you.

LINDA CANDELARIA:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee.  I am Councilwoman Linda Candlearia of the Gabrielino Tongva Tribe, which is indigenous to L.A. County.  With me today, I’d like to introduce our other speakers, unfortunately retired Supreme Court Justice Cruz Reynoso had to leave; his wife had some medical treatment; Jonathon Stein, our CEO, will cover the exclusivity clause in how it applies to our Tribe and why it is detrimental to our long-term interests and long-term interests of California.  
I’d like to cover a little bit about our history.  The Tribe has a 2,500-year history in Los Angeles County and it’s documented by 400 scholarly publications and 3,000 archeological sites.  In 1852, the Tribe signed a treaty with the United States; Congress then created a 50,000 acre Indian reservation at Fort Tejon.  Unfortunately, this was one of the 18 lost treaties and was never ratified by the Senate.  The reservation was misappropriated and now is part of Tejon Ranch.  
In 1942, the Tribe’s title to L.A. County was recognized by the Court of Claims, and in 1972, we were each given $633 as payment for the title.  In 1994, the State of California officially recognized us as a tribe, and the only tribe in Los Angeles County.  Our membership currently is 1,542 members.  There is more than one faction of the Tribe.  Our council represents 1,304 members or 84 percent of the Tribe.

The exclusivity clause is a direct attack on our sovereignty.  We understand how other tribes can demand their tribal sovereignty.  Then when the State of California asked them, “Okay, what do you want as a sovereign?”  And they answer, “We want the State of California to take away the sovereignty of the Gabrielinos for 24 years.”  

Thank you.

JONATHON STEIN:  Thank you.  Jonathon Stein, I’m CEO of the Tribe and president of Saint Monica Development Company, president of Century Gabrielino Casino Development Company.

Cruz Reynoso, the retired Supreme Court justice, really was supposed to be here.  You’ll forgive us.  His wife as a series of medical treatments and he always drives her.  It’s at 1:00, so forgive me.  But what he was going to point out is how there’s two sentences in the constitution.  There’s an ambiguity between them because one sentence uses “Indian lands,” the other uses “tribal lands.”  And what’s important about that is the well recognized legislative ability to interpret the constitution.  And the courts defer to that.  Mr. Reynoso, himself, has interpreted the California Constitution over 100 times.  

Now, what that means is that the exclusivity clause takes away the choice of the Legislature to so interpret the constitution.  It’s a choice of the Legislature to grant the Gabrielinos gaming rights that are inherent in the constitution or not, and it takes away that choice for 24 years.  It’s not whether there’s an exclusivity clause or not, that’s a banal discussion.  You need exclusivity for federal purposes.  It’s the nature of the exclusivity clause; that’s what’s important.

This exclusivity clause is gross, it’s over broad, it’s in the nature of a penalty against the State of California.  And what do I mean by that?  It creates a wall of over $100 million against the State of California, your sovereign, to exercise it’s choice to give the Gabrielinos gaming rights.  Let’s assume 10 years from now L.A. County, real estate values are down, unemployment is up and they’re looking for revenue, and the only revenue is the Gabrielino Casino.  And they come up to the Gabrielino Tribe, 10 years from now, not now….and that’s a realistic timeframe, 

10 years.  I mean, the Yurok Compact that you talked about this morning—that was eight years.  That was an eight-year compact.  So talking about 10 years from now is quite realistic.  You want to come forward to ask the Gabrielinos “Can you raise the financing and put in effect this Gabrielino Casino to increase employment to pay for county hospitals?”  The answer is no, there’s 14 years left at that time.  Ten years from now, there will be 14 years left on the exclusivity clause.  The legislature would not have that choice to make.  Los Angeles County would not have that choice to make.  And why, for the benefit of jobs and casinos in Riverside County and San Bernardino County.  The breadth of this clause is gross.  Where else would you have this kind of broad geographic reach?  

Well, certainly not in the Yurok Compact.  The Yurok Compact reaches 
55 miles of rural territory.  Here we have exurbs, we have suburbs, we have urban area, and yet, it’s 140-mile exclusivity clause.  There’s 140 miles from Agua Caliente to Encino; 140 miles from Agua Caliente to Westlake Village, and yet, they’re within the exclusivity clause.
To draw a parallel, if you had a car dealership you might say, “Hey, well, we really want this Chevy truck dealership to come to our town.  We really, really want to protect you.  We’ll give you exclusivity.”  Certainly, reasonable exclusivity is to make sure no one else is selling Chevy trucks.  Not in that town; maybe not in the town next to it.  This exclusivity clause says you can’t sell Toyota trucks; you cannot just not sell Chevy trucks, you can’t sell Toyota trucks and you can’t sell it in that town; you can’t sell it in the town next to it; you can’t sell it anywhere in that county.  And guess what, you can’t sell it anywhere in L.A. County.  Do you have any idea how many Chevy truck dealerships there are in L.A. County, and then add the Toyota dealerships and all the rest?  You’re talking about the largest commercial consumer market in the country, save one.

Third, how long is the 24 years?  Your sunset clause is two to five years.  Most of even the terminated officials are still here within the term of a sunset clause to see if you made a mistake in legislation or not.  This is 24 years.  Why would you go from 2 to 5 years up to 24 when you’re talking about a clause that is in the nature of a penalty?

The next point—these clauses could all be changed.  The idea that they can’t be changed is just against what you guys saw last year.  We were in this very room and I was part of discussions outside in the hallway that showed that the clause brought forward had clearly unconstitutional language in it.  Does anybody remember the original language?  It took them two hours—two hours—to get into a letter modification taking that language out.  Now, why, if you can do that in 2006 in this very same room in the hallway out there, can’t you do that in 2007?  These letter modifications are how the Legislature exercises its will.  It’s a constitutional prerogative of a coequal branch of government.  

Finally, I’d like to make a very specific plea—take Los Angeles County out of the exclusivity clause.  Alternatively, strike the words “federally approved.”  They’re aimed at the sovereignty of this tribe.  
Now, they talked about the BIA requirements for exclusivity clauses; they didn’t talk about one of the BIA requirements for exclusivity clauses; it’s in their published letters.  They’ve got published letters the same way as the attorney general in this state has published letters.  And those published letters say that if you have an exclusivity clause that penalizes another Indian tribe, where it’s Indian against Indian, the NIGC won’t approve it.  You can beat your brains out approving this compact; it will probably not get approved by NIGC because this exclusivity clause is a direct point blank shot for 24 years at the sovereignty of the Gabrielino Tribe.  What did this tribe do wrong to have that kind of point blank shot at their tribal sovereignty by the very same people who are banging the table and asking for their own?
Well, in closing, you’re going to cut in half your fixed payments.  That was one question that I did not hear asked today.  Forgive me if it was asked and I didn’t hear it.  Over 24 years, those fixed payments on the slot machines are going to be cut in half or more.  That’s using a 2 percent inflation rate.  It’s going to get cut in half again because over the next 24 years, somebody is going to want exclusivity.  You’re going to want to save the horseracing industry sometime in the next 24 years; you’re going to want to help the card clubs maintain their employees sometime in the next 24 years; and I can guarantee you that sometime in the next 24 years Los Angeles County is going to be asking “Pretty please, will the Gabrielino Tribe build that billion dollar casino to help its second highest employer in the county, which is tourism?”  That’s what big Indian casinos are—they’re tourist facilities.  And L.A. County’s second most important industry is tourism.  Why would the Legislature want to take away it’s own choice on this issue for 24 years; it’s own choice on how to interpret the California constitution?

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other opposition?  Mr. Blonien.

ROD BLONIEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members.  Rod Blonien.  First, on behalf of the Commerce Club, not in opposition—I repeat, not in opposition—but seeking clarification.  We are concerned, also, about the exclusivity clause.  And we have been told in some private meetings that the exclusivity clause would only apply to a change in banking if it required a constitutional amendment.  In reading the compact, it’s not at all clear that that is, in fact, the case, but we’ve been told that in a number of meetings.  And so, we would ask not to amend the compact, but to see if we couldn’t put clarifying language in the statutory language that ratifies the compact, if, in fact, the tribes would agree with that.  We were told that that’s the position of the Governor, but we’re not certain that that’s the position of the tribal leaders.  But we think that’s the case, because what we foresee is continuing to offer class II card games and to do it in a different form than we do it currently but which would not require a constitutional amendment.  We want to be sure that we’re not foreclosed from that type of change.  And so we respectively ask the committee to consider that, as well as the tribal leaders.
Now on behalf of Los Alamitos Race Course, not to belabor the point, but we are in the same position as Bay Meadows, as Hollywood Park, as the thoroughbred breeders, as the pari-mutuel clerks, but we are probably lower on the food chain in that we race at night; we race for smaller purses.  Our total purses each year are held about the same due to the fact that the owner of Los Alamitos personally takes money that otherwise should go to the track and puts it into purses.  We are competing with four other states that are the primary quarter horse racing states in this country.  Of those four states, three of them have purses that are subsidized with slot machine winnings.  And those states are; Oklahoma, New Mexico and Louisiana.  We have owners that every year defect and go to New Mexico or Louisiana because it costs less to run there and they can run for a greater purse. 

Last year, I was shown a program from a racetrack in Louisiana where it indicated the purse in this race was $6,000, about $1,200 produced by wagering on the race and the rest of the money produced by slot machine revenues.  And in those situations, you have a race meet that may be going for 12 weeks; with the slot machines they’re going 365 days a year, 24 hours a day, and that money piles up, and we are forced to compete with that.

And if something doesn’t happen, if we don’t get some mitigation from the tribes or from the State, Dr. Allred, who owns the track, estimates that within five years we probably will not be able to continue to race on the basis that we are currently racing. 

And I also should indicate that my remarks are also supported by the Pacific Coast Quarter Horse Racing Association, the horse men and women who are the breeders and the owners and trainers of quarter horses.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

ALAN FERNANDEZ:  Briefly, Mr. Chair.  Alan Fernandez, on behalf of Riverside County.  I want to be clear, we are not in opposition.  We would just like to say that we are confident in our abilities to negotiate with our Tribes.  I want to speak both regarding Agua Caliente and Morongo.  And we’re confident in our abilities to negotiate a fair local agreement as required in the compact.  And for those reasons we have a very good relationship with our Tribes and are supportive of their efforts.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Are there any other comments or opposition?  Let’s go ahead and close the discussion on the Agua Caliente Compact, and we will then….yes, Mr. Milanovich.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I’ve been outside listening to comments being made by different individuals and different representations of different organizations.  Again, it bothers me to know that there are individuals who sit at this table here and use innuendo, miscommunication and out and out lies as to the viability of the care and concern that we have for our team members working for us, and I’m sure, throughout the rest of Indian country at the different tribal facilities, be it governmental, or economic development _____.  

I didn’t read this earlier.  I think I should do it at this time.  I’m talking about the team members’ benefits.  We care about each of our team members.  We have a culturally diverse workforce.  Our hourly workers are paid an average of $11.45 per hour, not including tips.  With tips, this average pay runs to $16.40.  The tribe pays wages and benefits totaling $100 million with 20 percent of that going to health care benefits.  Our health care costs for our team members is going up to $18 million a year.  And this is under a PPO plan, not an HMO plan.  
We initially started with an HMO plan back in 1995 when we started the casino, the _______ Casino, we started with an HMO.  After a couple of years we realized that that HMO program, there was a sore lack of doctors and medical care individuals that could service the entire workforce.  We switched from a HMO to a PPO to ensure that all our members were covered by health care benefits.  
Granted, after a couple of years the health care costs again increased dramatically where there is a surcharge subsidy for each one that’s enrolled under the PPO.  At the present time we’re going to have a joint two-prong program—an HMO and a PPO.  For those individuals who do not wish to have any sort of a subsidy, they will have an HMO available to them.  We are willing to do that.  
We offer medical, dental and vision care, tuition reimbursement, life insurance, 11 paid holidays; two to three weeks of holiday; sick time leave; long-term disability; bereavement pay; workmen’s compensation; jury witness duty pay; military leave of absence—military service for those who are serving the National Guard—they get up to a year of a full salary from us, making up the difference between what the feds and what we pay—we’ll pay for up to a year; a 401K; and many more voluntary products.  It is a most extensive comprehensive benefits package of any large employer in the Coachella Valley and is one of the reasons why we have such a small turnover.  
The service industry normally runs more than 40 percent annual turnover.  Our overall turnover is between 18 and 24 percent.  This year we will recognize more than 85 team members with 10 years of service, and more than 525 team members with 5 years of service.  I don’t think that they think they’re being harassed by any of us.  
But then when you have allegations and innuendo, which is hard to prove but it’s so easy to say by those willing to justify their own position, their own means, I think is wrong.  
As far as the racetrack industry goes, it is not the tribal government’s economic development, i.e. the casinos, which are causing the demise of the California racing tracks.  I know there are several things within this state Legislature that they could change to make it better for the Horse Racing Board to survive, not just us.  
Exclusivity, again, that wasn’t us; that was the feds who enacted that.  That’s under IGRA.  We didn’t do it.  We lessened the impact statewide to local counties.  The individual who spoke on behalf of the non-federally recognized tribe in Los Angeles County, it has no bearing upon them; none whatsoever.  As long as they’re federally recognized they can come in and operate a casino.  That’s all.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chairman, thank you very much and thanks for your presentation today.

SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  Mr. Chairman, before Mr. Milanovich goes, I want to say something to him.  You said it has no bearing on horse racing.  You know, what’s created here is expansion and destruction.  The compacts will expand and the tracks will destruct.  I’ll give you a good example.  You mentioned New York, Florida and Louisiana; those are great racing states.  But those states couldn’t touch Del Mar, Hollywood Park, or Santa Anita.  They couldn’t touch them.  But yet, if we continue what we’re doing, racing is over in California.  And what bothers me seriously, one of the greatest race horses we had in this country, Seabiscuit, he ran at Bay Meadows.  We’ve already closed Bay Meadows.  We’ve closed it already.  And the way things are going we’ll be closing Hollywood Park.  I think it’s a bad situation.  And we should be trying to make California a greater state rather than making it a place where horse racing is going out of business.
CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Pardon me, Senator.  I agree.  I think the California race track, horse racing industry is in dire need of some assistance.  But we keep the blame piled upon us, which I don’t think is necessarily right.  I know that there are methodologies and legislation which could be introduced by the Legislature to ease some of that ________.  It could be.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, since you’re talking to me, let me give you an example.  I did a little history studying.  I remember 1620 when Pocahontas met John Smith, we started Thanksgiving; okay?  When they came in, Pocahontas gave John Smith a turkey.  He gave her the hole in a donut.  And what has happened, as you’re seeing as a tribe….and I was with tribes before they got slot machines back at the University of Iowa—you know that.  

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Yes, I do.

SENATOR VINCENT:  You know that.  What I’m saying to you, with all respect, that what we’re doing now, and if we don’t find some other ways to do it, we’re destroying horse racing in the State of California.  And we have the best three racetracks not only in the United States, but we have the best three race tracks in the world.  You’ve been to Bay Meadows?  You’ve been to Aqueduct?  You’ve been to Gulf Stream?  New York?  Florida?  They don’t compare with our tracks.  But we’re going to lose them all.  

And I remember, too, back in 1820, Indians loved horses.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  I think we still do, Sir.  But I’ve also made a public comment that we would be willing to assist the horse racing with new legislation to assist them.  I’ve said that publicly too, Sir.
SENATOR VINCENT.  Well, thank you very much.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s close the discussion on the Agua Compact.  Chairman Milanovich, I want to thank you and your group for coming.  I very much appreciate the testimony.  I think, let it be said, that yours was about a half hour given that we’ve been six hours on this and that the opposition, obviously, was two or three times the amount, so I just want to make sure that you did have an opportunity to say something at the end.  We appreciate that.  And I hope that you will stick around for other compacts at some point, as well, as we go through these over the next couple of days.  I very much appreciate your indulgence.  Thank you very much.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Thank you, members.  Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Members, if you’re listening, here’s the schedule as Mr. Pane is walking in.  We are going to recess until the time of 2:00, certain, and we’re going to come back and lift the call at 2 p.m. on the bills that are still outstanding, and then we’re going to hear the Morongo Compact at 2 p.m. sharp, in this room.  So we will be back.  We will recess.  We will lift the calls at 2:00 and then we will listen to the Morongo Compact.

(BREAK)
SENATOR FLOREZ:  _________ the informational hearing on the Morongo Tribe’s compact.  Chairman Martin, thanks for joining us.  Now, I understand you have a 37-minute video.

ROBERT MARTIN, CHAIRMAN, MORONGO TRIBE:  We better get busy. (laughter)
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, number one, I do want to thank you for being here.  I know it’s been pretty busy so far.  And I would like to, obviously, go over some of the details of the compact to better understand some of the provisions you’ve agreed to.  I’m going to follow the construct of the amended compacts that we just went through with the Agua Caliente Tribe, and we’re going to go from items I through XIII—in that order.  And I do know, that as we go through the amendment sections there will be some questions for you.  But with that, Chairman Martin, maybe you can give us some general information about the Tribe—how many members there are; how many folks live on the reservation; and the history of the reservation; and then we’ll go through the compact.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Okay.  Mr. Chairman, members, thank you for this opportunity for us to ______.  All of our members couldn’t be here today, so we have a brief video to introduce the Morongo people to you.  
Video:  “Our people have always heard the voices in our land; the music in the mountains; the poetry in the sun, the sky and the wind.  The wind, what our ancestors call the Creator’s breath, has always blown over the land during times of peace and strength and times of struggle.  We feel the dry gust of that same wind today at a time of renewed hope, optimism in the sense of our strength and sovereignty.  

Our story is not simply the echo of a distant past or the suffering of our near past, our story lives within each of us—in our beliefs and in our sacred bond with the land.  Surviving hard times are a part of our history.  Whatever we have, many tried to take from us.  But the tradition of self-reliance runs deeper than our history.  We are a people of great dignity – ____________, “always believe,” are the words of a sacred song and we believe that a full thriving expression of our sovereignty would help us overcome the oppression and losses that have overwhelmed our lives.

In 1983, the path of our people changed forever when the Tribe opened a bingo hall on its grounds.  Gaming grew beyond the scope of our modest plans.  Our bingo hall became Casino Morongo, one of the most successful gaming sites in the country.  New resources were suddenly available to solve old problems.  Welfare rolls shrank.  It was our first tentative taste of prosperity.  But prosperity is no guarantee of sovereignty.  Decades after our land was taken from us, new powerful attacks were mounted against us.”  
Mr. Chairman, members, my name is Robert Martin.  I’m a rancher and a contractor and I’m tribal chair of the Morongo Band of Mission Indians, a sovereign nation.  I am pleased to talk with you about how these compacts can help resolve the State’s chronic budget problems while at the same time providing jobs and economic growth for California.

During the course of these hearings you probably will hear a lot about tribal governments and our hopes for the future, but I’m not here to talk about Indians today.  I want to talk with you instead about some of the other people who have a big stake in what happens to these compacts.  
I’m thinking of, and appreciate, Connie Aragon.  Connie has worked for us for more than 20 years.  She, like the 3,000 plus people that Morongo employ, takes pride in her work.  She is proud to be a part of a growing business that brings prosperity to every community in our region.  She and the 50,000 other Californians employed by tribal gaming, earn wages that improve the lives of their families, stimulate the economy, and generate new tax revenues that will pay for the governmental services California needs.
Another is Mary Wilson, a vice president with Citizens Bank in San Bernardino.  Mary’s bank was there at the very beginning with Morongo.  Bank staff would help the Tribe count the modest bingo receipts at night.  Now they assist Morongo in all our business ventures.  They rely on us, just like the thousands of other companies throughout the Inland Empire that provide goods and services to our growing enterprises.  This firm is one of the thousands of businesses throughout California who benefits from tribal gaming.

Another is, Scott Kiner, who heads up the local Red Cross.  We’ve provided millions of dollars in disaster relief to Scott’s organization.  Our tribal members have served food and provided shelter for fire victims and furnished a command center for firefighters.  The Red Cross is only one of hundreds of charity and community groups that we support.  

There are millions of other people that I will never know personally who will benefit when these compacts are ratified.  I’m thinking of children whose families can’t afford basic health care; senior citizens who are seeing their social services cut back; schools that need books and equipment.  These are all people who need the $500 million in new revenues that these compacts will provide to the State every year.  These compacts provide the means for meeting those needs at a time when the State is desperately short of funds.  
My point is, these hearings are not just about the tribes, they’re about our two peoples and how our futures are linked together.  But, as with any issue that comes before the Legislature, politics is always part of the equation and the amended compacts are no different.  
There are those who seem to want to stop or slow the ratification process to pursue a narrow self-interested political agenda.  They claim that these amended compacts will allow the largest increase in gaming in the State’s history.  That’s not true.  The seven compacts approved by the Legislature in 2004 authorized unlimited expansion of gaming for those tribes.  Our proposed compacts cap our ability to expand and in almost all other respects they are the same—compacts you passed three years ago by a two-thirds vote in both Senate and Assembly.

They claim that these compacts will take away workers’ rights.  That’s not true.  We value our workers.  We pay them well.  We provide 100 percent health care coverage for them and their dependents.  We match contributions to the 401(K) plans so that they can save for their future.  Time after time in employee satisfaction surveys, our employees give us high ratings.  
Contrary to what you might have heard, unions are free to organize our employees under the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance.  This ordinance was developed and agreed to by organized labor—Senator Burton, Speaker Villaraigosa, and Governor Davis, in 1999.  
The state is facing declining revenues, critical program face cuts, we need to put politics aside and decide the issue on its merits.  We began this latest renegotiation process about a year ago.  After months of tough negotiations with the Governor’s Office, five tribes reached separate compact agreements that are good for California and good for the tribes.  

Morongo’s compact would, by itself, provide hundreds of millions of dollars in new revenue.  New funding for critical state programs is what the people say they want.  The compact would enable Morongo to continue providing more good jobs and economic growth to the region by allowing us to move forward.  If these compacts had been enacted last August, hundreds of millions of dollars would already be coming into the State’s General Fund.  Every day that passes without these compacts taking effect, costs the State another million dollars for this year’s budget.  Continued delay hurts everyone.  I don’t mean just tribal governments, tribal members or tribal employees, I mean everyone in California who benefits from a strong economy and well funded state and local government services.  A million dollars a day—that’s too high a price to pay for any of the people I have been talking about.  

In 1998 and again in 2000, the people of California stood in solidarity with us twice and passed Proposition 5 and 1A.  Our gaming facilities made possible by the voters support, have brought us the revenue needed to revitalize our governments, provide services to our reservation communities and economic prosperity, not only for our own people, but for our neighboring communities.  
Today, we are here to stand in solidarity with the people of California as the State struggles with some of the most difficult fiscal problems it has ever faced.  I urge you to ratify these compacts without further delay so that California can receive the new revenue that these compacts will bring—that way we can all move forward together.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you, Chairman Martin.  I appreciate that.  Let me, first of all, ask you the question in terms of the amended compacts.  They’re set to expire, this compact, in 3030?  Excuse me, 2030.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s correct.  Mr. Chairman, I would like to introduce some of the experts that we have to help with some of the questions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  We have former state speaker and special counsel to Morongo, the Honorable Willie Brown; special legal counsel on gaming, George Forman; the chairman of our gaming commission, Jerry Schultzie; Morongo’s tribal auditor, Rodger Myer; our human resources director, Mary Dresden; and Josh Pane is the political consultant for the Tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Let me start by asking a few questions, if I could, on the terms of the amended compact which are set to expire on December 31, 2030; is that correct?  

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  As I understand it, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The 1999 compacts were to run out when?

GEORGE FORMAN:  The current compact nominally expires on 
December 31, 2020.  There is a provision for an 18-month extension if a new or amended compact has not been negotiated by then, if the Tribe requests an extension.  So, it would get nominally until June 30, 2022.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, there’s an 18-month extension if we don’t enter into these types of proceedings for an additional extension of the current compact before us?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that sufficient?  You heard me, maybe, make a slip of 3030; would that have been preferable?  Who negotiated the cap on the length?  Is this just something…

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That was part of the negotiations.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I asked that, I mean, you see future capacity, in essence, limited to those years—2030?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, Mr. Chairman, obviously the Tribe would like to grow its business.  During these negotiations, which were very hard on both sides, the Governor’s staff stood very firm on what they wanted on these new compacts—the amended compacts, and the Tribe had its points in the compact that it wanted.  It took a long time to get where we are.  And as I’m sure you are aware, that in negotiations there’s always a give and take.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely. 

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  And that’s how we got to those points.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go through some of those negotiated points and let’s start with Amendment I, as we did with the other compacts.

The ’99 compacts allowed for two casinos to be built; correct?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the Tribe has only one casino currently in operation?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  We have one casino in operation.  We have another that used to be the old casino, that we’re going to be opening a new bowling center, and we do have some class II machines in there.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And under the amended compacts, you’re allowed to operate an auxiliary or these two plus and auxiliary?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Two plus the auxiliary.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what does auxiliary gaming facility mean? 

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  We have it in our tribal center and we operate, correct me if I’m wrong, George, 25 machines?

MR. FORMAN:  Twenty-five class II.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Twenty-five class II machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Twenty-five class II games.  And so that’s currently in existence, the auxiliary?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And any size restrictions in terms of that particular facility?  Have you expanded any size or is there something you plan to use beyond? 
MR. FORMAN:  Well, first of all, it cannot be solely for gaming.  No more than 50 percent of the square footage in the structure is to be used for gaming devices, and no more than 25 gaming devices can be operated in the auxiliary facility.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And it has to be within a certain mile?
MR. FORMAN:  Within five miles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Within five miles of the casino?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And why is that beneficial to the Tribe, that particular structure?  Why is this auxiliary even beneficial given it’s 25 slots only?  Is this just something that….

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  It was a business decision that the council made.  The tribal center, we put it there as standalone business and it serves the people that come and play.  They come there and fill fuel and they buy whatever they do at the store.  But, the 25 machines have helped us make a profit in that facility.  It doesn’t make a lot of money but it serves a purpose for profit.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the second casino; is that planned or is that out beyond in the future?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  An additional casino to what we have today?  There are no plans for…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No plans for a second?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Council has had some discussion, but there are no plans.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if there is, sometime in the future, for that particular casino, are you going to seek local support for that?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Oh, yeah, absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:   We have a good relationship with Riverside County and the City of Banning and __________.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And under the amended compact you’re allowed to expand your current facility to any size?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, what we have right now, we could expand to 5,000 machines as…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’ve expanded once before.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, we did.  We had 3,800 machines in the casino that we have now.  That was planned during construction to go, really, up to 4,000.  And the old casino, we could put another 1,000 machines in that.  There’s still floor space over there that’s not being used.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So maximum is what, 7,500?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  The maximum is 7,500 but we could go to 5,000 as soon as we get the machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what’s the ramp up time for those machines?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That depends on the manufacturer.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So they’re not in storage at this time or somewhere where you can order and get them online?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, we can’t order them at this point.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you want to have the compact passed before that; right?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And just so we can understand the expansion capacities, you can expand up to 7,500 under the compact, and does the facility allow for that, or are you going to expand the building in order to do that given you have an auxiliary?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, we would have to expand the building to take the other 2,500 machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  That would take care of Section 1 in terms of facilities.  Let’s go onto Section 2 of your compact, which has to do with revenue contributions to the State.  Obviously, as I’ve mentioned, under the amended compact you’re given up to 7,500 slot machines, and I’ve mentioned earlier that was, or you mentioned I think, that was 2,000 original and you can put an additional 5,500?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  No, 2000 original.  We have the floor space for 3,000 additional.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Three thousand additional.  And currently you’re operating how many class III slots?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Two thousand.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Two thousand.  And that’s allowed.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Jerry is the gaming commissioner; is that correct, Jerry?

JERRY SCHULTZIE:  Two thousand.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Two thousand.  And that’s allowed under the 
’99 compact?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What is your perspective on the cap on machines laid out in the amended compact?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Again, that was part of negotiations.  The Administration felt they needed to have a cap.  We’ve maintained that the market should…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How does the Administration sitting here in Sacramento know that you need 7,500?  I mean, don’t you know that?  We’re entering into a relationship here where we want you to be successful, obviously, if these are passed (and I’ll ask the Administration this), but I’m just kind of wondering why we would cap….I mean, who came up with the magic number—7,500?  Was it that the facility could only bear that much?  You didn’t plan to do another casino?  

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  No, that would have come from the Administration.  They felt, with conversations apparently with us that that was the number we could do.  I think what’s important to talk about if we’re talking about income; the Tribe right now pays about $30 million a year into the Special Distribution Fund.  With the amended compact we will be paying $37 million directly to the General Fund.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re going to get to that in one second.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Okay.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just trying to get an idea of the cap on machines and how it was negotiated in your compact.  The number, then, that was offered by the Administration, could have been 8,500 or it could have been 10,000?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I don’t think they would have went 10,000.  On our part it may have been.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Alright.  And from the cap, I guess the way we look at it, is it’s also a cap on our revenue expectations, obviously, right, in the State of California, is the reason I’m asking you for that?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The higher number of machines in operation, obviously, means more for the State’s General Fund; correct?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And do you have any sense of when you will, in essence, expand the 5,500 additional slots; what that timeframe looks like?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  It’s 5,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Five thousand?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.  Well, if the…

MR. FORMAN:  It is 5,500 total.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Oh, I’m sorry.  I was thinking….yes, George is right.  No, I don’t.  As I said earlier, we have space for 5,000 machines now.  We could do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s the ramp up plan for that?  We’re wondering when money is coming in?  We want to know, ultimately, what your plans are so we can expect those dollars.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I think Jerry, would you have any idea on the issue?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  Well, usually you have to get on the cue, the machine manufacturers; and you don’t just buy machines from one manufacturer.  I would say anywhere from about six to nine months to get all the machines in.  Some though, we’re a good customer, they’d probably do it quicker for us.  They have to build them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so the timeframe was again?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  I’d say six to nine months.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Six to nine months?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  Right.  They’re not cheap.  They’re about $20-grand a piece now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And so that six to nine month period means you will be at 5,500 slots, additional?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  No. We go back to the 5,000.  We have floor space for a total of 5,000 machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  When do you get the 5,000?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  As soon as we can get the machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and that’s nine months?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  Six to nine months.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Six to nine months, okay.  

MR. SCHULTZIE:  It’s probably in stages; it would be a little sooner than that in some of the companies.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry, and you need to state your name for the record.

MR. SCHULTZIE:  Oh, I’m sorry.  Jerome Schultzie, and I’m the commissioner for the Morongo Gaming Agency. 

MR. FORMAN:  And Mr. Chairman, I would add that…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Forman, once you have to, at least, identify yourself.

MR. FORMAN:  Oh, I’m sorry.  George Forman, special counsel to Morongo.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MR. FORMAN:  The sooner the Legislature ratifies the compacts, the sooner we can proceed to do the activities necessary to ramp up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Alright.  So that probably wouldn’t be until they hit the Assembly, at least, huh?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  It could be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that might even be something else.  Let’s go to the payments to the State.  And I do have questions for the Administration, but let me get your side of your payments to the State from your perspective.  Obviously, we have an annual payment here of $36.7 million to the State of California, and any thought about the logic behind that particular amount?  I mean, did we just pull that out of a hat?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  No.  During the negotiations the State felt that it needed a sum certain that they could work with for their budgeting purposes, and that came about based on percentages.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you mentioned earlier about the 
’99 compacts; how much were you paying into the Special Distribution Fund?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Last year it was approximately $30,000.

UNIDENTIFIED:  Thirty million.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I mean, $30 million, I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thirty million dollars.  And you’ll be paying, if you will, into the General Fund, $36.7?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, is that substantial?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I think it’s substantial, yes, based on what we’re paying right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the formula for…

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Mr. Chairman, I think it’s important to say that that’s without any more machines; that’s what we’ll pay if this compact is ratified without additional machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The payout, I’ve been doing this quite a bit through the compacts, but, obviously, the payout per slot machine is about $18,300 for those 2,000 you just mentioned; does that sound about right?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It does.  Okay.  And so over the life of the compact, which is what we’re trying to hone in on overall, my calculations say your compact is worth about $844 million, close to a billion dollars, assuming payments begin in ’07; is that a correct assumption?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s fairly accurate; isn’t it?  This is Roger Myer, he’s our auditor.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Eight hundred forty-four million?  Okay.  And so these are guaranteed dollars?  This is not anything above.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  This is guaranteed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we’re looking at it—with 2,000 slots, $884 million; correct?  For the next 3,000 machines we get 25 percent of the net win
UNIDENTIFIED:  Fifteen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fifteen percent, excuse me.
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Fifteen percent, that’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  George is shaking his head real fast.  Got it, George—too high.  The 25 percent, I assume, is to the next level, which is the $2,500 above that particular 3,000 level; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we have 3,000 at 15 percent; the additional 2,500 is 25 percent.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Twenty-five.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you see us getting to both of those levels rather quickly?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Morongo is fortunate that it has the market.  But again, we would have to build floor space to accommodate the additional machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mentioned the operation of the class II games; are those going to be phased out?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, yes.  If we had the class III I’m not sure we would need the class II.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And let’s talk a little bit about the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund as we have in some of the past compacts.  Under the amended compacts, at least these compacts, you’re agreeing to a flat $2 million fee into that particular account?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this is not based in terms of any number of slots, or is this just another, out of the hat, $2 million flat?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.  You’re going to go through this and you’re going to see on several times that through these negotiations, responsibility was switched from either the State onto the Tribe, where the Tribe had to pick up some of these costs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  We were paying into the RSTF $20,700, and that was based on how many machines were in place at Morongo when the compacts were ratified.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund in the current situation, in your current compact, you’re paying how much—$24,000?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Twenty-thousand seven hundred.

MR. FORMAN:  Twenty-thousand seven hundred based on $900 a year for 23 licenses.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now how did you get to pay such a small amount into that account?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Those machines, 1,627 were in play before the approved compact—1999 approved compact.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that was the deal that was negotiated then, and now we’re talking $2 million?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Correct.  Two million.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. FORMAN:  Mr. Chairman, that $2 million is the same that each of the 2004 amended compacts provided for a flat rate.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  So that’s about 80 times that you’re currently paying now; right?  That’s a pretty big improvement, at least from my vantage point.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And why wouldn’t you pay more then?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  What’s that?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why wouldn’t you pay more?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That was part of negotiations.  But more than that, it goes into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, which assists those tribes that don’t game.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The amended compacts have a provision that provides for a backfill mechanism if there’s deficit in the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, which essentially means less money going into the General Fund.  We have a bill that we’re running through to kind of make sure that that happens.  And I guess it’s the reason I ask about the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  Obviously, it’s a huge advantage to go that….$2 million from what you’re paying now is absolutely workable.

The language to our financial folks, the chief financial officer doing the audits, the State Gaming Control Commission auditing this information, that’s language obviously appreciated by the State.  Do you support that?  Do you feel strongly about it?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And we do have the opportunity, as a state, to audit your payment to the State; correct?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, you do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 3, the authorization of exclusivity.  We’ve talked a lot about exclusivity in prior conversations, but at least from your vantage point, what are those core geographic regions in this particular compact?  Were they Riverside…

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, they’re the four counties; Riverside, San Bernardino, Orange, and Los Angeles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And who determined that core geographic region?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Again, during the negotiations, I think, partly our studies that showed what our core geographic area is.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And just so that we’re clear on this compact as well, if there is a….if somehow that exclusivity is breached then it’s a cancellation, if you will, of the compact’s payment to the State?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you continue to pay in if you want to operate above 2,000 slots.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I’d like George to talk about that.

MR. FORMAN:  Yes, there are a couple of different results if exclusivity is breached.  One, the flat rate payment on existing machines does stop.  The tribe still has to, if it wishes to continue doing machine gaming, pay for the State….reimburse the State’s reasonable rate at actual regulatory costs; make sure that local governments are compensated.  But there’s no bond issue here, so we do not, like the 2004 compacts, have the ability to go into court and enjoin the other kinds of gaming that breach exclusivity.  And then there is a separate exclusivity provision with respect to banked and percentage card games, and that is a 100-mile radius for facilities having 25 or more tables of any kind.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me get to that in a second.  But so I’m clear: no obligation to the State.  If you’re operating over 2,000, you’re still going to be obligated to give the State some percentage _____.5 percent?
MR. FORMAN:  The greater of actual state regulatory costs or 12.5 percent of net win.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund payment to that is null?

MR. FORMAN:  That, I believe, continues.  That continues.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you still obligated to pay into that?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what was the remedy for breach of exclusivity in the past compact, the ’99 compact, as compared to what you’ve just offered?

MR. FORMAN:  Every tribe with a ’99 compact would have the right in the event statewide exclusivity for machines was breached to choose between terminating the compact and stopping class III gaming, or, renegotiating the fees paid by that tribe under Section 5.1 of the compact, which is the Special Distribution Fund.  Now, if a tribe didn’t pay into the Special Distribution Fund because it didn’t operate more than 200 machines on September 1, ’99, then there would be nothing to renegotiate.  But, that renegotiation would still have to cover reimbursement of state regulatory costs, compensation to local governments to offset impacts, and payments for gambling addiction, and such other necessities.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The Intergovernmental Agreements still are in place no matter what; is that correct?  If there’s a breach you still have the local mitigation payments to the amended compact?

MR. FORMAN:  To the amended compact, yes, that would not be affected by a breach of exclusivity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a question in terms of two examples:  If a card club was legally allowed to offer house banked to percentage of games in Los Angeles County in the core geographic area, for example, as long as it was 100 miles, like you’ve mentioned George, that is not a breach of exclusivity; is that correct?

MR. FORMAN:  That would be correct.  If it was more than that 100 mile-radius or if it were a club that had fewer than 25 tables, it would not be a breach of exclusivity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And a card club would then be allowed, legally, to offer, for example, house banked or percentage games in Riverside County; that also would not breach as long as it’s 100 miles away from…

MR. FORMAN:  You get 100 miles and still be in Riverside County?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I think you can.

MR. FORMAN:  We would probably argue that it is a breach because it’s within the county defined radius, but that might have to be a dispute that would have to be resolved.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can you let us know on that?  I’m just kind of interested on things that are transpiring and how that affects the State; the public policy rationale for the State agreeing to this type of exclusivity, if you can give it to us for the record from your vantage point.

MR. FORMAN:  The need for exclusivity….first of all, the compact does not give the Tribe exclusivity—Article IV of the State Constitution as passed by the voters in 2000, gave the tribes exclusivity.  The compact actually, with respect to machines, narrows the scope of exclusivity.  The compact, unlike the ’99 compact, gives the tribes exclusivity on cards within its core geographic area.  The reason for the exclusivity is without that, the State has no chance of Interior approving a compact that calls for the Tribe to make the kind of massive payments to the State that Morongo has agreed to make.  The state has to give the Tribe something of unique value for which it is not obligated to negotiate in good faith, and exclusivity is that commodity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Let’s go to Sections 4 and 5 of the compact.  Just a few questions on that, obviously, these have to deal with the testing of gaming devices.  And I guess my question would be; are these gaming device standards higher than they were in your current compact—the ’99 compacts?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  By the federal _____, which we adopted, we have to do a minimum of 10 percent a year, but we were under the….if the State Gaming Commission came in and wanted to check machines, they had the right.  Maybe they do get more under this one, because they can come in at least four times a year and do five percent of the floor during normal business hours and if they find any fraud then they can do unlimited.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think the difference in the compacts is the randomness of the State Gaming Commission coming in?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  Yes, it’s more frequency.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  More frequency.

MR. SCHULTZIE:  But the Tribal Gaming Agency does about 100 percent a year anyway.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the building codes and building standards, everything seemed to be pretty self-explanatory from the other compacts.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, we adopted….either California or Riverside County.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 6, which is patron disputes.  Just your thoughts on how you would view those particular aspects of the compact—fine, binding arbitration.  Patron disputes in the past been a problem?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, I think I can comment on the patrons by giving you an example.  Some time last year we had a promotional game that we had going, “The Big Pull,” on one of the machines, and it was a million dollar giveaway.  The machine was malfunctioning and had been malfunctioning.  And when a patron came in and pulled, it showed a winner, but it could be proven it was a malfunction.  The Tribal Council, in its wisdom, looked at that and thought that the public perception would be terrible if we said there was some kind of a little glitch in this and you don’t get your prize.  So we honored that game.  We understand and we appreciate the patrons; that’s where this whole thing is supported by.  We’re not going to do anything that would compromise that. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. FORMAN:  Mr. Chairman, if I might add one thing with respect to that?  As compared to the ’99 compact on patron disputes which did not require any source of enforceable remedy, it provided for patron disputes basically being resolved in accordance with industry practice.  The amended compact adds to whatever process the Tribe puts in place—the right of the patron to have do-over, de novo arbitration.  It would be the JAMS arbitration, the end product of which is a judgment that is enforceable in Superior Court.  So it is a substantive change and tightening of that requirement versus the ’99 requirement.  The same is true for the tort personal injury claims.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You just answered one of my last questions on the tort reform.  Let’s go to Section 7 of your compact that have to deal with public and workplace health and liability issues.  I did notice a provision here that requires the Tribe to adopt standards no less stringent than the standards of the Fair Labor Standards Act and regulations implementing that Act.  And I guess for all practical purposes, what does that mean?  For the life of me, I’ve read that and I’m just trying to figure out, is the Tribe, then, to act differently, or is this just something that tribe’s always done and this is standard language?

MR. FORMAN:  The Department of Labor, U.S. Department of Labor, takes the position that the Fair Labor Standards Act applies to tribal employers.  Previous compacts did not have this language in this.  This compact does, to create not only a legal obligation to the federal government, but also a compact obligation to the State so that if the Tribe’s violation or failure to adopt as its own the federal standards would be a violation of the compact, and that’s true throughout—where failure to adhere to certain standards become compact violations which have a very drastic consequence for the Tribe apart from any administrative penalties that might come up under these various statutory schemes.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I also noticed that, as in the other compacts, your liability insurance doubled from five to ten.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Ten million dollars.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  To $10 million.  And there’s also provision that makes a distinction that this insurance does not cover injuries on lands that are closed to the general public, and I wonder what that means in a practical basis?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, practically what that, as my understanding of it is, Morongo is a reservation that consists of very close to 40,000 acres and the Tribe has designated the property which we commonly call “Section 8”; it’s a section of land for commercial development—where the casino sits.  And we felt that a patron that maybe gets lost and wanders off into the back country and hurts his leg or something shouldn’t be covered under that.  And so we want to maintain it to the area around the casino and commercial buildings.
MR. FORMAN:  And Mr. Chairman, to add to that, the residential part of the reservation is gate controlled.  It’s not something that’s accessible to the public.  In fact, there are only a couple of points of public access to Section 8, so this is the area where people will be coming.  And people in the residential area are not within the ambit.  And the State was respectful enough of Morongo’s situation to recognize that this is not a casino sitting in the middle of town someplace; this is a casino that is geographically isolated, physically isolated from surrounding communities and from the residential and other areas of the reservation and this compact respects that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a very fine nuance you guys negotiated in that, so I just wondered what that was.  The tribe, in the compact, doesn’t waive its sovereign immunity on the issues of punitive damages, as well; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You mentioned tort liability ordinance, and that, of course, is standard as with the other compacts?

MR. FORMAN:  It is a great departure from the 1999 compact.  It is virtually identical to the 2004 compact requirement of adoption of California tort law.  And if there be a tribal process, that there be due process in that tribal process.  And again, if the injured person is dissatisfied with the result, the individual has the right to go to de novo binding arbitration.  Another material change from the 1999 compact is that like the 2004 compacts, the Tribe’s tort coverage extends not only to patrons, but also to vendors and employees of vendors, so it is again, a substantive expansion of liability.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the difference in the 2004 compacts, on the administrative remedies, so you first have to go through the tribal administrative remedy before you hit binding arbitration?

MR. FORMAN:  If the Tribe chooses to have that, and Morongo does, and it’s been very effective.  And, frankly, during negotiations we didn’t see the need to change, but the Governor did, and that was part of the deal.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Workers’ compensation exactly, participating in the State’s program?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  No.  We’re self-funded.  We use the same system that the majority of the other gaming tribes use.  It’s been successful.  It works well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the Section 9 aspects, and this is the last portion of the questions I have.  The mitigation for off-reservation impacts, the environmental report, that’s part and parcel of what you’re going to prepare; have prepared; and how do you, in essence, come up with an agreement with local, city and county officials on the expansion?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, we would negotiate that directly with the county.

MR. FORMAN:  First, to go back one moment to workers’ comp—these compacts have a much more detailed and specific requirement of the Tribe should it choose self-insurance for workers’ comp than did the 2004 amendments.  This compact requires the Tribe, essentially, if it self-insures, to mirror all of the aspects of the recent State Workers’ Comp legislation including, third-party neutral review, IME, QME, $10,000 of benefits pending coverage determinations; the works.  And an injured worker who is dissatisfied either with an eligibility determination or a treatment determination has appellate rights.  They have that under the existing system.  Last year you heard from an individual who claimed not to have been well treated.  You should know that that individual never exercised his right to appeal under the existing system.  And all of the tribes with 2004 amended compacts that have casinos use exactly the same workers’ comp system that Morongo does.

With respect to the environmental impact, the Tribe, as with the 2004 compacts, is required, before it can commence any project related to class III gaming, to offer to negotiate an Intergovernmental Agreement with the impacted local jurisdiction, which in this case is Riverside County.  The tribe has an excellent relationship with Riverside County and we have already started preliminary discussions with the county and anticipate no difficulties in concluding an agreement.  So the only difference between the environmental provisions in this compact and the 2004 is, that we have a little more detailed listing of the factors to be considered in addition to the CEQA checklist.  We have straight arbitration as opposed to baseball arbitration and we can go to a JAMS Appellate Panel, either side can go to a JAMS Appellate Panel if they’re dissatisfied with the arbitrator’s result.  Other than that, it’s the same deal.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Denham would like to take me off my line of questioning.  Senator Denham, do you have a question?  

SENATOR DENHAM:  As long as you’re…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  If you have a very important relevant question, absolutely.

SENATOR DENHAM:  I’ve got a very important relevant question, but I thought you were done.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Go head.  I just have three more questions.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I believe you’ve done a very adequate job on covering the majority of each of these different compacts.  But one question I still have, I brought it up during the Yurok hearing, as well as the Agua Caliente hearing, and my question still isn’t answered yet, so I’m still very confused on a labor piece of things.  I understand that HERE is not opposing the Yurok Compact, but they are opposing the Agua Caliente Compact.  And I asked the question last time.  I’ll ask it again, but I want to phrase it differently this time to see if I can get a better answer.  Under the TLRO which was negotiated by, I believe, Burton and Villaraigosa at the time, with labor involved, with Mr. Polasky and Gribbon and a host of other individuals that were involved in that, in that provision, under the TLRO, it discusses specifically that you’ve got to apply for a license.  Has there been any labor organizations that have applied for a license?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes, CWA started through the process and didn’t complete it.  

MR. SCHULTZIE:  They were issued a license.  And our licensing process is the same as if for Coca-Cola or anybody else.  It’s seven pages and we don’t charge anything for it, and it takes about three weeks.  CWA went through the process but because of some problem with ______ and the AFLICO and them, they chose not to come in and organize.  

SENATOR DENHAM:  But they choose.  They applied for a license; they can come onto the property; they can have discussions with your employees?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  They were licensed in May of 2004.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Now, has HERE applied?

MR. SCHULTZIE:  They asked in May of 2005 for us to send them the paperwork, which we did.  About four weeks later we got a call from someone who said their attorney representing them from New York, had a few questions and we never heard from them.  About December of this last year, someone called and asked if the paperwork was still the same and I said it was.  I haven’t heard from him since.  So they have not gone through the process.
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  You may hear that there’s stumbling blocks that are put out there.  I’ve heard this earlier.  We don’t do that.  I think a good way for me…

SENATOR DENHAM:  I keep hearing about all of these different stumbling blocks but yet nobody has been able to define what these stumbling blocks are.  If Mr. Polasky was the one who negotiated these TLROs with Burton, with Villaraigosa, I would think that there would be sufficient bargaining information in here so that….I mean, like CWA, who has organized at other tribes, at other casinos, and has applied here, has the license to be able to come on board….I guess I’m still very unsure, as I was in the last hearing, what the stumbling blocks are that HRE would not file their license to come on if they actually want to organize there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, and let’s hear from HERE.  I’m sure they’re going to have some comments.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I want to bring that question back up, but I would like to hear from the Tribe on what their….I should have asked 
Mr. Milanovich the same thing, and I, unfortunately, was at a different hearing at the time, so I apologize.  I hope to get an answer here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, let’s focus in on this compact at this point.  Do you want to answer that, Mr. Martin?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Well, there are no stumbling blocks.  And I think a case in point, it would be another story that I would like to tell you about:  It’s a good friend of mine works at the hotel that we have.  We’ve known each other since grade school.  I was the best man at two of his weddings.  (laughter)  But not the third wedding.  (laughter)  But he called me one evening and asked me if we could have breakfast and I said sure.  His name is Jim.  And I went down to the casino.  He works the graveyard.  And when he got off, we went and had breakfast.  He said, “You know, I’m being followed home.”  And I said, “You have; by who?”  And he said, “Well, they represented as HERE.”  And I said, “What are you doing?”  And he said, “Well, they’re telling me that they can get me more money an hour, better benefits, representation,” (a buck more an hour is what he told me).  And he said, “What should I do?”  I said, “Look, Jim, we can’t take the position that we can tell you yes or no.  We’re not going to do that.  If you feel that a union can represent you better, get you better wages, get you better working conditions, then by all means.  You have that right under the TLRO with us.”  And he thought about that for some time and you now what he said?  He said, “You guys treat us well.  I’m paid fairly.”  He said, “I’d always like another dollar an hour, but I get paid fair.”  And he said, “No.”  And I told him again, “That’s your decision.”  And I don’t….he was concerned about his job, bottom line, because that’s what he asked me at the very end.  He said, “Do you think I’d lose my job?”  I said, “No, absolutely not.  You’re not going to lose your job with us.”  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does he still work there?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Yes.  Absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Denham.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  That was over a year ago.

MR. FORMAN:  Senator Denham, just to give some further clarification:  UNITE HERE actually filed a lawsuit against the Communications Workers of America to stop them from attempting to organize.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Who filed a lawsuit?

MR. FORMAN:  The UNITE HERE.  Mr. Gribbon’s union.  To stop CWA from attempting to organize at tribal casinos and the Tribe mentioned in their complaint, in their lawsuit, in the District of Columbia, was some alleged campaign at Morongo.  But Morongo actually invited HERE to come and exercise its rights under the TLRO and HERE’s general counsel wrote back and said, “We’re not interested in doing so at this time.  When we are, we’ll let you know.”  And so, that has been the state of exercise of rights under the TLRO for the last seven years.

SENATOR DENHAM:  If the leaders in HERE helped negotiate the TLRO and now they’re saying the TLRO is a failure, what has changed in the TLRO to give them that opinion that it is now a failure?
MR. FORMAN:  Not one word of the TLRO has changed in seven years.  
SENATOR DENHAM:  Has the interpretation changed?  Has there been a new law that’s been added to affect the TLRO?

MR. FORMAN:  Well, it’s interesting you should ask that, Senator.  The D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, the same court that decided the CRIT case, recently ruled that, in fact, the National Labor Relations Board does have jurisdiction over tribal casinos.  That arose out of an unfair labor practice charge that HERE filed with the board against San Manuel.  And so HERE has now the ability under that decision, which is not yet final, to exercise rights under the National Labor Relations Act.  If that case stands, effectively the TLRO would be preempted.  
SENATOR DENHAM:  I still don’t feel like I’m getting an answer to my question.  And I don’t think it’s any fault of your own, but, to me, it just doesn’t all add up.  If the leaders in HERE were involved in, intimately involved in, writing the TLRO, and the TLRO has not changed (yet they’re calling it a failure, and they have yet to file for a license to organize at your casino), I guess I’m having a hard time…..I mean, I understand the sovereignty side of the issue and I don’t believe that we should be dictating any type of policy that would take away that sovereignty, but from the union’s perspective I’m trying to understand the TLRO that they negotiated and they’re not even filing for a license to come and try to attempt to organize….I would have a clearer picture if they’d already come onto your reservation; filed a license; attempted to organize; and could not organize.  For some reason something happened to show that the TLRO is a failure, but I have yet to hear that from any of you that…

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Senator, we have not tried to stop that process at all.  I think that would be an appropriate question for the union.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It is, and I think it’s an appropriate question for the proper parties as we move through it.  But I think Senator Denham…

SENATOR DENHAM:  I asked the proper parties in the last hearing, but I’ll ask it again because I’ve yet to get a good answer on this one.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, maybe the sergeant knows.  Sergeant, do you know the answer to the question? (laughter)

SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, Mr. Gribbon is back in here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, no.  Mr. Gribbon is going to come up in a second.  Let me ask two questions so we can end this.  And as Chairman Milanovich started the precedent, we ask you to come back after hearing opposition to give us your final remarks.  So let me just ask a couple of questions on the labor provision issues.  Senator Denham has done a very good job in terms of, kind of, getting those issues out.
But there was a recent Appeals Court decision that found that tribal enterprises fall under the jurisdiction of the National Labor Relations Board, and I want to know if you believe it has any material effect at all on how you operate or will work with organized labor.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  George, do you want to handle that?

MR. FORMAN:  That is the NLRB versus San Manuel case out of the D.C. Circuit and if, in fact, the National Labor Relations Act applies to the extent that there are inconsistencies between the NLRA and the TLRO, and there are, the NLRA, the National Labor Relations Act, would govern and the National Labor Relations Board would have jurisdiction.  That would define the rights of the Tribe as an employer and the employees, because the NLRA does not confer rights on unions; it confers rights on workers.  And so, we would, just as the Tribe has followed its own law, the TLRO, for the last seven years, if the Tribe is determined to be subject to federal law, the Tribe will follow federal law.  This tribe is a tribe that follows the law and keeps its word.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m sure we’re going to have comments from organized labor and I want to get your perspective on that.  The last question I have, Mr. Chairman, as you know, the committee is extremely interested in the issue of problem gambling as we’re about to expand.  And we do know that the Governor’s Office agreed to a very incoherent policy in office here, in the State of California; what do you think we ought to do with problem gambling as we began these expansions?  What’s your perspective on the ground?
CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  We understand, again, by definition, it’s a problem.  We do basically what the others do.  We honor when a gambler comes in and says they have a problem and they want to be banned.  We do that.  If they come back, security removes them.  The local agreement will be….when we negotiate with the local….Riverside County, that’s going to be part of the negotiations.  And to date, we haven’t really thought that through completely.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can we get a commitment to work with you on this coherent policy as we move a bill through the Legislature this year on problem gambling?  I think it would be very important that you participate in that, as Chairman Milanovich has committed to, as well.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I think so.  George, did you want to add to that?

MR. FORMAN:  Well, the Tribe is committed in working not only with the Legislature, but also with organizations that are involved in this issue that provide training for casino employees to recognize the problem.  The tribe is moving forward to enter into that sort of agreement.  So we’re with you all the way on that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.

JOSH PANE:  Mr. Chairman, just one….Josh Pane, on behalf of Morongo.  The tribe, through the Special Distribution Fund, has helped fund your gambling addiction…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  My gambling addiction?

MR. PANE:  The state’s gambling addiction.  And that office that helps head up…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, it’s doing a horrible job.  But I think we want to work….Mr. Pane, you were at the last hearing.  


MR. PANE:  Yes, I did.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You saw the inadequate job the Administration has put forth.


MR. PANE:  As you saw in your hearing, and I think you’re hearing got at the point, the tribal governments are the, well, only governmental entities, not the Lottery, and the state government, nor the card rooms, nor the Horse Racing Board is doing anything, and so, we appreciated your hearing bringing that fact up.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You got it.  Gentlemen, Mr. Brown, thank you very much and we’ll see you in a couple of, hopefully, minutes, but we’ll see how that goes.

Could we have the Administration, please.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Mr. Chair, I’m going to have to excuse myself.  I’m assuming that labor will be here tomorrow for all three other compacts.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you want to stick around for one second and get around to that question.  Let’s do that real quick.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Administration, hold off for a moment and hold your spreadsheets.  And, let’s get organized labor, if we could, here, Jack and Barry.  Two questions:  Senator Denham’s question, and, of course, the question about the National Labor Relations Board. and then you can give some testimony as well.  

First of all, any other supporters?  Mr. Wyman, very quickly.  And then we’ll get to opposition.  Mr. Delgado.  And then we’ll go ahead and go from there.


MR. WYMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members.  I’m speaking on behalf of the Chemehuevi Indian Tribe.  Phil Wyman, representing the Chemehuevi Indian Tribe, on behalf of our chairman, Charles Wood.  We support this Morongo Compact because it provides for tribal gambling on this tribe’s recognized ancestral land.  That’s very important.  That was the instruction in 1A and Prop. 5, and the compacts today, have all been consistent with that instruction.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Wyman.  Mr. Gribbon.


MR. GRIBBON:  Mr. Chair and committee members.  Again, my name is Jack Gribbon.  I represent UNITE HERE, the hotel and casino workers union in California.

A number of questions came up.  I may not have them in order here.  One had to do with the issue of the Yurok Compact, which, again, we are supporting and we believe that compact should have been ratified when it first came up.  
And speaking specifically to Senator Denham’s question, there was a question regarding the labor rights section of the Yurok Compact.  In fact, Senator Denham, the Yurok Compact does include enhanced rights as compared to the 1999 compacts.  But more importantly, actually, the Yurok Tribe has over 4,500 members, 60 to 80 percent, as we’ve heard earlier, live in poverty.  The handful of jobs that will be created by a 99 machine slot parlor would be jobs that would be staffed by members of that tribe.  That tribe will not have to go off-reservation to find your constituents, citizens of California, who are not members of the Tribe to stay off that slot parlor.  Those employees who would work and be members of the Tribe would also have the ability to participate in the politics and the elections of the Tribe, therefore, being able to have some leverage with regard to their future, to their wages and benefits and to the way they’re treated on the job.  So that’s a big difference with respect…

SENATOR DENHAM:  That’s California citizens, as well, though, and could certainly organize as well if they so saw fit.  I mean, do we really know that they all are going to be tribal members?  Is there a commitment in the Yurok Compact that says that they’re all going to be…


MR. GRIBBON:  The Yurok Tribe has said that and I would suggest that you bring them back up here because I don’t speak for that tribe, but you should bring them back up and ask them that question.


SENATOR DENHAM:  But that’s…


MR. GRIBBON:  The second issue that the Senator…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Hold on, let me finish!  But from the HERE perspective, you’re saying that it’s a smaller tribe or because it is a larger tribe that there is no…


MR. GRIBBON:  From UNITE HERE’s perspective, which is the name of my union, Senator Denham, the 4,500 members of the Yurok Tribe, a majority of whom are living in poverty, will be staffing the handful, some number of them, the handful of jobs that will be available in a 99 machine slot parlor.  Should those workers need enhanced rights beyond the enhanced rights in the existing compact, which goes beyond the 1999 agreement, by the way, those workers can come forward and ask for them either from the leadership of the Tribe who they elect, or from the State Legislature right now.  


The second issue that came up, Senator Denham, was the issue that you brought up regarding the National Labor Relations Act.  The D.C. District Court of Appeals has ruled recently that the National Labor Relations Act, this panel of that court, ruled that the National Labor Relations Act does have jurisdiction at the San Manuel Casino.  The San Manuel Tribe has decided to appeal that decision en banc to the entire court.  It hasn’t been decided by that court yet, whether or not they will take that, but they may well.


Just to get to this point took eight years.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Jack, what’s the timeframe on that? 


MR. GRIBBON:  A good question.  That’s the point I’m getting to right now.  To get to this point took eight years.  We don’t know how long it will take the court en banc to make a decision.  Moreover, if the court upholds the panel’s decision en banc, it can be appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court and the U.S. Supreme Court decides what it takes, when it takes, and so we have no idea.


Finally, even if all of that happened and the U.S. Supreme Court, at the end of the day, some time maybe in our lifetime, maybe not, decides that there is an undisputed jurisdiction for the National Labor Relations Board at the San Manuel Casino, that would not necessarily stand for every other tribal casino in our nation because every single tribal casino would be able to come and go through the same process.  For instance, the Yurok Tribe could say, the only people who work in our casino are our members.  We don’t need the intrusion of the federal government on our land.  So that would go all the way through the process.  And every single tribe could make its own arguments regarding it’s governmental issues, etcetera.  So, it’s not settled law.  We don’t expect it to be settled law anytime in the near future.  And in our view, this needs to be dealt with within the confines of this compact along with a whole number of very other serious issues that the Senate and the Assembly should be concerned about, in our view.

Finally, and then I’m going to pass this over to Barry for a second, card check neutrality agreements are often negotiated in a bilateral way.  For instance, the entire Las Vegas Strip has been organized through those types of agreements.  There is no question about the jurisdiction of the National Labor Relations Act on commercial gaming enterprises in Las Vegas.  And the card check neutrality agreements are not preempted by federal law.  They would not be preempted if they were part of this compact as they were in some 2004 compacts.  


And I disagree with Mr. Forman.  I think there’s a good reason that he’s not a labor attorney, because he does not understand labor law.  This is not preempted, neither the compact or bilateral agreements between tribes and unions, or unions and the commercial gambling industry, or whatever industry.  And for instance, in San Francisco, former Mayor Brown, a very, very good friend to our members in San Francisco, signed into law that exact issue—card check neutrality on land where the city has a proprietary interest.  And as a result, many, many workers on city land in San Francisco have organized under that same thing.  Not preempted by federal law.  So, I would argue and I think there’s proof. 

I think Barry Broad wanted to say something.


SENATOR DENHAM:  One piece that, Mr. Gribbon, you didn’t address:  Has UNITE HERE applied for the license at Morongo?


MR. GRIBBON:  There’s two questions:  One, is the one you just mentioned and the answer is no.  The second question is, has UNITE HERE and have workers at Morongo tried to organize their choice of a collective bargaining representative in that casino and between themselves?  And the answer to that is yes, and you’re going to hear from some of them later on and they will tell you, they will answer your questions about how they’ve been treated, how that chilled the atmosphere, and how that makes it impossible to organize given the unbalanced of power between this employer and their employees.  

SENATOR DENHAM:  Why the different approach?  I don’t know if there is anybody from CWA or not, but it’s my understanding that there’s a different approach from…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re going to hear from CWA.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  The CWA, it’s my understanding that they have applied for licenses at some of these casinos and some of them, they’ve already unionized.  So why the different approach for UNITE HERE to not apply for the licenses?  I mean, it was my understanding that you did agree to the TLRO in ’99.


MR. GRIBBON:  Actually, you’re wrong.  I was in those negotiations in 1999.  They were at the eleventh hour at the last day of a ten day negotiation over a very, very comprehensive agreement that had lots of failures.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I’d agree that we shouldn’t be doing things last minute here, but at times this body does take that on.


MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, you do.  And sometimes at great, great, you know, problems with respect to those people who are affected by it for many, many years.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not this year.

MR. GRIBBON:  Good for you.  But all of that said, in 1999, there was a negotiation, and at the end of the negotiation there were two things that happened—a 1999 TLRO ended up being an incomplete document.  Labor rejected it, and you can ask Art Polasky that.  He was the lead in the room where shuttled diplomacy was going back and forth during that time.  And Senator Burton and then Speaker Villaraigosa came back to our room and said, “This is as far as we’re going to go.  We’re not going to get any farther than this.  This is it.  Take it or leave it.”  And we said, “Look, we’re going to leave it because we don’t think it’s good enough.  We think that it gives an opportunity for employers to harass, discriminate, frustrate workers’ rights to organize, particularly in the situation where workers do not have federal employment laws to help them; where they do not have state employment laws to help them; and that in this particular situation where we have the fastest growing service sector industry in our state that is enormously lucrative, these workers need some type of balance here.”  And what Senator Burton and Speaker Villaraigosa said at the time, was that, again, this was as far as we can go, and the tribes have told us in good faith that they will not violate the spirit and intent of this agreement.  We left.  They put it in the agreement.  And I’ll let the workers speak to you regarding whether or not some of these tribes have violated the spirit and the intent of that language.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.

MR. GRIBBON:  You’re welcome.

BARRY BROAD:  Mr. Chairman, Barry Broad on behalf of the Teamsters.  I just wanted to add about the D.C. Circuit case.  Most cases that look at NLRB jurisdiction basically say Congress intended to give jurisdiction to the NLRB or not, or the NLRB has chosen to take jurisdiction or not.  Those are usually the issues.  Here the court did something kind of different, which is they spoke very significantly of tribal sovereignty, which are significant.  And what they said was, is there’s a sliding scale of sovereignty.  Things on the one hand that are the Tribe’s own internal business, like whether to throw people out of the Tribe or whatever because they don’t like them or they don’t think they should be tribal members, whatever might be on the side of the continuum where the Tribe has more jurisdiction to act within the concept of its limited sovereignty, things that affect the world outside the Tribe, its business relationships with people outside.  For example, can they write rubber checks to people anytime they want and say, “Hey, try and collect?”  That might be on the other side of the continuum.  They then struck a balance and said well, looking at this particular set of facts of these particular set of workers at this particular tribe, they are coming in from the outside, they’re citizens of the State of California, etcetera, etcetera, and looking at that on balance, the federal labor policy applies and should be uniform because these casinos are not internal tribal businesses that have no relationship.  But this particular one has a relationship with the public.  It’s a business that’s out in the public.  The workers are not tribal members.  So what that invited, was essentially, as Mr. Gribbon pointed and I just want to clarify, is that every tribe will be empowered to argue that they’re factually different from San Manuel.  And we expect given the history of this, and that they’re each separate legal entities, that they very likely will do that.  So there could be a very, very long multi-decade torturous route for that particular question about whether there is or isn’t an NLRA jurisdiction at tribal gaming facilities or other tribal businesses.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you both. 

SENATOR DENHAM:  Mr. Chair, thank you for taking that out of order.  I appreciate labor coming up and giving a better explanation.

MR. GRIBBON:  No problem.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would CWA representatives like to testify?  Anyone else in opposition who would like to testify?  Come on up.

MICHAEL HARTIGAN:  I’m not in opposition.  ______________(off mike)

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, what do you think about this?

MR. HARTIGAN:  When I say I’m not in opposition….I wasn’t prepared to speak so I have to apologize.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s okay.  You’ve been sitting through most of this.

MR. HARTIGAN:  I’ve been sitting through most of this.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What are your overall thoughts?

MR. HARTIGAN:  My name is Michael Hartigan and I’m president of Communication Workers of America, Local ______.  When I say I’m not in opposition, I am in support of card check; that is the policy of CWA.  We have a national policy right now and we are going forward with it as far as what we call the “Free Choice Act,” and that’s the national policy of CWA.  So I just wanted to make that clear.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.


MR. HARTIGAN:  The question was raised on San Manuel and Viejas.  We did not organize Viejas nor San Manuel under the TLRO.  We organized them under a voluntary election agreement.  And we had to get license and all of our organizers had to be licensed in order to get onto the property to be able to organize.


In San Manuel and the other casinos…


SENATOR DENHAM:  How is that different from the other TLRO process?  You apply for a license under the TLRO as you’ve applied for a license for Morongo; how is that dif….I don’t understand the difference between the two.


MR. HARTIGAN:  It’s basically not different.  I had to be licensed in order to be on the property and have my organizers out on the property, except this was not under the TLRO, it was through a voluntary agreement with Viejas and San Manuel.


The AFL-CIO chose to give exclusivity to HERE.  They had three years of exclusivity.  We thought it had run out.  We applied at some of the casinos to be licensed and we were licensed at Morongo.  After that, the AFL extended the exclusivity for HERE, and so, we have not organized any casino other than those we represent under the TLRO.


SENATOR DENHAM:  So the national union said no to you, so you stopped?


MR. HARTIGAN:  Correct.


SENATOR DENHAM:  But if they had not said no, you would continue on the current process that you’ve basically done, that same process in these other…


MR. HARTIGAN:  Correct.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  So, in your opinion is, the TLRO working?


MR. HARTIGAN:  I honestly cannot answer that question.  I have no experience with it.


SENATOR DENHAM:  I mean, obviously, you’d like to have something stronger—you’d like to have card check.


MR. HARTIGAN:  We’d like to have card check, there’s no question on it.  We’ve had not any experience working under the TLRO.  The gentleman from HERE mentioned the negotiations.  I was there also for the negotiations and was involved in the negotiations on the TLRO.  It was….at the last minute there was a guarantee of following the TLRO would take place, and that was what we were advised of at that time.  And it was probably 4:00 in the morning.  And Mr. Burton and his colorful language…


SENATOR DENHAM:  We’re very familiar with that colorful language.


MR. HARTIGAN:  Explained it very clearly.  But there was a guarantee that there would be a following of the TLRO in its complete spirit.


SENATOR DENHAM:  If National Labor had not come in and said stop, do you think you could have organized?  Was there anything that you feel any type of hurdles or roadblocks?
MR. HARTIGAN:  I organized both, under the NLRA, public sector, my local is a composite of many different types of companies.  We represent from telecommunications to alarm companies to supervisors at 911, and so we’ve organized in all different manners.  
SENATOR DENHAM:  But you have no reason to believe that if you followed the license process as you did in Viejas and San Manuel, that if you were to go ahead and continue on with Morongo that there would be any unnecessary hurdles that you hadn’t faced in the past?

MR. HARTIGAN:  I have no experience of that with Morongo or any others because I have not organized under the TLRO. 

SENATOR DENHAM:  Is there anything different under the TLRO that would be different in organizing at San Manuel and Viejas?  You’ve already started the licensure process and you’re able to go in and have discussions with labor, what would be the next, if there were a hurdle to pop up, what would that hurdle be?  I guess that’s what I’m trying to figure out; where the hurdles are?

MR. HARTIGAN:  What I’m hearing is access is one of the major hurdles that should not be there under the TLRO.  

SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, do you have access now?

MR. HARTIGAN:  I’m restricted from organizing.

SENATOR DENHAM:  You are by National Labor.

MR. HARTIGAN:  Correct.
SENATOR DENHAM:  But you’re not restricted from organizing by Morongo?

MR. HARTIGAN:  No.  But I can’t go in, and so, I can’t honestly answer the question, because I can’t even test it.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

BOB FOX:  Mr. Chairman, thank you.  Bob Fox, on behalf of the California Thoroughbred Breeders Association.  You heard Doug Burge present testimony earlier today, so I’m going to give, kind of, a shortened version to make sure that we do get on the record. 

As you know, the Breeders Association represents the farmers who produce the horses for the races in this state and we believe that, really, as the breeders, we’re part of the backbone of the industry.  We breed the mares.  We keep the stallions; raise the foals, break and train them and get them ready for racing.  And there are literally thousands of employees who participate in this process. 

Besides the employees at the farm, there are also a great number of people who depend on the racing industry and those include, veterinarians, feed and bedding suppliers, ferriers, insurance providers, accountants, and, in fact, as I said, a large percentage of those 50,000 jobs that can be attributed to the racing industry are associated with the farms.  With that in mind, and as Mr. Burge said, the breeding industry is really facing some very serious threats not the least of which is the property development threat, the increase of costs, but most importantly, it’s the competition from horse racing in other states and from other forms of gaming here in this state.  We’re experiencing dramatic decreases in the number of horses that horsemen are breeding here in California. In fact, the foal crop and the number of mares have dropped sharply.  And over the last two years, over a thousand brood mares have been removed from production.  So in spite of the fact that we believe California has a great history in thoroughbred racing, we can no longer compete with other states and the exclusivity clause in these compacts has certainly contributed to that.  Therefore, we would ask that you oppose the compacts until provisions are made to provide mitigation for the thoroughbred industry here in California.  
Thank you.

RICHARD CASTRO:  Senator Florez, committee members, respected staff, my name is Richard Castro, representing Pari-Mutuel Employees Guild, Local 280.  For all the reasons that I’ve cited earlier, we are opposed against the compact as they are currently written.  Our main reason, our main concern is the exclusivity clause.  As I said earlier, we feel it’s out of our pocket.  The hide is out of our pocket and this is the hide that I’m talking about.  That’s all I have to say.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

RICK BAEDEKER:  Thank you, Senator.  Rick Baedeker from Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park.  And I, too, will not just reiterate everything that I said at the previous hearing.  I’d kind of like to pick up where I left off.  I guess we don’t understand why racing has been left out of the discussion.  If these exclusivity clauses, as part of these compacts, become law, then we will, as I said this morning, we will be put in an adversarial position with the State.  The state will have to oppose us seeking any other form of other gaming which our competitors in 14 other states have done, and as a result, are offering prize money to horsemen that in New York, for instance, is estimated to be double what we will offer here.  And so, we feel that because the State has negotiated away our ability to seek other forms of gaming, that there should be mitigation for racing.  There should be something that will keep racing going.  

I do need to make this point again.  I represent Hollywood Park and Bay Meadows.  We are two of the five major racing facilities in this state.  Bay Meadows, unless something changes, is going to close after November 4th of this year.  Hollywood Park, unless there is some remedy forthcoming for racing as a whole, will also close, and that is 40 percent of the major racing facilities in the State.

So, we would ask you to oppose the ratification of these compacts until there is some kind of mitigation for horse racing.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Battin.

SENATOR RICK BATTIN:  I have a question.  I thought I understood the exclusivity; maybe you can enlighten me on it.  The compacts, as they stand today, have an exclusivity clause in them—that is for the State of California.  What’s the difference between what’s in them today and the amendment that actually limits the exclusivity of Morongo down to a geographic area?  Legally, I mean, what’s the difference?

MR. BAEDEKER:  The question is probably put to a lawyer but my understanding is that the difference here is that in these compacts if the exclusivity provision is violated, then the tribes would have the ability to do one of two things, and this is per testimony I heard earlier.  One, they could get out of the gaming business, which nobody expects they would do.  The other is, that they would have the ability to stop making the payments that are called for in these new compacts to the State.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Right.  And that is also the case under the ’99 compacts as well, isn’t it, except it’s for the State, and this actually shrinks it down?  I’m just not understanding the….everyone keeps pointing to it and saying, “Well, if this is in there,” it’s in there.  It’s already in there in the ’99 compact, but it’s for the State of California not just the geographic region.
MR. BAEDEKDER:  Yes, but we would have the ability, again, my understanding, and I apologize to all of the legal minds in the room, my understanding is that without these new compacts we would have the ability to go back to the voters and say we want you to change the proposition that you authorized and give us the ability to offer some other form of gaming at the racetracks.  The voters could do that and therefore, there would be a change.  If they did that…

SENATOR BATTIN:  This wouldn’t exclude you from doing that.  

MR. BAEDEKER:  Well, my understanding is, if the voters did that, then the tribes could withhold the payments that are called for under these compacts.  And so, it’s our position that we don’t want to keep the tribes from expanding their business; we don’t want to keep the State from getting the revenue it needs; we want to keep racing alive.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Let me ask it another way then.  If the compact amendments were not approved by the Legislature as negotiated, so we’re living under 1999 compacts for Morongo, and you went out and were successful to get the voters to change the constitution, under ’99 compact they have now, they would not be required to make the payments; right?

MR. BAEDEKER:  I think the difference is, Senator, again, I don’t want to get outside the bounds of my knowledge or expertise, but, they aren’t paying very much by virtue of the first deal.  The second deal is very significant revenue.  And so, as a matter of fact, it’s much more meaningful than the exclusivity that was certainly much more meaningful to the State.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I see; to the State.  You see, I have a different perspective than probably the Governor does.  I don’t mind at all the fact that Morongo makes payments to the Special Distribution Fund which then goes to the counties of where they’re located because I, of course, represent those areas.  


I guess the second question I had was….I guess it was a quest as more of a….I wanted to make a point of difference which was the….I don’t believe that it’s fair to say that the State or the Governor has negotiated your ability to go to the voters to change it; it’s in the prohibition in the Constitution of California that was passed by two-thirds of the electorate that created the prohibition.  The governor couldn’t have changed it if he wanted to, and any type of negotiation with the tribes, because he can’t change the constitution even by compact.  The prohibition, and where you’d have to go, and I mean, you have the opportunity to go there as many, many people do every two years, is to change the constitution of the State.  But it’s not the Governor that gave that away, it’s the voters who voted that way by an overwhelming majority.


MR. BAEDEKER:  And, Senator, again, I’m not the constitutional law expert, but I do believe that there may be other forms of gaming that could be provided to racing that would not require a vote of the voters, but, as a matter of fact, may violate the exclusivity clauses in these compacts.  And so, the State, receiving revenue from the tribes under these new compacts, we believe, would have no choice but to oppose racing coming to it; to the Legislature, to the Governor’s Office, for some kind of solution that included other forms of gaming.

And I just want to finish where I started.  We don’t oppose the Tribe’s expanding their business, and we certainly understand the need for the State to generate revenue.  But, we can’t understand why racing is put at risk in the process.  We simply have asked that we be a part of the negotiations; a part of the discussions; and so far, even though this issue has been on the table for quite a while, we haven’t been invited to any such discussions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The next witness.


REGINA JOHNSON-BLANCHE:  My name is Regina Johnson-Blanche.  And I live in Banning.  I’ve been in Banning for five years.  I got a job at Casino Morongo and I worked there for one year.  I have seven children.  I have two adopted children and five of my own children.  (witness begins to cry) I got my job at Casino Morongo.  I enjoyed my job at Casino Morongo.  
My job was to clean the casino.  My job was to clean the bottom floor of the casino.  I was a housekeeper there.  And so I cleaned the restrooms and I polished the machines and dumped ashtrays.  And one day I was sent home from work for three days because I have blonde hair.  I didn’t understand what the color of my hair had to do with my job performance.  So I wanted to talk to somebody about it.  I just wanted to do my job.  I tried to talk to a couple of people to ask them what they thought about it—some people would talk to me; some people wouldn’t.  
So, we had a meeting in the department that I worked in and we were given some information about this union and they couldn’t do anything to help us if we needed somebody to talk to.  And they were just out for money.  So I just kept quiet, kind of, and continued to work there.  
And after I came back from my suspension I got fired for going to the bathroom.  I went to the restroom because I had to really go.  I found out I was pregnant with my baby.  And so I went to the restroom and after that I was fired.  
I really needed my job.  I’m a single parent.  I try to take care of my kids.  I don’t get child support.  I wasn’t on welfare.  I just wanted to work and take care of my kids.  
I owned a clothing store in Banning for about four years.  I tried to supplement my income, so I used the extra money that I made from working at my job in Morongo to open up my store thinking that I can make extra income and that didn’t work.  
And now, I don’t know what else to do, really.  I don’t want to go back on welfare.  I just wanted to work and take care of my kids.  So I got a job at the school district, at Banning Unified School District, and I worked there for four years.  I was fired from there….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you want to take a breather for a second and then….take your time and why don’t we hear from some other witnesses as well and if there’s anything you’d like to add after that, we’ll come right back to you.  Please take some water, and it’s fine so just take your time.


Thanks for joining us.


STELLA WILSON:  My name is Stella Wilson.  I worked at Morongo Casino for almost two years as a slot host.  I was the one where if you hit a jackpot I’d pay you.  And in that time we received three letters, antiunion letters, with our paychecks, and actually, all three were the same letter, we just received it three different times.  The last one we were required to go into the office and sign our names saying that we did receive them.  So, if Morongo says that they didn’t interfere, they did.  The letters stated that, like what she says, they’re just after your money; that they can’t help you.  
I worked a graveyard shift and my children are at home and they told me that some people came by to see me, but if I’m sleeping they wouldn’t wake me up.  It was three different people who came by, three different times—not the same people.  And I went to human resources, like we were told to, and I talked with Frank, I don’t know his last name.  And he told me that, because I was curious how they found out where I live, and he said that they probably followed me home after work, which scared me because I go home and it’s dark, or, you know, I don’t live close, so there would have been some major following.  That if they came by my house again….he asked me if I had a screen that could be locked and I told him yes and he said, “Well, make sure that’s between you and keep it locked.”  “If they persist,” he says “you can always call the police on them.”

I have never worked for a union.  I mean, I’ve never had anything to do with the union.  So, with what Frank said, it started me wondering what information did they have that I’m not supposed to know about.  So the next time they came by I made it a point to be up to hear what they had to say.  
And I also want to bring up an incident that happened at work when I was taking a break.  I was in the break room and there was a bunch of us there and there were two people at a different table that brought up the fact of, “You know, we haven’t been here very long but nobody speaks about a union or anything.”  And a man that was sitting at the end of the table spoke up and told them, “Hey, you don’t say that word here.  That word can get you fired.”  Two people got up from the table that they were sitting at and left.  And the person that was talking was not just an employee he was in a management position.

So the letters and everything that they sent out, they blew them up life size; they had them in the hall; they had them in both break rooms; they had them in the slot office.  I mean, everywhere you looked, you saw these letters saying “Don’t talk to them,” “They’re after your money.”  Today, if the union went in to talk to the employees, unless there was a letter or something from upper management saying, “Yes, it’s okay to talk these people,” that wouldn’t happen.  

And we need somebody in there to help us; to back us up.  If we have a problem we go to human resources.  If it’s a problem against the casino, that’s it, we’re dead in the water.  There is nobody there to help us.  Human resources, no;  they cover their butts.  They’re not for the employee; they’re for the casino.  


And I ask you to vote “No” as it is right now.  Send it back so it can be worked on and the employees can have a say.  They don’t have to be afraid of the word “union” because it may not be a union there.  It may be a union that their children are involved with.  I mean, I’ve got two grown kids.  They could be working for the union.  I get fired for just saying the word “union.”  It doesn’t have to have anything to do with the casino.  So I’m asking you to vote “No”, please.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MIRIAM COLLINGWOOD:  Hi, my name is Miriam Collingwood and I work at Cache Creek, so my story is a little different.  I’ve been working there going on about four years now.  And I’ve had the pleasure of being on the negotiating committee when we negotiated our last contract.  And I feel that the partnership that we formed with our Tribe and our union has been a great one.  
As an older woman I have to worry about health care costs coming up here.  I’ve had some health care problems myself.  I was just recently diagnosed with diabetes so the cost of healthcare itself is very important for me.  And the fact that we were able to negotiate with our Tribe and negotiate a low-cost health insurance program, I think, was fantastic.  And we continue to have a really good partnership.  We have the tools to do what we have to do at Cache Creek. 


And I’ve also had the opportunity to speak with a lot of people from the other casinos and I feel it’s an atrocity.  And I would like you to vote “No” on these compacts unless they do enable these people to have the same rights and enjoy the freedoms that I have at Cache Creek.  What we have there is a wonderful partnership and it’s all because of the card check and the neutrality language that came out of the 2004 compacts, and that is one reason we have that great partnership.  And I feel it’s a good thing and we need it for all like coworkers in other casinos.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  

REVEREND KEVIN JOHNSON:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Reverend Kevin Johnson.  I’m pastor of the United Church of Christ in Reconciling Methodist Congregation in Palm Springs and I am here representing the Coachella Valley affiliate of CLUE California.  CLUE stands for Clergy and Laity United for Economic Justice.  I’m simply here today not to repeat the speech that I made this morning but simply to say that the interviews and the testimony that were referred to in the presentation this morning, that supported the stance to ask you to not support the compacts, the 2006 version of the compacts, but rather to see to it that the 2004 labor language is reinstated, that the interviews and testimony that were heard included information from employees of the Morongo Casino and so therefore that’s why I’m speaking at this moment.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.


MR. GRIBBON:  Mr. Chairman and members, Jack Gribbon again, from UNITE HERE International Union, the hotel and restaurant casino workers union nationally.  


A couple of things:  One is, that I think that listening to Chairman Martin earlier speaking about the compact for the expanded compact opportunity currently before you for the Morongo Tribe, listening to the Chairman, I think the Morongo Tribe deserves a whole lot of credit and a whole lot of credit for issues that the Chairman brought up like, the reduction of poverty for the Morongo Tribe’s members; the diminishment of the suffering of others in their tribe through their many, many, many years of suffering; and that the Tribe, using its sovereign right to negotiate on behalf of its constituents, is something that should be admired by the State of California.  But moreover, we believe it’s something that should be a model of behavior for the State of California.  
The State of California has its sovereign right, also, in its hands in order for it to be able to ensure that its constituents, in particular, the most vulnerable group of its constituents in the State currently, in the rapidly expanding tribal gaming industry in our state, the workers, who are the engine behind the enormous profitability of this industry, the State should take a lesson from the Morongo Tribe and work as hard and as furiously to protect its constituents—the workers in this industry who are not members of the Tribe.  The State should do that as vigorously and as aggressively as the Morongo Tribe is advocating for its members.  And you should take a lesson in our view, from the Morongo Tribe.  Moreover, and to finish, this is your one chance—your one chance in 23 years, to really ensure that as this industry continues to expand dramatically across our state, in particular, under the compacts that are up for ratification now, this is the opportunity to ensure that the tens of thousands of workers with no effective way to join together to improve their lives and their children’s lives, have that opportunity by saying no to these particular compacts that do not increase workers rights as they were increased in the 2004 compacts.  In particular, this is your one chance to fill in the voids in the regulatory oversight that occurred through the CRIT Decision by the D.C. District Court of Appeals last October that has become so controversial and so important to people like, U.S. senator, Diane Feinstein and our own governor, Arnold Schwarzenegger, who are trying to pass the buck to the Indian Affairs Committee in Washington.  It’s your opportunity to ensure that impoverished tribes in our state, who are standing in the wings waiting just for a hearing for their compacts, get in front of the line here and get an opportunity for their own economic development before the doors close on them.  It’s your opportunity for the last time, to ensure that the racetrack industry, which provides over 50,000 middle class jobs to our state in some of the most difficult areas in our state to achieve that kind of a job, that that industry has a future.  And finally, it’s your last chance to ensure that the one issue that is arguably the good public policy issue to argue for the ratification of these compacts, and that is, the funding stream, this gigantic amount of money depending upon who you talk to that’s going to come to the State coffers, that that is insured because the bingo machines that are currently in operation in bingo parlors, non-tribal bingo parlors around the State, do not violate the exclusivity clause.  You don’t know that.  These can be ratified and the following day tribes can say, “Whoops, exclusivity violated; no funding stream to the State.”  Without taking care of those issues before getting these compacts ratified, which is the only opportunity you have in terms of leverage or any possibility to tie up these loose ends, to do that prior to doing that, you would do a disservice, in our view, to the larger community of California and all of your constituents including, those tribes who are waiting in the wings for their first opportunity to have some kind of economic development and don’t even get a hearing for their compacts.  So, we would argue that.

And finally, we would agree with Chairman Martin, that there is an issue that comes up quite frequently in these situations, and I think the Chairman said, “Politics has become part of the equation.”  And clearly, clearly, there is not one good government policy issue here in front of you in terms of the value of these compacts getting ratified with all of these issues being addressed.  So, in order for you to do that, I think that the Chairman’s right—politics has become part of the equation, and we’d hope that you’d think about that.

Thank you very much for your time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Any other opposition to these compacts?  

BILL ABERNATHY:  Mr. Chairman, ___________________offer of support, I’d like to speak to that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.

MR. ABERNATHY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, committee members, my name is Bill Abernathy.  I’m the president for the San Bernardino Safety Employees Benefit Association, located in San Bernardino County representing over 3,200 public safety officers in that county.  I’m here this afternoon to speak in support of the compacts that I believe are beneficial to the State.  These compacts are the same ones that Governor Schwarzenegger, the Morongo Band of Mission Indians and the other tribes came into agreement with last year.  I believe there’s several issues within the compacts that would help benefit the State in a time when the State needs additional funding.  The most important one, and the biggest, is the additional funding that would come from the increase in slots on the tribal reservations.  This increase in funding would help offset the deficit that we have gotten ourselves into, in this state here.  

The other issue that is of benefit is that the increase in slots on these casinos or at their reservations would expand the job pool.  Now these tribal casinos already are one of the largest private employer operations in most of the counties and cities where these operations exist.  By the expansion of the employee pool, this should also expand the tax revenues that come in, in those areas.  When you increase the job pool in areas, you increase housing purchases, property rentals and other auxiliary increases in spending.  These things increase tax revenue by way of property tax and sales tax to those areas.  So it’s a win/win all around in regards to the monetary issues that I think are the most critical issues in regards to these compacts.  The State wins by additional resources coming in, the counties and the cities and the areas surrounding these casinos win by the increase in revenues, and the employees that were hired by these casinos have a win by having a job and the benefits that are included within that.

I also have a letter of support that I have prepared that goes into a little more detail on some of these issues I’d like to give out to you and you can read at your leisure.  And I’ll hand these out to you, Sir.

I might make mention that there would be another letter coming up that would also be in support of the compact for the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians.  I’ve worked hand in hand with both of these tribes in the past on a multitude of issues, some of those dating back all the way to 1998 when most of the law enforcement agencies within the State of California stood up and supported tribal gaming issues on Prop. 1A, and again in 2000, when Prop. 5 entered into the thing.  And we felt it was the right thing to do at that time and we think this is the right thing to do at this time to pass these compacts.  And I appreciate your support on the matter.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay, anymore opposition or support?  Chairman Martin, would you like to make some closing remarks?

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  As a point of clarification I’d like, before I do my closing statement, ask if George Forman could come up and comment on the employee relations that we have, Senator.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. FORMAN:  Mr. Chairman, in our opening presentation you asked a question about a couple of clarifications on exclusivity.  The compact, the amended compact, has separate core market areas for machines, the four-county area and the 100-mile radius for cards so that if you can get beyond 100 miles in Riverside County, that would not be a breach of exclusivity even though it’s in Riverside County (for cards and only for the banking card things). 

Second, in the event there is a breach of exclusivity, the payments that would stop include the RSTF payments.  I just didn’t want to leave any misunderstandings on that.

And with respect, very briefly, to representations that were made earlier about Morongo not having conducted any sort of campaign against organization; we stand by that.  If informing employees of their rights, the existence of the TLRO and their rights under the TLRO is a campaign, then I’m reminded of the words of Assistant Attorney General Manny Maderas, some of you may know him, “No good deed goes unpunished.”  The tribe has informed its employees of their rights under the TLRO.  The tribe has not engaged in an antiunion advocacy campaign.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Chairman Martin.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  Thank you.  I would like to, kind of, change this from this real heavy and troubling subject that we’ve been talking about and talk…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Martin, before you close, since we have Mr. Brown here, I think maybe the Gribbon question about the issue of card check in the city, do you have any thoughts on that.  I do know that your name was invoked and I wanted to give you an opportunity on the record to give us some thoughts.
HONORABLE WILLIE BROWN:  Mr. Gribbon is absolutely correct; as a condition of using city resources and city property I did impose card check neutrality (period).  It was not applicable, however, to non-city property and to non-city systems (period).  And in this case of Morongo and the other tribes, this is not state property (period).  And therefore, the conditions that the State imposes can’t be, as it was in San Francisco, a card check neutrality.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  Mr. Martin.

CHAIRMAN MARTIN:  I would urge you to ratify these compacts as soon as you can.  A million dollars a day at a minimum, is what we’re looking at.  These negotiations were hard negotiations on both sides.  The compacts are good for the State of California, they’re good for the tribes, and they’re good for the citizens of California.  These are good compacts and I urge you to ratify them.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay, well, thank you gentlemen.  I very much appreciate it.  And we will have concluded the discussion in the informational hearing on the Morongo Tribe’s compacts.  Tomorrow we will reconvene the G.O. Committee in Room 112 at a time certain of 10 a.m. and we will hear the compacts of the Pechanga, San Manuel and the Sycuan compacts.  So let us adjourn at this point in time and we….Sorry, we’re going to lift the call for those members and then we will see everyone tomorrow.
Let’s go ahead and lift the calls on the outstanding bills.  Let’s go ahead and get some members back, as well.  We’ll stick around for a minute.  We can call the members back to lift the calls.  
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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ, CHAIR:  We’re going to go ahead and call the Senate Governmental Organization Committee to order.  I know there will be members coming in and out.  We have bills up in the Capitol today.  But I’d like to take this opportunity to welcome you to today’s informational hearing.  Obviously, we are examining the terms and conditions of three Tribal-State compacts up for ratification by the Legislature.  As you know, we have made a decision that each of these compacts should be examined separately and placed in individual pieces of legislation and put before the Legislature for ratification.  At the end of the day, we’re going to be listening to the Pechanga Band of Indian’s compact, the San Manuel’s compact, and Sycuan Compact.

I will let you know, that yesterday’s hearings went somewhere between six, seven or eight hours, and we’re not planning to go that long today.  So, we’re going to ask that if there’s opposition, that we try to keep that to a minimum.  We heard quite a bit of it yesterday.  Unless there is new information we’re going to try to keep it a little tighter today and try to get out of this place a bit earlier than we did yesterday, so, I will let you know that up front.  

We have a very busy morning ahead of us.  And I do want to thank the members who will be coming into the building as we begin this hearing.

Why don’t we go ahead now and start with the Pechanga Tribe’s hearing.  Mr. Macarro, thank you for joining us.  I’d like to proceed today as we did yesterday.  We have a lot of questions to go through and we would like to have an opportunity to ask the Administration some questions, as well, in terms of the compacts.  Most of the questions I have for the Administration will probably come after the second compact today.  Most of them addressed the larger policy questions and were answered yesterday, but I do have a few more.  But let’s go ahead and say that we’re going to proceed through these compacts as we did yesterday, amendment section by amendment section.  

And why don’t we go ahead and start with Chairman Macarro, if you can give us some general information about the Tribe.  I believe it was in 1882 that the president of the United States issued an executive order establishing the Pechanga Reservation.  And I’m not saying we’ll go all the way back to 1882, but that’s probably a good place to start and we’ll let you go ahead and make a brief presentation on, ultimately, the status of the Tribe and then we’ll go through the compact.
MARK MACARRO, CHAIRMAN, PECHANGA TRIBE:  Thank you.  I have prepared remarks and right at the beginning of the prepared remarks is the background you spoke of.

(Chairman speaks in his native language)  Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, good morning.  My name is Mark Macarro.  I’m the tribal chairman of the Pechanga Band of Luiseño Indians.  Today our Tribe consists of 1,480 tribal citizens and the reservation includes 5,500 acres.  We appreciate the opportunity to present the amendment to the Tribal-State Compact between Pechanga and the State.
With me today are members of the Pechanga Tribal Council.  I ask each member to stand as I call their names, briefly:  Councilwoman Donna Barron; Councilman Mark Calac; Councilman Andrew Masiel, Sr.; Councilman Butch Murphy; and Councilman Ken Perez.  Thank you.

Mr. Chairman and members, the Pechanga people have called (__________native language), the Temecula Valley, home for thousands of years.  Our people were evicted from our ancestral land in 1875 through a federal decree of ejectment from a court in San Francisco by a posse lead by the sheriff of San Diego County.  Our homeless ancestors moved upstream to a small secluded valley where they rebuilt their homes and lives in the years between 1875 and 1882.  This place where they rebuilt their lives is called ___________(native languare).  Pechang is named after a spring that has provided water to a very desolate place from time immemorial.  Thus, we became the Pechanga Band of Luiseño Indians—the people who live at Pechang.
The Pechanga Indian Reservation, as you said, was created by presidential order in 1882.  On June 27th, this year, we will mark the 125th anniversary of a formal government to government relationship between the United States of America and Pechanga Tribal Nation.

The Pechanga Band holds a special relationship with federal, state and local governments.  This special relationship is rooted and well established federal law that Indian nations are distinct, independent political communities retaining their original natural rights from time immemorial.  These rights have been recorded as the inherent power of tribal governments to make their own laws and be governed by them.  We believe it is the fundamental obligation of each generation to cherish and protect these rights for our children and for generations to come.

Pechanga first began gaming in 1995 with the opening of the Pechanga Entertainment Center.  We opened in temporary facilities (really, modular trailers) with only 135 employees.  Today, the Pechanga Resort and Casino employs over 5,100 employees.  Before gaming, if you would have visited our reservation in 1995, you would have seen people living without plumbing; you would have seen people who couldn’t afford glass on their window so they used plastic; and half of our tribal members lived in poverty.

Through tribal government gaming we’ve now funded important governmental programs and provide essential services to our citizens, including our fully accredited Pechanga Elementary School, which is a tribal language emersion school on the reservation.  We have a cultural resources protection program, a health clinic, environmental protection and advocacy, water infrastructure, senior support programs, youth programs, educational scholarships, and energy infrastructure.  We also have a fully equipped fire department with thirty firefighters fully certified and trained, in fact, they train other departments, as well, that provide services to the local community through mutual aid agreement with local governments.
We believe the amendment to the Tribal-State Compact between the Pechanga Band of Luiseño Indians and the State of California respects the original natural rights of the Pechanga Band and protects our respective citizens.  For Pechanga, this amendment provides our people and workers with new opportunities by allowing us to offer, in the long-term, up to 7,500 gaming devices, and that number was important to us so that future tribal leaders could have the option to respond to market conditions and grow the business in the future if necessary.  
Many of the unique provisions in our agreement reflect existing and efficient practices which have worked for our Tribe and the State since first entering a formal relationship in 1999.  Trust, respect and confidence between our respective governments has grown throughout that time.  Similarly, with regard to local governments, this amendment reflects the evolution of the respectful relationship that has existed for many years between Pechanga, the City of Temecula and the County of Riverside.

Pechanga is committed to supporting our local community not because of any obligation, but because it has simply been the right thing to do.  Outside of the compact, our Tribe has provided millions of dollars to the City of Temecula for road improvements, for the city’s convention and visitors authority, and to provide tourism to support local schools and to build two new Boys and Girls Club facilities in the community.

Now, let me take a moment to say a few words about questions that may have been raised concerning protections in the workplace.  

Our people know what it’s like to struggle, to survive and put food on the table.  Our history, our experiences, our respect for people lies at the heart of our commitment to our team members.  Because we ourselves come from the ranks of working people, we deeply believe we have a greater obligation to provide opportunities to the people who help make the Pechanga Resort and Casino a success.  Our history and respect for people lies at the heart of this commitment.

Now, let me give you some examples that demonstrate our commitment.

Our average wage is more than 64 percent higher than the State minimum wage facility wide.  We provide comprehensive health insurance for team members and their families.  We pay up to 91.5 percent of health insurance costs for our team members—91.5 percent.  We contribute 50 cents for every dollar each employee contributes to a 401(k) program.  We provide, free, $25,000 company sponsored life insurance.  We provide free backup child care.  Every year each employee is eligible for a longevity bonus up to $1,750.  We offer free onsite English in the workplace classes; free onsite state-of-the art team member fitness center open 24-hours a day, and, we offer discounted set rate meals in the employees’ own restaurant style environment.  We also provide free life care prenatal kits and a new lactation room.  We provide free onsite health screenings that include blood pressure checks, flu shots, annual diabetes testing and more.  We provide numerous classes for professional growth to help our team members advance.  And, we’ve even managed to reduce gas prices for our team members by giving them a discount at the Pechanga Gas Station.  This is just a sample of what we do for our team members, not because we’re obligated, but because our history and our respect for people lies at the heart of this commitment.

We pride ourselves in providing a safe working environment.  In fact, last May, Federal OSHA officials conducted a random inspection of the Pechanga Resort and Casino and found absolutely no violations—zero violations.  And because we care about our employees, our Tribe created an independent office where employees can go to be heard.  This office helps advocate for team members when they face challenges either in the workplace or in their personal lives, because oftentimes challenges in personal lives crossover into the workplace and create challenges there, as well.  So we take a look at the big picture—the holistic picture—for employees and their health and well being.
So, finally, if team members still feel that they need a union to represent them, then they have, they absolutely have, guaranteed enforceable protections and organizing rights.  These rights were embodied in the historic Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance which was skillfully negotiated between tribes and Senate pro Tem leader, John Burton and speaker of the Assembly, Antonio Villaraigosa.  The amended compact preserves the protections and organizing rights of Pechanga employees that are guaranteed in this ordinance.  
I don’t want to go on for too long; I know the committee has questions for us.  And to underscore our commitment to our philosophy, we’ve brought, today, a number of our team members to give you the opportunity firsthand to hear their perspective about their experiences at Pechanga.  I’d like to bring them up at this time to provide brief testimony, and I do emphasize brief, and then I would be happy to answer any questions you may have should you like to circle back with those.


So with us today we have Lourdes, Rosie, and Lisa, and I’m going to move one seat over to my right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you for joining us.


LOURDES BARRADAS:  Good morning.  My name is Lourdes Barradas, and I work for Pechanga.  I work for the department housekeeping hotel.  I’ve been working at Pechanga for almost nine years.  And my experience with Pechanga, it’s been really good—wonderful.  Pechanga is a place where they respect you and they do reward you for your good job.  And, it’s been very, very wonderful working with this company because I worked before at the school and that didn’t….was treating like the way I was treated at Pechanga.  I really appreciate what they do with the employees, and especially my department, which we do when we’re so busy, we just go with….take sodas and ice cream to the girls up to the floors, you know, I appreciate what they do for us.  And, I mean, Pechanga is so good with the community.  And we have the rewards like couch and carrying—when we do a good job, they give that.  And we do now have, like, the chip, the appreciation chip.  We get dinner and prizes.  And it’s really wonderful to work for this place.  I have nothing to say about Pechanga—just good things about Pechanga.  And every time they talk about me about Pechanga, I just say it’s a wonderful place to work for.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.


MS. BARRADAS:  Thank you.


ROSIE SALINAS:  Good morning.  My name is Rosie Salinas.  I work for Pechanga Café.  I’m a cashier and a hostess there.  I’ve been there five years, and it’s been a great opportunity to be an employee for Pechanga.  They treat us with so much respect.  They have so many incentives for us, like she was saying, we have the chip.  


And the experience for myself, I have a disease.  I have diabetes.  So it’s given me the opportunity to have the insurance that they have for me, because I do go to the doctor quite often; there’s times I’ll go three or four times a month.  But without being an employee for Pechanga, I don’t know.  It’s just a wonderful place.  I feel that anybody who comes to work for us, they have an experience to enjoy this company.  

This is the best company that I’ve ever, ever worked for.  And it’s growing more.  We have a lot of new things coming up into Pechanga.  But it’s wonderful.  I’m very, very thankful and very, very proud to be a Pechanga employee.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MS. SALINAS:  Thank you.

LISA DUNCAN:  Hello.  My name is Lisa Duncan and I started at Pechanga in 1996, nearly 11 years ago.  When I started at Pechanga I was an EMT and worked for the fire department pursuing an education and which Pechanga has allowed me to do.  I worked in the fire department serving as an emergency medical technician on the property and went to medical school.  I went to USC and graduated from USC; thought I was not going to stay at Pechanga, but because of all of the opportunities that they’ve allotted me there, which I continued my education, and actually, I’m finishing up another degree in international business with a minor in finance.  And Pechanga has allowed me to do that; they have worked around my schedule, and not only allowed me to pursue personal achievements--educational achievements—but also in my career, working there as a physician assistant in occupational health.  We’ve been allowed more so, I think….I could work in the private sector, and I have.  I have worked in the university and the health clinics there.  I’ve worked in other area in state versus tribal land and I feel, in my career, I’m able to give more to our employees.  And when I started there we had several hundred employees, now we have thousands of employees—over 5,000.  
But when we started our program in occupational health almost seven years ago, we incorporated programs like modified duty work programs, which in a work comp setting, I know that’s been something that’s been misled, just to take away any misconceptions about workers’ comp and how that applies to tribal versus state system.  We offer the exact same benefits—exactly.  The same pay scale—two-thirds.  We even offer tip loss for dealers or servers who are earning tips.  They not only earn 100 percent of their salary working modified duty, our department and Pechanga allow us to incorporate this with our employees, are able to offer alternate work other than what they are doing if they choose to take it.  They don’t have to take it, but that opportunity is there.  
I feel as if, if I were working in a state system versus where I’m working now, I wouldn’t have that opportunity, or at least, the latitude to allow all of our workers to improve themselves.  And things that we do to improve that are; language training for people who speak English as a second language.  We really encourage our modified duty workers to do that.  So by working modified duty, if they were out on a work injury, they can come into our department and work another job until they get well.
Besides all the programs, our department in occupational health, allows us to do, personally I can put some testament to that, as well, but they don’t just allow us to do it, they train us to do it.  Personally, and other people in the department, we’ve met OSHA standards, but I’ve been sent to the University….UCSD to get trained as a trainer in OSHA.  And we have other people in our department; a licensed vocational nurse, registered nurse, myself, a physician assistant, all of us have been sent to get training from OSHA at a university.  And that’s across the board—we train our employees and then we put programs in place to share that with employees that are not a management level, but line employees.  So we make sure we have a safe work environment and we also work hard to keep people working.  And I think I wouldn’t be able to do that if I wasn’t working where I am now.

In closing, I say on a personal note, Pechanga has been there for me up to and including….my mother died almost four years ago and in that time my father was really at a loss and wanted to come to work.  He’s 80-years-old.  Pechanga hired him and really has given him, and myself, a really personal touch and how they really care about people.  They care about your family; they care about you; they care about education; and I can say that because my father continues to work there.  He’s out on a medical leave.  He’s gone beyond, FMLA allows twelve weeks, he’s beyond that, and they’ve kept him as an employee as he continues to get well.  He’s planning on coming back to work.

So I can say nothing but good things about Pechanga.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay, let’s go through the compact, if we could.  Do you want to get your folks up?  And thank you all for testifying.  I appreciate it.

Chairman Macarro, we’re going to start with Amendment I and proceed through these as we have the other compacts.  And, if you would like to introduce your esteemed colleague with you as well—Mr. Levine.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  This is the esteemed, Jerry Levine.  And Jerry Levine is special counsel for gaming.  He’s been around Indian country law for a long time and he’s represented the Tribe since 1991, in particular, and especially, on gaming affairs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Jerry, thanks for joining us as well.  Good morning.

JERRY LEVINE:  Good morning.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s, if we could, number one, get an understanding of when the current 1999 compact was set to expire.  That was in year?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  2020.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  2020.  And these new compacts, as amended, would give you ten more years—2030?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Ten years.  The expiration date is now 2030.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And just the standard softball question of these hearings is, was 2030 sufficient or would you have rather had a longer period than that?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, 2030 is sufficient and we agreed to it.  Ideally, a compact that doesn’t expire would be ideal.  There is one state that has no expiration term, I believe, and that’s Minnesota.  Is there another state?
MR. LEVINE:  Also, Washington.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  The State of Washington.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  So I mean, it’s not like it doesn’t get done.  That takes a lot of pressure off of tribes and the State in the long-term.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And yesterday in one of the compacts we heard about the….is there a time near that 2030 date that the State is to begin negotiations again on….and is it an 18-month?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How does that work in this compact?

MR. LEVINE:  There is a window of opportunity, then, to negotiate for extensions or other terms of the compact as the end of the term nears.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  As I said, let’s go on with Amendment I in terms of the facilities themselves—the authorized facilities.  The 1999 compact allowed for two casinos to be built, and I guess the question I have is, one is called a permanent facility and that opened in 2002, I think, as you’ve mentioned, Chairman Macarro?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that was about five years ago.  Is there any plan for a second casino?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  The answer is no.  Pechanga recently underwent a major….well, five years ago we built our first true physical plant after a number of years of being in temporary facilities and tents and then we underwent a remodel and a small add-on to a certain section and then expanded our floor space.  And currently we have 188,000 square feet of total physical plant space.  And we can accommodate, I believe it’s an immediate 1,500 devices on our floor currently without expanding at all, which we would believe would help us meet current market conditions.  The ability to go beyond that, which could require more floor space and more physical plant space, is something that we’re leaving to future tribal leaders of Pechanga.  And we feel that there’s enough room to meet market conditions; that’s something that was important to us in the compact.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go on to Section 2—the revenue contributions to the State.  Now, under the amended compact, the Tribe is entitled to operate 7,500 slot machines and that’s made up of the 2,000 original machines under the 1999 compact plus an additional 5,500; is that correct?
MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And does the Tribe currently operate all of these 2,000, the current, as class III?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And do you have an idea, or maybe get your perspective on the cap that is provided in the amended compact?  I mean, is that something that you suggested or the Administration suggested?  Is it an amount dealing with market forces or….why 7,500, why not 10,000; why not 15,000?

MR. LEVINE:  Well, again, this was a negotiation.  The Administration had a position that they wanted some kind of a limit, and because it was a negotiation and was related to a lot of other terms, it was accepted by the Tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess the reason I’m asking that is, you’re going to meet that 7,500, or is this something that you don’t stand to get to at some point in time?

MR. LEVINE:  I think as the Chairman indicated, you don’t know what the market is going to do, but that’s a very growing market down there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, it allows for the growth in the market and it’s probably sufficient?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  We think it’s sufficient, certainly, over 30 years.  Let me just add that, at some point there is a diminishing returns economically, especially in the present.  We will not be expanding to 5,000 devices.  And to go beyond 5,000 to 7,500 devices in the present, we’d start to look at some kind of a diminishing return in the present.  How does that circumstance change over the 
10 to 20 years, or 20 to 30 years?  We don’t know, but we felt that it was absolutely important to have that kind of flexibility in the compact.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the reason, of course, I’m asking, is that in this compact, a good majority of the State’s money is tied into that expansion, so if the State is going to do well, we need you to get to 7,500.  And so, if we’re never going to get there, I guess the value of the enterprise for the State of California, beyond the 2,000 that we’re getting permanent…

MR. LEVINE:  Well, I would point out, Mr. Chairman, though, that there’s a substantial increase in the revenue that will be generated by the 2,000 machines we have now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, we’re going to get to the Mr. Levine.  I think it’s incumbent upon us to ask when is, and how fast, can you get to the additional 5,500?  Because at some point, that 15 percent and 25 percent means additional revenue to our sovereign, the State of California, and the question I have is; are we ever going to get there?
CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, the rate of growth in Southern California, which is a good part of our market is identified, actually, in the compact by certain counties named.  As growth continues….let’s just say, if it continues at the current pace in those county areas, we’ll cross that 15 percent line over to 25 percent at some point in time.

SENATOR FLOREZ: Okay.  

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  I mean, the number didn’t come from nowhere; it came from some level of analysis that 7,500 would be attainable; we just don’t think it’s going to happen in the next four or five years—7,500.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, 7,500.

MR. LEVINE:  And just to add to the record, there is an expectation that there will be at least 1,500 added fairly quickly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And Mr. Macarro said that the current floor space allows for that immediately.  And those will be new and above the 2,000 that you currently have?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct..

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s where we get 15 percent from?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s, again, talk about the permanent payments to the State of California.  Obviously, $42.5 million on 2,000 slots is currently budgeted in this particular compact; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what do you currently pay now in terms of the Special Distribution Fund?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Our total payment, which includes the Special Distribution Fund, the SDF, is $28.5 million.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you would be paying under this permanent and the amended compact, $42.5?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that’s about a 45 percent increase for the State of California.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, it is.  We regard that as a substantial increase.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s about $21,000 per slot plus for the first 2,000 slots; does that sound about right?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Over the life of the compact, which I’ve been asking, I think, moving forward, this tells us that the State of California would receive $977 million—close to a billion dollars—just on capturing these 2,000 slots in these new amended compacts; is that what the State can expect over the 
23 years of the remaining portion of this compact?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, those are our calculations—$2.3 billion over 30 years.
MR. LEVINE:  And they’re guaranteed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And they’re guaranteed.  So this isn’t even counting the 1,500 that you can get going on it with additional floor space if this compact is passed?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that could well be a billion—very easily?

MR. LEVINE:  Easily.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Under this governor’s term; right?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so, above the 2,000, we then have a graduated percentage starting at 15 percent for what slots—2,000 to 5,000?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And then anything above…

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, it’s 2,001 to 5,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, 2,001 to 5,000, and 5,001 to 7,500 is 
25 percent.

MR. LEVINE:  Twenty-five percent.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Does the Tribe currently operate any class II games?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, we do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what are the plans for class II now if the amended compacts are ratified by the Legislature?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, the general thinking is, once the compacts are ratified and become operational, there really isn’t a need for class II devices.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So those will transition to class III games?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The State gets no revenue from class II; right?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we’d probably want you to do that, as well?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That’s the win/win element of the compact.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  The more business that’s generated, we both do better.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s talk about the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, if we could.  As in the other compacts, there’s a $2 million flat fee to the Revenue Trust Fund; is that correct?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what was the Tribe currently paying into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?

MR. LEVINE:  It’s approximately $225- to $250,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, a little over $200,000 and that, then, increases to $2 million?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that’s about a seven times increase in the Special Distribution Fund?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That’s guaranteed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that is guaranteed over the life of the compact?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Chairman Macarro, I’m going to ask you the same question I’ve asked throughout this; I mean, is that enough or should we be doing more in terms of the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just your perspective.  We’re not going to amend it in the compact; I just want to get your thoughts on it.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  In present day dollars, it’s a several fold increase over what we currently do, and currently it’s more than anybody does.  We think if several of these compacts get approved, we think that that will be….it will have a nice critical mass that is currently not available in the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for non-gaming tribes in a way that substantially increases that fund as a guaranteed source of revenue for non-gaming tribes for the next 25 years.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me, just ask one question in terms of the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, there is language in this compact that deals with shortfalls; can you explain that?
MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  The money that goes to the State does have a provision in it that some of that money will be shifted to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund if there’s any _____ shortfall.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I appreciate that language; I would like to say that for the record.  

If we could, the net win calculations are going to be certified so that the State has some idea; how does that happen?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  Remember that under federal law these operations have to be made subject to annual certified audits, and the Tribe uses a nationally recognized auditor for that, so the net win is simply part of that calculation.  But in addition, the compact provides that there are quarterly certifications by the CFO from the Tribe.  And in addition to that, the State has the absolute right to come in and audit at least four times a year and see all of the records.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move onto Section 3 of the compact—the authorization and exclusivity sections.  The exclusivity core geographic region in this compact is?

MR. LEVINE:  Four counties; Riverside, San Diego, Orange, and Los Angeles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who determined this region?  Was it yourselves, the Governor’s Office?

MR. LEVINE:  It was a matter of negotiation.  Those were the logical counties, though, given the location of this tribe’s operation.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if the exclusivity is breached in these core locations other than by a federally recognized tribe, what are the consequences for the State, so we can understand those?

MR. LEVINE:  There are two types of consequences.  One has to do with the introduction of gaming devices within the core region, and in that instance, the revenue that the Tribe is paying to the State then disappears.  The second level is, if there are banking or percentage games introduced into a 100-mile radius within that region in rooms that have 25 or more card games, then that also causes a default to no revenue sharing, at least, for the first 2,000 machines.  Over and above that, however, if the Tribe continues to operate machines over 2,000, it’s still subject to the revenue sharing provisions.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s the 12.5 percent?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.  It’s reduced to 12.5.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And if it is also breached, the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, what happens with that, again? I’m sorry.

MR. LEVINE:  The Revenue Sharing Trust Fund is the provision…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you obligated, then, to pay if…

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  Twelve and a half percent on any machines over 2,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But not the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?

MR. LEVINE:  Not the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund; that’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, to be clear then, if there is a breach, then the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, no obligation for the Tribe to pay into that?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Tribe still obligated for intergovernmental entities under this compact; agreements?
MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  This compact addresses the relationship on a government to government basis between the Tribe and the local community governments and requires that they enter into an agreement—a negotiated agreement—with enforceable provisions regarding off-reservation impacts.  

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Mr. Chairman, my understanding, then, if the question is that if there’s a breach, a loss of exclusivity, whatever agreements are in place however, will still be in place.  The exclusivity terms primarily affect revenue sharing provisions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a nuance question to you in terms of the exclusivity provisions that address house banked and percentage card games; what can you tell us about that?  In your compact it seems a bit different.

MR. LEVINE:  Well, there’s a separate category of card games; it’s one of the permitted activities of the compact.  There are three primary activities:  one is, gaming devices; the second are card games that are percentage or banking; the third, games that the Lottery is permitted to operate.  And the percentage and banking card games comes out of California law that categorizes those kinds of games, and that’s typically games like, blackjack and other table games that have an interest by the house and the outcome of the game.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What happens if a card club ever gets the ability to conduct any of these games?  Is this a radius, a mile radius, and what is that radius and how does that work?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  One hundred miles; right?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  A 100-mile radius.

MR. LEVINE:  Within the core geographic area.  Which is a reduction from the ’99 compacts, which had a statewide impact for breaches of the exclusivity provision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But this wouldn’t apply to card clubs or card rooms that have 25 tables or less?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So if your card club has 25 tables or less you can still enter into some of these house banked games but yet not breach exclusivity within a 100-mile radius?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, in the county identified areas.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move onto Section 4 and 5, if we could.  These, obviously, address the testing of gaming devices.  And there is a new standard in this particular compact for gaming devices.  All the current devices meet the standard as put forth in the amended compacts?

MR. LEVINE:  They do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Does the Gaming Control Commission have the ability to perform random inspections?  
MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that different than the ’99 compact?

MR. LEVINE:  It’s just more explicit.  Actually, the ’99 compacts does hold the tribes to meet standards, and the market standard right now is the same one that everyone is using—that’s what they call GLI-11.  But this gives comfort in that it spells it out much more explicitly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is there anything that you would add in terms of the building standard language in this compact as compared to the 

’99 compacts?
MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  The amendment ties much more closely to local codes, whereas the ’99 standard with essentially the same codes, but it was described as the ’97 Uniform Building Code.  Most of those have been upgraded by tribes anyway, but now there’s a direct tie.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move onto Section 6—patron disputes.  Binding arbitration, obviously, seems to be the standard throughout the new amended compacts, but have there ever been problems with patron disputes particularly at Pechanga?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  No.  By and large the process under the current compact has worked efficiently.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  There’s also a provision speaking about the establishment of a tribal court system; is that feasible in your view?  Any thoughts on establishing one or is this just the language that…

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  No, there are definite thoughts of moving toward the establishment of a tribal court at Pechanga and many tribes.  Some neighboring tribes in North San Diego County recently, I believe, this past calendar year, established an intertribal court.  Many tribes throughout the United States have had tribal courts for two or three decades.  California is in the process of some very basic….California Indian country, I should say, is in the process of some very basic institution building.  And so, tribal courts we regard at Pechanga as an essential function for the long-term in a number of subject matter areas.  And this would be one; we wanted to preserve the ability to have patron disputes heard in a tribal jurisdiction as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And on that line, let’s move on to Section 7, and I guess the question I would have is, that if we’re dealing with tort liability ordinances, California law, at this point, governs; is that correct?

MR. LEVINE:  California law, that is a substantive of law, California governs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All claims?

MR. LEVINE:  All claims—all tort claims, with certain exceptions.  Punitive damages are eliminated, things of that sort.  That’s also been the case not only in the ’99 compacts, but most governments eliminate those areas.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And so, you keep your sovereignty in regard to those punitive damages, is that correct?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  The punitive damages are not part of the Tort Claims Act.  And again, most governments also eliminate them; their own Tort Claims Acts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  There’s still an opportunity in this compact, you have to move through administrative remedies prior to resolving issues?  So in other words, the Tribe has its own administrative remedies, and is that in place now at the moment?

MR. LEVINE:  Yes, it is.  There is a system of making claims through the tribal system.  Again, it’s not unlike other governmental systems where you first have to make your claim administratively and follow that process and then if you’re dissatisfied then you proceed to a court or an arbitration process.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move to Section 8, which is our standard workers’ compensation language.  But it does seem to say that the Tribe can establish its own system, or join the current system; is there an opportunity there, and what is Pechanga going to do under this section, ultimately?

MR. LEVINE:  Most tribes, Pechanga included, have established their own system.  That is, they follow a system that’s underwritten by an insurance company, or group of insurance companies, that has been providing workers compensation benefits to tribes, the advantage of which it’s a much faster system than the state system, but it has to be comparable in every sense and the State can monitor that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto Section 9, which is mitigation or off-reservation impacts.  The tribe is to prepare, obviously, an environmental impact report as defined under the amended compacts; that’s planned, or is there a thought for one at this point in time?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That’s a new procedure.  Essentially, the current process the Tribe prepares its own environmental report under a NEPA, CEQA type check list.  The new requirement actually stipulates us to follow the CEQA checklist so everybody knows what the subject matter elements are going to be in such a report.  So it brings the same standards that the State currently requires of development projects elsewhere.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the off-reservation impacts to Intergovernmental Agreements, those are agreements already in place?

MR. LEVINE:  They’re not; they’re agreements that the Tribe feels confident, though, that it will be able to reach with the local and county governments.  They have a good relationship.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  In particular, we are working on those agreements with the City of Temecula and the County of Riverside, and so they’re pending.  We’ll likely get to the finish line first with the city and then the counties will ensue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The City of Temecula?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  The City of Temecula.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’ve got to mitigate your expansion with them?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Our boundaries are contiguous with those of the City of Temecula and the County of Riverside and the United States with regard to the Cleveland National Forest.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I asked that is that the City of Temecula, as I remember it, is putting something across from your current facility at this point in time—housing?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  A housing project?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  A residential property?
CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  There’s some discussion about a road.  It’s a county facility.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just asking.  I mean, did they offer you any mitigation for that?  It’s a one-way street; right?  So in other words…

MR. LEVINE:  As the Chairman indicated, I’ve represented the Tribe for many years, and when I started, those were all empty fields in the…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  I guess I’m making a point; that in this, it is a one-way mitigation and local governments that will impinge upon your sovereign land at some point don’t have to offer the same type of mitigation; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  That is correct.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You don’t have to comment on it.  It’s my comment, but I just think that’s….I want people to recognize this isn’t a dual mitigation process, this is something different.  Just a couple of more questions, Chairman Macarro, and then I’ll ask members if they have a few more.  And then we’ll move on.
The first, obviously, is a gaming addiction.  I think you’ve heard me mention it throughout the first day of the hearings.  It’s a very important topic for the committee; very important for us given that we have legislation to restructure gambling addiction in the State of California.  What has the Tribe done to deal with this issue?  

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  On property, there’s some particular things that we do.  In particular, we post numbers.  We make sure numbers are available for gambling addiction hotlines.  Employees are trained however, to also spot would-be or likely problem gamblers.  And intervention is sometimes engaged in where those problems appear to occur.  As well, patrons are offered the opportunity to remove themselves from the premises for periods of time, in particular.  That’s a completely voluntary program.  But we basically help customers remove themselves—exclude themselves, from the property for six months, a year, or indefinitely.  And then, security will help keep them off the premises.

Now collectively, too, let me point out, though, that tribes, under the current compacts for instance (and this will continue), but tribes under the current compacts have put more money toward problem gambling than any other entity ever has in the State of California.  And I think the notion was, the money would be dedicated for this purpose out of the original compacts in ’99 and then the State would decide how best to establish those programs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And there is still an opportunity at Pechanga for folks to opt out if they recognize themselves that they’re problem gamblers?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, that’s a self-exclusion program.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Two more questions now on labor.  And I think you hit it somewhat sufficiently in your opening, but I do want to ask the question in a different way than maybe I’ve asked in the last three compacts, and that is, has there been any efforts to organize your employees at Pechanga?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes, there have been.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And can you tell us a little bit about that from your perspective?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, my understanding is that the union made access to our facility for three months on consecutive days over a three month period and established a, I don’t know what to call it, it’s a table, a standard three by six folding table, right outside of our employee dining room.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Chairman Macarro, can I interrupt you for a moment?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sergeants, can we shut the door for a moment?  I’d really like to hear this, and believe it or not, I can’t.  Thank you.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Okay, in answer to your question about past organizing attempts at Pechanga.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Access was made by the union to set up a table and permission was given under the terms of the, I think it’s Section 8 of the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance, and for a three month period organizers were in the heart of the Pechanga Resort and Casino, which is just outside our employee dining room in a major hallway intersection.  And they had the chance to chat with employees for three months and attempt to get them to sign cards and sign up for the union.  So that’s our experience.  After a three month period, they went away.  But every day the organizers had to log in, per security procedures, they had to log in, put their IDs out and they were temporarily badged as visitors who go to the back of house do.  And so, the process actually worked quite well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a question about the National Labor Relations Board.  I think I asked yesterday about the recent court decision; any thoughts on that and how it would impact the Tribe’s labor relations?

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, I have a layman’s understanding.  Our initial thought was that the ruling by the district court in, I think it was the district court.

MR. LEVINE:  It was the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  The Court of Appeals in Washington D.C., that their issuance in this case was tantamount to being the law of the land.  However, my understanding, then, is that the Tribe, San Manuel, has requested an en banc rehearing of the case so that it’s not yet law of the land pending the outcome of the result of the hearing of the en banc.  So, the status quo, then, is what governs at this moment, which, then, is the TLRO.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I’m not going to ask Mr. Levine to go any further than that because you’ll just confuse me, I know that for sure.  I like the layman’s version.  I actually understood that better than yesterday, so I’ll take Chairman Macarro’s explanation.  It makes a lot more sense to us.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  But let me just add one post script, then.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Well, I’m not going to prognosticate.  We’ll wait and see what happens with…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  That was a good explanation.  I appreciate that.  Members, are there any questions for Chairman Macarro or Mr. Levine?

Mr. Chairman, I hope you can stick around.  You have the option to come up after hearing any other testimony in opposition.  And we’d like to close with that, and then we’ll see you in a few moments, if we could.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee.
MR. LEVINE:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there anyone in support of the compact that would like to come up?  Mr. Wyman.

PHIL WYMAN:  Mr. Chairman, members, again, thank you.  This gaming is located on recognized ancestral land.  We salute them for their enterprise, and the Chemehuevi Indian Tribe supports them.  Also, particularly, their tribal language emersion school program is a wonderful project and we encourage more tribes to do the same.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Wyman.  I appreciate the testimony.  Okay, those who are in opposition to the compact have the opportunity at this point.  And as we are preparing for this portion of the hearing, can I see a show of hands of people who are going to testify?  Great, so these two, and then we’re going to close on the compact.

ANNA ROY:  Hi.  My name is Anna Roy, and I worked at both the Agua Caliente and the Moronga Casinos for a total of about two years.  And I speak Spanish, so over the two years that I worked there I got a chance to speak to hundreds of employees and I know what it’s like to work in the tribal casino industry.  I wanted to talk about several points that were brought up in yesterday’s hearings and let you know how it is from the workers’ point of view in these tribal casinos.

I didn’t work at Pechanga, but I know that workers at Pechanga did receive the same antiunion letters that we received at Agua Caliente and Morongo.  And somebody said yesterday that they’re just trying to tell us our rights under TLRO, and that’s just not true.  These letters are intimidating; they are threatening to us.  When the company puts out these letters, they silence everybody.  I remember getting one from Morongo and it talked about there’s union agents going around and it made it sound like we should be on the defensive against the union.  And they were very confusing and I think the casino tries to mystify the whole process for workers so we don’t really understand our rights.  And they go into the paychecks and they blow them up really big so you can’t miss them.  They put them in places, like the cafeteria, where you see them.  

And then somebody talked about licensing; why doesn’t UNITE HERE get licensing?  Even if the union was licensed and were to go into the cafeteria, a lot of workers, we wouldn’t risk our jobs to go talk to the union in the cafeteria where there’s cameras everywhere, security guards, or managers walking around.  Nobody would stick their neck out like that, even if the union was licensed—just to refute that.  It is risky.  Without the neutrality, it’s meaningless.  Access into the casino, it doesn’t mean anything because we need special protection.  If we’re going to risk our jobs and talk to the union, we need additional protection.

And then, people have said why organize under…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would that special protection be?

MS. ROY:  Card check neutrality.  We want a neutrality agreement.  Because if the casino is not against it then why don’t they just sign neutrality so that we know that we are protected and our rights are protected and respected.

And another thing is that, even under TLRO, if the company were to retaliate against us for union activity, which they have done, our first step under TLRO would be to go to the Tribe themselves; that’s the first recourse that we would have under a TLRO.  And under NLRA, we would go to the NLRB, but the NLRB is a neutral agency.  When you go to the NLRB, you’re identity is protected, the accusation that you’re making is protected while they investigate.  Under TLRO, you go to the Tribe to complain about the Tribe, you know, they’re not neutral because we know that our managers have relationships with people in the Tribe, and few people ever do that because you’re risking your job there again.

Also, as you know, and as we workers know, it’s not….working on Indian land we don’t have the same rights and protection.  If you’re discriminated against you can’t go to any outside agencies.  If you get hurt, you don’t get treated well with the workers’ comp system; you don’t get treated fairly.  They don’t even have to pay the State minimum wage if they don’t want to.  

And also, we know that there’s no real rights on tribal land.  You can’t sue them, and that includes real rights to organize.  And besides that, tribal casino workers, we need the union more because we are more vulnerable because of that.

While I was working at the casino, I was on the CARE program, a government subsidized program for my electricity bill, and that’s just the norm—people on government subsidy.  

So, we want the same rights and the same fair process that workers at the casinos owned by the Pala, Rumsey, Lytton, and Chukchansi Tribes, we want that same exact standard and process that they had—that fair process to organize a union that were in the 2004 compacts.  We think that’s a good standard.  

So, me, myself, speaking for thousands of workers, we urge you to vote “No” on these compacts until they include the card check neutrality language.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Battin has a question.  But let me ask you a question just generally.  Now, you don’t work at Pechanga but you have a letter (we have it) and so I’m just kind of wondering, we’re talking about Pechanga’s compact, I guess my question would be, and I’m going to ask the Administration this as well, but, you know, on one hand we have a sovereign that’s interested in gaining additional revenue, that would be the State of California, on the other hand we have, as you’ve mentioned quite extensively, the 2004 compacts and the unions thought process that that works and this is something that you want, at least at Pechanga and some of the others, and you’re talking about a lot of different other tribes, so let me mention the Tribe here, and maybe, Mr. Gribbon, you can answer it, or maybe you can answer it, but, you know, we have this tiny tribe called the Buena Vista Indians in Amador County and we signed an agreement with them in a 2004 compact for card check and the State was supposed to get $50 million from that compact, we haven’t received one dime, and that compact has card check, and so I’m wondering, where is the union support for those folks in terms of card check?  I mean, I haven’t seen any push…
MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Florez, that’s simple; the Buena Vista Tribe has not opened a casino yet.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, I mean, is that same voracity going to be there when….I mean, the State doesn’t seem to be moving very quickly on that.  In fact, we seem to be standing in the way of that particular issue.  And I do know that there’s been some strides to get that going.  But this county, and Amador County is just, kind of, holding everybody hostage to this and I’m just asking a letter from a commitment point of view,  I mean, you have a card check, you have a card check compact there, I mean, where’s the same sort of push?  How can we get the red shirts involved in that particular battle because we are losing revenue there for the State of California, as well?

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, we’ve been very supportive of the Buena Vista Tribe not the least of which was helping to achieve a two-thirds majority ratification to their compact in 2004, and we’ll do whatever else we can to help that tribe move forward and other tribes who don’t have the benefit of having their compacts heard in these hearings yesterday and today.  And if you have particular thoughts about how the red shirts could be helpful, we’re very open to that and we’d love to do it.  We’ll stand with you…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  I’m just wondering, you mentioned other tribes.  We do have compacts with card check in them that aren’t working, so I guess the point is, is that…

MS. ROY:  I don’t think the card check neutrality is what’s standing in the way.  Whatever that casino and that tribe does with their casino is their business, but we know that when it does open there’s card check neutrality so workers there will have the right to organize fairly and with…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Senator Battin, you had a question.

SENATOR BATTIN:  To actually follow-up on Senator Florez’s, you don’t work at Pehanga; you worked at Pechanga?

MS. ROY:  I have worked at Agua Caliente and Morongo for a total of two years, and so, I have a lot of experience working in the casino industry.  I worked in the employee cafeteria at Morongo.  I’ve spoken to lots of employees.  I speak Spanish.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.  You left Agua and Morongo for what reason?

MS. ROY:  Well, I left Morongo on an emergency to go out of the country.

SENATOR BATTIN:  But neither place were you fired for trying to organize a union?

MS. ROY:  I wasn’t fired.  In my first day of orientation at Agua Caliente, we were spoken to negatively about the union by the HR representative, Carl.  Even before we stepped foot in the casino on the first day of orientation, he spoke to us negatively about the union and said that they just followed you around and they couldn’t help you.  And I was in a meeting at Agua Caliente, a mandatory forced meeting where we had to go in as employees and it was a woman who said, “Oh, I’ll take notes; tell me what you really think about the company.”  And we knew she was just there to spy on us.  And I knew it was a union busting firm.  And at the end she didn’t even show us the notes.  Everybody was too afraid to say anything negative.  They just said, “Oh, the general manager is really nice.”  And these were forced meetings.  
SENATOR BATTIN:  That is your personal interpretation of what happened?

MS. ROY:  Yes.  I know that she didn’t work at the casino; they just brought her in and had her, like, have meetings with all the different workers, all the different departments, and write down whatever we said, and nobody felt safe, not after the letters we received.

And I know at Morongo of two engineers who got fired for making flyers for the union.

SENATOR BATTIN:  And any letter that you’ve received, did any tribe ever say that if you joined the union or advocated for the union that they would fire you?

MS. ROY:  I was not told that personally.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Have you heard of anybody that it’s ever happened to?

MS. ROY:  Yes.  Actually, at Morongo, on the graveyard shift of casino housekeeping, they have had meetings where they’ve sat down employees and they’ve told them, “Anyone found to be in the union will be terminated.”  And my coworkers are too afraid to come up here and say that.  But they have had these meetings and they know who to go after.  They go after the departments where they’re weak and they do it on the graveyard shift, for instance, where it’s a lot of immigrant workers—people too afraid to come up here and say that.  And even on the swing shift they’ve told people, “No one here is allowed to petition anything.”  They wanted to petition for jackets because it gets cold on the reservation and they were told by their supervisor “No one here can petition anything or you’ll be out the door.”  So not even for the union, just for bringing up issues, people have been threatened, yeah, to lose their jobs.
SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.  So people that won’t say who they are have told you and you’re telling us that they have been threatened by the tribes?

MS. ROY:  No, those workers have been up here to lobby and they have told those stories to the legislators, yes.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Wouldn’t there be a legal….well, I’ll say this for 
Mr. Gribbon—wouldn’t there be a legal action then, if they violated the TLRO if they said someone was fired for organizing…

MR. GRIBBON:  See, one of the many, many deficiencies in the TLRO is that it does not create an individual right to process a grievance in a way that an individual is protected.  So when you are threatened with termination, what you do is, you ensure that if you go to the Tribe and say, “I want to exercise my rights to organize a union,” when you’ve already been told by management if you do that, we’re going to fire you.  So, you have to understand, these folks are very, very low wage workers.  They have a very, very difficult life economically and sometimes otherwise, and to have your job threatened is a major, major, major threat.

SENATOR BATTIN:  When the TLRO was signed and negotiated by former Senator Burton and former Assemblyman Villaraigosa, you guys were involved in that; right?

MR. GRIBBON:  We were involved in that.  We had a lengthy discussion about this yesterday.  We refused the final piece of that.  Although, Senator Burton, then the pro Tem, and Speaker Villaraigosa came back to us at about 4:00 in the morning and said, “This is as far as we can get, and we have been guaranteed by the tribes that they will live up to the spirit and the intent of this TLRO, even if it doesn’t have the teeth.”  And that has not been the case, Senator Battin.

SENATOR BATTIN:  And you didn’t support the TLRO then?
MR. GRIBBON:  No, we did not.

SENATOR BATTIN:  In the Los Angeles Times on September 11, 1999, you’re quoted:  “Jack Gribbon of the Hotel Employees and Restaurant Employees International Union said that an accord had been reached.  ‘It’s finished.  It’s done,’ he said, adding that it represents the first time Indians have made significant compromises with labor.”  Then after that passed and then we went into Proposition 1A, which was basically dealing with those ’99 compacts, there was a press release that was put out:  “We commend California tribes for acknowledging the importance of workers’ rights,” said Jack Gribbon, California political director for HERE.  “Proposition 1A is a solution that California needs to address Indian gaming.  The thousands of workers employed at Indian casinos serve as a foundation of the gaming industry in California and they deserve the same basic employment rights afforded workers in the off-reservation commercial gambling industry.  Proposition 1A ensures workers this right, as well as meets the needs of tribes to establish economic self-reliance.”  

And then the ballot recommendation, not you directly, it was from the California Labor Federation ballot recommendation in the 2000 election.  It says, “The TLRO provides workers have the right to organize and bargain collectively.  It prohibits tribal employers from interfering with, coercing, or retaliating against workers for their union activity.  It gives unions access to casino workers on the employers’ premises during non-working times and in non-working areas.  It provides for a secret ballot union representation upon a 30 percent showing of interest by workers.  Proposition 1A is a negotiated compromise that satisfies all other parties, including labor unions.”  
Is this all because now card check neutrality is the dangling thing out there that you guys want?

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, let me explain a couple of things, Senator Battin.  First and foremost, you know those quotes are accurate.  
SENATOR BATTIN:  I hope so.

MR. GRIBBON:  However, that does not discount the fact that we rejected the TLRO in 1999, and you can ask Art Pulaski that.  Now, in addition to that, we were told, and again, by Senator Burton, as well as Speaker Villaraigosa, that they were told that the tribes would live up to these agreements in good faith—the spirit and intent of these agreements.  And we were told subsequently, that we should live up in good faith going forward, in particular with respect to the passage of Prop. 1A, to show our good faith in hopes that the tribes would live up in good faith, as well.  It hasn’t occurred.  But that does not change the fact that we rejected that agreement on that night, September 29th, I think it was, 1999.

SENATOR BATTIN:  You should have said something different to the Los Angeles Times, then.

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, that’s really up to me, Senator Battin, and you can say whatever you want, as well.  But the fact of the matter is, is we rejected it.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I’m not saying anything; I’m reading what The Los Angeles Times quoted you as saying.

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, I understand that.

SENATOR BATTIN:  And your argument is with yourself, it’s not with me.

MR. GRIBBON:  No, it’s with you.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Now, this isn’t a handshake deal in saying “Hey, okay, you do it/we’ll do it,” it’s a legal document that is evidentiary in court.  And if the tribes weren’t living up to it, if they were firing people that came in to try to organize, if they were denying access to the reservation to organize, you would have a very valid and successful court case.  And I’m sure that you would take advantage of it.

MR. GRIBBON:  Actually, it wouldn’t be a court case, Senator Battin; it would be in front of the Tribal Labor Relations Panel.  But let’s just take one example here:  The union asked for licensure at the Barona Casino, which is not one of the compacts up for renegotiation and ratification.  After four years and $6,000 of payments for licensing at the Barona Casino, an arbitrator ruled that the Barona Tribe had violated the TLRO by keeping the union from having access for four years.  Subsequently after that decision was handed down by the Tribal Relations Panel, the Barona Tribe said, “Okay, you’ve got access now.”  They set up a table in the cafeteria right under a surveillance camera with a huge sign saying, “Union Sign-Up Table.”  How many workers do you think came up to that table?  Not one.  They were terrified, and with good reason.  
SENATOR BATTIN:  They were terrified because of what?

MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Battin, you need to understand, there’s quite a bit of difference from sitting where you sit as a highly paid elected official in this state and being a dishwasher in the bowels of the casino.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Actually, I was a dishwasher.

MR. GRIBBON:  There’s quite a big difference there.  Who’ve got children that they’re trying to support; who are one paid check or less from the street.  There’s real fear.  And that’s why an unadulterated ability to organize is important, whether or not workers choose to do that.  

SENATOR BATTIN:  According to Chairman Macarro, HERE went to Pechanga and attempted to organize there for three months and didn’t get enough signatures; is that what happened?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, the Chairman did not say that my union staffed the table at the casino.  The Chairman said “a union” did.  My union did not.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Oh, it wasn’t yours?  It wasn’t HERE?

MR. GRIBBON:  That’s right.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Well, on that vein, something that I….actually, if the CWA rep is here again today, it would be interesting to know, why, and this is just….I’m going to show my ignorance in how the internal union workings are, why is it that HERE is the only one that gets to try to organize these casinos?  Why, if the Communication Workers of America want to offer the employees something, and maybe they can do a better job, are they excluded from doing it?
MR. GRIBBON:  First of all, there is no legal requirement and it would be illegal to actually try to have the kind of requirement that workers do not have a choice to choose their own collective bargaining agent.

SENATOR BATTIN:  It certainly sounded like yesterday they were told that they couldn’t do it.

MR. GRIBBON:  Let me finish, Mr. Battin.  But what the labor movement tries to do in an internal way—in an internal way, is the labor movement tries to do what the business community has done for many, many, many years, and as a businessman you should understand this, and that is, to try to focus on a particular industry in order to build a standard in that industry, in order to be able to represent workers in a majority sense in an industry, to be able to raise the standard.  For instance, our union represents 68,000 workers in Las Vegas, Nevada.  As the result of that, we’ve been able to bargain effectively for not only living wages, but middle class wages; full family health care.  Our members are able to buy homes in that city, which has been one of the fastest growing cities for the last 10 years, I believe, and housing prices have gone through the roof.  They have pensions that they can retire on because we have been able to have an impact on the entire industry.  

The labor, smartly, took a cue from the business community.  If you’re going to run a corporation, I would be surprised if you would have a scatter shot approach to that.  You have a particular way of looking at where’s your experience; where’s your ability to grow; where’s your ability to actually have an impact?

SENATOR BATTIN:  But that’s just not true.  They don’t say you’re the only person that gets to sell cars in this market, they say, everybody gets to sell cars in this market.

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, who’s saying that nobody….I mean, here’s the thing, and this is what you need to understand…

SENATOR BATTIN:  Well, wait a second.  At the time, CWA….it’s changed since then, I’ll grant you that, because you’re not allowing any other union to organize.  But at the time, CWA represented more California Indian gaming workers than HERE did because they had Viejas, and they had San Manuel, and there was nothing else.  But then the axe came down and CWA was no longer allowed.  Now, according to his testimony yesterday, it certainly sounded like they had…it sounded like a hearing, “They ruled that they couldn’t do it anymore and so we backed out.  We can’t organize.”

MS. ROY:  Sorry to interrupt, but…

SENATOR BATTIN:  If you know something about the internal workings of the labor movement, feel free.
MS. ROY:  Well, speaking from the point of view of a casino worker, UNITE HERE was already organizing at Morongo and Agua Caliente.  We want to be represented by UNITE HERE.  I want to be represented by a union that’s strong and organizes casinos.  And I personally don’t want to be represented by a union that should be organizing communications industries.
SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.  

MS. ROY:  So from the workers point of view, we already had a campaign and, you know, we’re here fighting fro UNITE HERE.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  The Communication Workers of America had been in two casinos and they’d organized them already, and they tried Morongo, and actually, Morongo was the one where they were told they had to back out.

MS. ROY:  Yeah, because I was working at Morongo.  The UNITE HERE had a campaign at Morongo.

SENATOR BATTIN:  It wasn’t because of you.  Please.  It was not because of you; it was because the AFL-CIO said, “You can’t organize there and they backed out.”

MS. ROY:  Right, because we already had a campaign.
MR. BROAD:  Senator Battin, Barry Broad, on behalf of the Teamsters.  Let me explain this in terms of how it really works.  At one time there was an AFL and a CIO and they spent a lot of time rating each other’s unions.  So what they did when they merged was create….it’s a voluntary association of unions.  They bind themselves to a way of determining jurisdiction so that the labor movement doesn’t waste its time fighting with one another.  They focus their energies on organizing workers and it’s been, by and large, effective over the years, and that’s the process that occurred here.  If unions don’t want to be bound by the internal rules of the AFL-CIO, they don’t have to be in the AFL-CIO, and there are unions that are in it and unions that are not for that purpose.  

That being said, it’s not different than when a bunch of Republicans, this is stuff that you would understand, would get together and say, “Hey, we’re going to anoint this guy to be the candidate.”  Nobody’s bound by that.  It’s a voluntary deal that you guys put together to figure out who’s going to be the candidate because you want to win the election and you want to be the most successful.  And that’s all it amounts to.  
This is not an issue here before this Legislature of who’s the union that’s more appropriate to represent the workers?  Federal law clearly prohibits you guys from having any opinion about that whatsoever.  I mean, it’s not relevant.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I appreciate that.  And I just didn’t understand why the workers don’t have a choice, and if they wanted one union or another to organize them, I honestly didn’t understand how that was the case.  And it appears to me, that the labor bosses have said, this is going to be the only option that you have and any other union is not going to be able to do it.

MR. BROAD:  Well, what it prohibits is, let’s say in this case you take CWA and UNITE HERE; what happened in the earlier history of the labor movement is, let’s say UNITE HERE wanted to organize casino workers and CWA wanted to organize casino workers too, and they would fight over it and then the next thing you know, is UNITE HERE would go try to organize the workers at the phone company and then what that would create is a giant internal war.  And so this is a voluntary way of resolving that.  The thing with the union bosses, that’s the rhetoric of right wingism in America.  There aren’t union bosses.  They’re elected just like you people are, and it’s a democratic process.  They’re not the boss.  And I sort of resent that kind of rhetoric because it’s not fair.  They’re not the boss.  This is something that they’ve agreed to democratically as part of the democratic process that exists within the labor movement; and CWA agreed to it; and UNITE HERE agreed to it; and all the unions in the AFL-CIO agreed to it, and that’s how it works.
SENATOR BATTIN:  So in 1999, when those compacts were ratified, CWA did go and organize Viejas and San Manuel, so apparently that agreement was not in place then.

MR. GRIBBON:  That wasn’t 1999, Senator Battin; it was 1998.  It was prior to the TLRO.  And also, just to correct you, the workers, under the TLRO, ostensibly or allegedly, I guess, and under federal law, have the right to choose their own collective bargaining representatives.  It’s up to the workers, at the end of the day, to make a decision about who they want to represent them.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay, come on.  CWA was here yesterday saying that they went to Morongo, that they were wanting to organize Morongo, and then were pulled back by the AFL-CIO, so some of the workers didn’t have any choice.  They didn’t have any choice, because maybe they wanted CWA.

MR. GRIBBON:  How can you say that workers don’t have a choice?

SENATOR BATTIN:  Because CWA backed out because they were told to, that’s why.

MR. GRIBBON:  So you’re telling me that a worker has no ability on their own to think, to decide, to reach out?

SENATOR BATTIN:  He or she doesn’t have the ability to go to CWA because they’ve been told they can’t do it.
MR. GRIBBON:  No, they have not.  The workers have not been told that.

SENATOR BATTIN:  The union was told to back out.  We’re splitting hairs here and you know it.

MR. GRIBBON:  You are splitting hairs here and it has nothing really to do, in our view, with the issues at hand.  The issues at hand should be enforceable organizing.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Can CWA come organize…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, let’s do this; let’s get back to the issues at hand.  Let’s get back to the Pechanga Compact and…

MR. GRIBBON:  Thank you.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Well, let me do that by this question.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

SENATOR BATTIN:  You said it was not UNITE HERE that went to the Pechanga Reservation to organize them; who was it then?

MR. GRIBBON:  I don’t know.

SENATOR BATTIN:  So maybe the Chair can enlighten us.  But there was a labor union that was there trying to organize, he said, for three months and you’re saying it was not UNITE HERE.

MR. GRIBBON:  That’s correct.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay.  On the compact.
MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Florez, members, my name is Jack Gribbon.  I represent UNITE HERE, 500,000 workers in the United States and Canada.  A very big piece of our union is the gaming industry, both tribal and commercial. We have over 100,000 members, nationally, in the gaming industry.

As has been described in hearings yesterday and today’s hearing, earlier, as has been evidenced by letters, we believe it’s a fact that there is antiunion animus at the Pechanga Casino and at other casinos in the State of California, where that should not be the case given that workers should be allowed to, in our view, organize collectively and move their issues; living wages, health care, job security, etcetera, and we believe, as your representatives, you should ensure that.

Another fact is that 5,000 workers have organized under the organizing rights that were provided for in the 2004 compacts in our State, whereas not one worker has organized under the 1999 TLRO.  That’s also a fact and that demonstrates, we believe, in a factual way, that the ’99 TLRO is deficient, whereas the 2004 compact creates some type of a balance.
However, putting all of that aside, let’s just assume for a second, that the statements by a couple of the workers from the Pechanga Casino earlier who accompanied the chairman of that tribe, let’s just assume that their statements represent a majority of the workers in the Pechanga’s casino in that they believe they have good employment standards, they have an employer who treats them with dignity and respect, that they have the outcomes on their job that they deserve concomitant with the work that they do, affording those workers an enforceable right to organize does not change that.  In fact, I would argue by the evidence here, that the Pechanga Tribe is not interested in a union organizing inside their casino.  That, just the fact that the workers would have an unadulterated right to organize would tend to ensure that the benefits and the treatment that the workers who were here this morning, and let’s just assume for a second the majority of workers feel that way, to ensure that that treatment continues on until 2030, which would be the full scope and length of this agreement.  Moreover, and this is extremely important, as we know, these negotiations have been government to government—the government of California with the tribal government—just as the government changes in the State of California and we have elections and as a result of those elections often in California, policies change, perspectives change.  Over the next 23 years, the entire tribal council in the Pechanga Tribe, could change.  They could change their perspective.  They could change their policy.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  If they could change their perspective, does that mean that at some point in time they could support card check without it being in the compact?

MR. GRIBBON:  That’s true.  And at the same time what they could do…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just asking.  I mean, you think things change, so.

MR. GRIBBON:  Yet, but here’s the point, Dean.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. GRIBBON:  Excuse me, Senator Florez.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s okay, Jack.

MR. GRIBBON:  Here’s the point:  The point is that it’s left to the employer.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.

MR. GRIBBON:  And, I mean, that’s really the point here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.

MR. GRIBBON:  We want to have some kind of a balance given, in particular, the enormous wealth of this industry, the fact that the workers are the engine behind that wealth, the fact that these compacts go on ‘til 2030, the fact that these workers do not enjoy the same rights as workers off-reservation do, the fact that 5,000 workers have been able to organize under the conditions that we’re asking for with respect to this.  So, those are all facts and we would ask you to support, the most vulnerable people in this state who do not enjoy the same rights as other workers do off-reservation and ensure that they enjoy the same rights that workers who have organized under the 2004 compact language have, and we don’t think that that’s too much to ask.
Thank you very much.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Can I comment?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Yes, Senator Vincent.

SENATOR VINCENT:  You know, I’m sitting in this chair about to blow up listening to some of this conversation.  Let’s talk about the facts.  Let’s talk about the real facts.  And I’m going to show you the facts.  And these are facts.  When you’re talking about what’s going to happen in 2030, this is what’s happening today.  
In November 1998, the California voters approved, 60 percent vote, Proposition 5.  That was Tribal Government Gaming Economic Self-Sufficiency, the Act of 1998.  Anyway, you know it was sponsored by the tribes who authorized a full range of gambling on Indian lands.  However, Proposition 5 was a statutory initiative of a prohibition against the casino gambling and was the State’s Constitution, which the Supreme Court found, the initiative to be unconstitutional in a 1999 decision.  
In March of 2000, two-thirds of the State’s voters voted in favor of Proposition 1A, which was placed on the ballot by the governor and the Legislature and supported by more than 80 of the State’s 108 federally recognized tribes.  Proposition A1 authorized the Governor with the approval of the Legislature, to negotiate and conclude acts for the operation of slot machines, lottery games and banking and a percentage of card clubs by federally recognized Indian tribes.  
Now, I kind of know what it is not to be recognized.  I know what segregation is.  I know what persecution is.  Let me say this, when that happened, 
Mr. Villaraigosa and John Burton, I talked to them and I told them….because I was with the tribes before they had slot machines, before they had them.  When the tribes got to the situation where they could have slot machines, they wanted ________ and we went through all this racial thing, so what happened?  So they did get the slot machines and things worked pretty good.  
But you know what?  What I like, what I like is horseracing.  And you know what that….let me give you some facts what that’s done to horseracing. 
What we had in California, in this great state, this is what we had:  We had the State’s largest professional sport.  We created over 52,500 direct industry jobs.  Agriculture producing goods and services were valued at $3.4 billion; overall 
$11.4 billion impact on the State’s economy; attracted 15 million spectators a year; preserved more than 150,000 acres of agricultural land; and listen to this, received no taxpayer subsidies; contributes to the State and county fairs, universities in California and wildlife restoration and local charities.  
Now, today, what we find now, we go in these charges, that’s fine….and I was surprised to hear Battin was saying some of things he was saying….but here’s the facts, and I’ve given it to everybody in the Senate and Assembly, see what it says up there?  It says, “The reason why this is a critical moment in the history of California horseracing.”  We used to be everything.  We’re nothing here now.  

And then let me give you another good example.  And this happened.  I don’t know why it happened.  I was born in Steubenville, Ohio.  Steubenville, Ohio is near the Ohio River.  The Monongahela and Allegheny floats into the Ohio, so you know what I’m talking….there’s Pennsylvania, there’s West Virginia and Ohio….Prairie Meadows….incidentally, I went to the University of Iowa.  I graduated from there.  Prairie Meadows is in Ohio.  Where I was born was near West Virginia and Ohio—Mountaineer Track.  Here’s the situation:  Mountaineer and Prairie Meadows were going out of business.  The same thing is happening here almost.  You know what?  They’ve got slot machines now.  They’re doing a great business—a great business.  Because people can’t wait to leave California and go to these states where they do have that.
Now, let’s be honest about this situation:  we’ve tried to do some things here and I was with the Indians….I studied the Indians when Cochise and Geronimo was fighting, and one thing they said, and it’s going to happen again, when the meeting was held Cochise told Geronimo, “Look, we’ve got to get along with the white man; we’ve got to stay on the reservations; we’ve got to do what we’re supposed to do; and we cannot offend them.”  Well, what happens most of the time, the white man came on the Indian’s land looking for gold, and when the Indians fought back, the white man was riding horses with saddles on them.  The Indians was riding horses without saddles and had a halter as a bit.  And you know what happened to the Indians?  The Indians even left this country and went to Mexico—went to Mexico.  Our army, under Garfield, went to Mexico and brought the Indians back and put them on reservations.  So I understand the Indian thing.  
What I’m saying here now, we have an opportunity, if you….let’s talk about the Triple Crown—the Derby, the Preakness, the Belmont, those three tracks.  I’ve been to all three of them.  Do you realize that Del Mar, Santa Anita and Hollywood Park would make those places look like dumps?  There’s no comparison if you went and looked at them.  
Now I see Kirk Breed here.  Do you know what Kirk Breed told me some time ago and Rick Baedeker?  When I was talking about this, and I had books out—everybody got them—and I had this book The Reason Why it’s a Critical Moment in the History of Horseracing, and it is.  And the bottom line is, when we did try to get some slot machines at our racing tracks….and I’m not for proliferation of gambling all over, but with the Hustler and Hollywood Park that’s sitting on top of Hollywood Park, the casino, they don’t have anything.  And the guy that owned it, because we had a stupid law, which we kind of changed, about, you had less than one percent you couldn’t have gambling, which is crazy.  What we’re doing is keeping money out, and some of the people who got money, are leaving here and going to Mountaineer Track or going to Prairie Meadows or going to places, Gulfstream; they’re going where they have slot machines.  
Now, what I’m saying, to save the horseracing industry in this state—in this state—we ought to take a look at what’s going on.  I don’t mean slot machines for all the gambling places.  I don’t care about the Hustler not getting one.  I live in Inglewood, and Hollywood Park is there.  They don’t have slot machines either, but they’ve got Hollywood Park.  If Hollywood Park, Bay Meadows, Los Alamitos, Golden Gate and Santa Anita had slots, we’d be back to where we were.  
But you know what happened?  When they put it on, the Indians, they must have spent $60 million to defeat it.  Now, I wonder where they got that money.  Just pick it up off the street?  They got $60 million to defeat it.  
Now, we’ll do that again but not so much with the proliferation of gambling all over the State.  But I think, of course I hate to say, Prairie Meadows is closed.  You know, I’ve got it on record here, horses, great track, opened when I was born.  They closed.  You know why they closed, don’t you?  Well, Hollywood Park may close—Hollywood Park may close.  Golden Gate may close.  Where are we going to run?  
Hollywood Park was the first track to put the synthetic rubber on the track.  And the funny thing about that is that Hollywood Park put it down; Bay Meadows didn’t, so our racing board took the racing days away from them so Bay Meadows is going to close.  Well, what about the other tracks that don’t have that synthetic turf?  We’ve got horses _______ at Hollywood Park; we’ve got Secretariat, Affirmed, Citation, Seabiscuit, Seattle Slew, John Henry, Spectacular Bid, Cigar, Native Diver, _______, Kelso, Roundtable, Man O’ War and Ruffian.  
But here’s the part, Mr. Shapiro, who I understand came to make some statements to me, is what I’m saying and I said to Mr. Shapiro, “Mr. Shapiro, I was thinking about something; my great race horse, the best I’ve seen and one I love was a horse called Native Diver.  And guess what?  He won the Hollywood Gold Cup three consecutive times.  Nobody has ever done that.  And guess where Native Diver came from—the Shapiro Family—the Shapiro Family.”  
So I’m going to close with this:  We have a situation and anybody want it, I’ll give it to you; about the racing situation.  I’m fond of that.  I’d like to see it exist.  If you want these cards, I’ll give them to you.  But the racing industry now is going out of business because we’re not doing business here in California.  
MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Vincent, we have, my union, UNITE HERE, has thousands of members in the racetrack industry in California and we would agree with you, that now is the time, before these compacts are ratified, when there’s an opportunity for a substantive discussion about it, to do something in return for the exclusivity clause that ensures the long-term viability of the racetrack industry.  Most importantly, in our view, because that industry provides 50,000 middle class jobs in some of the toughest places in the State to find those kind of jobs, so, we agree with you, and we would back you in your goal to try to make sure that happens.

SENATOR VINCENT:  And I heard somebody mention immigrant workers.  If the racetracks close and we lose this industry, do you know how many migrant workers work at the racetrack?  Unbelievable.  So, there we have it.  I hope that we don’t forget what we’re talking about.  When we get in the room and start talking—you and I.

MR. GRIBBON:  Yeah, again, there’s many, many entry level jobs that actually pay a living wage, full family health care, pensions, job security, etcetera and in areas like, Irwindale or Inglewood or Oakland, etcetera, these will be impossible jobs to replace if they are eliminated, and we applaud you for your support of that industry because of what it delivers to the State of California in terms of good jobs.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, even before….I’m ashamed to say this now, because what happened to the racing industry, which I love.  At the time, Antonio Villaraigosa and John Burton, I talked to both of them when they were on the Floor, and the funny part about it which hurts me, I got up and made a presentation as Assemblyman over there to get it passed and so did Tony Cardenas.  Remember Tony Cardenas?  We both got up, and this is what we got for it.  Most of the racetracks are closing.  And you know what Kirk Breed told me very clearly?  He said, “Ed, they’re not going to let you….I talk all about this stuff happening and maybe we can do some things, he said, “Ed, they’re not going to let you do this.”  Well, I understand what he’s talking about.  I put myself back in what has happened to the Indians back in 1865.  I’m through with it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Senator Denham, you had a few questions.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Mr. Gribbon, just to follow up on yesterday’s questions.  You brought it to my attention that the TLRO was not something that UNITE HERE had supported back in ’99.  I understand that you were in the negotiations with Burton and Speaker Villaraigosa.  So I had my staff go out last night and research.  If you weren’t supporting them, I’m assuming you were opposing them because you’re opposing it here today…

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, Senator Denham….

SENATOR DENHAM:  Excuse me, I’m not finished here.

MR. GRIBBON:  We went down this trail a few minutes ago.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I apologize, I missed that, but I’m here now and I would expect you being respectful of this Body here and allowing me to finish my questioning.  The question I had was….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Denham, here’s what we’re going to do:  Allow Senator Denham to make his point and let’s have a respectful dialog, which we didn’t quite have yesterday, and I apologize for that, Senator Denham.  So go ahead and say your question.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.  Did UNITE HERE oppose the TLRO?

MR. GRIBBON:  What UNITE HERE did, as was described in depth a few moments ago right here, in 1999, at the end of that negotiation at 4:00 in the morning, and Art Pulaski could tell you this, we rejected the 1999 TLRO in the context of that negotiation.  Subsequently, Senator John Burton and Assemblyman, then Speaker, Antonio Villaraigosa, came to us and said, “Look, this is as far as we’re going to be able to go with this, and we have been given an assurance from the tribes in these negotiations that they will live up to the spirit and the intent of the TLRO.  And our advice to you is to publicly support Prop. 1A and publicly support the workers’ rights, even though you find them to be insufficient, because it’s the best you’re going to get.  And going forward, you should show good faith to the public while Prop. 1A is on the ballot, and it’s our hope that the tribes will show good faith, as well.”  So we followed John Burton’s advice, as we normally do.  We said in the press, we said in the Voter Guide, we said in press releases that we support Prop. 1A.  We did support Prop. 1A.  And unfortunately, even though we showed good faith in supporting that, some tribes in the State of California have not shown good faith, have not followed the spirit and the intent of the 1999 TLRO, which is why we’re here today.
SENATOR DENHAM:  And again, I asked that question yesterday, could you explain to me in detail, specifics, on where they’ve not shown good faith.

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, there’s a letter in front of you.  What has happened, and actually I think the more articulate explanations are the explanations from workers.  Workers who have been here yesterday; a worker who has been here today; workers who have been combing the Capitol for the last couple of years; workers who have had their names signed to things that we passed out to describe what they’ve been through in terms of the frustration of their desire to try to organize a collective bargaining representative.  I personally haven’t been frustrated in my attempts to organize the union—I have one.  But those workers have, and they’re the ones who have extremely, articulately and courageously, I might add, explained to all of you here, a number of times, and in writing, and we’re happy to bring you a box of these things in writing, about why the 1999 compact provisions regarding organizing rights don’t work.  Moreover, and the last point I’ll make here, is that the fact here is that 5,000 workers have organized successfully under the 2004 compact provisions.  Not one worker has organized under the 1999—that’s a fact.

SENATOR DENHAM:  The TLRO was set up as a set of guidelines to follow.  CWA seems like they are following those guidelines; they’ve applied for a license, they’ve been successful in other casinos.  And even in yesterday’s conversation about Morongo, they applied for a license there.  And talking to the CWA it seemed that if they were the union of choice for the national union, then they felt….I don’t want to speak for them….but they felt that the initial process was going well.  Now, UNITE HERE has decided not to follow that process; not to follow those guidelines which Senator Burton and Speaker Villaraigosa had negotiated; the union had decided not to follow the TLRO.  So, I’m still having a hard time understanding what hurdles or what good faith has not been met when you’ve made a conscious decision not to follow them.
MR. GRIBBON:  We have not made a conscious decision not to follow any agreements that have been made.  We’ve made a decision not to put workers who are vulnerable on the spot inside a casino underneath a camera.  We’ve decided not to do that because we don’t think that’s a smart thing to do, particularly when you have evidence of union animus.  

So, I disagree with your point of view.  I don’t believe we’re ever going to agree.  You’re certainly not going to convince me of your point view, and I’m not going to convince you of mine. 

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I don’t know that we will.  But I want to achieve a better understanding of your point of view.  And it would seem that if you would apply for a license….if you applied for a license and they said “No, no we’re not going to let….that may be a hurdle.  That may be something that we need to address here.  But to my understanding, there hasn’t been an application filed.  There hasn’t been anybody that has said “no.”  In fact, I would think that as CWA has—is—they’ve applied for their license, they’ve been granted their license, they’ve gone to certain casinos and talked to employees and have been able to unionize.  I would think that that would be justification on why the TLRO actually is working, but it hasn’t been tried to my knowledge.
MR. GRIBBON:  This is another point that was brought up earlier.  This is a different casino.  It’s not Pechanga, which is the one that we’re supposed to be discussing at the moment, but at the Barona Casino, one of the first casinos where our union tried to access the rights that were provided under the TLRO, we asked for licensure.  That licensure was granted three years and nine months subsequent to the request after a cost of $6,000 for licensing fees, but only after there was an arbitration that enforced that section of the compact—three years and nine months later.  At that point, the Barona Tribe said, “Okay, you can have two people licensed.  Two people, you can come in.  They set up a table in the cafeteria right under a surveillance camera with a big sign saying, “Union Sign-Up.”  Prior to the union during those three years and nine months, there was a very, very effective job done in there to really chill the atmosphere in that casino to ensure that workers understood in very, very clear terms, that the Tribe, the management, the employer did not want anyone discussing the union on property.  How many workers do you think felt comfortable to come up to that table under a surveillance camera and say, “Alright, tell me what you’re about.  I don’t know if I like the idea of a union or not; tell me what you’re about.”  How many workers do you think felt they had a free unadulterated ability to walk up and ask a question without being surveilled, potentially intimidated and fired?

SENATOR DENHAM:  That’s a very good point.  And I would agree with you.  At the same point, you’re fighting for card check, which I would say is the exact opposite side of that spectrum of, you can go out and target a member whether they want to be targeted or not, and you can talk to them over and over again in front of their door.

MR. GRIBBON:  The difference, Senator Denham, is we don’t have the power of employment.  We don’t have the ability to take away something of value from these workers.  The only thing we have the ability to do is say, “You know what guys, even though individually none of us have the power, the riches, the resources of the employer, together, if we band together, we can balance a little bit, that unbalance in power and we can say, “You know, for our hard work, for being the engine behind this extraordinarily lucrative industry, we deserve a concomitant amount of respect in having our issues addressed; living wages, full family health care, etcetera, etcetera.”  But we have no ability to threaten workers; we don’t have anything of value to offer them other than the ability to organize them into a group that’s got some level of power to ask for good outcomes for their families and their children.  We can’t fire them from their jobs.  That’s a very, very important distinction, Senator Denham.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, while we’re still talking about generalities, and we’ll get back to the Pechanga Compact at hand here in a second, I have one last question.  Is there a, if you believe that the situation at Barona was not a fair system, and there are others who would believe that a card check system is not a fair system; is there a medium; is there a middle ground that….a secret ballot that any other time a democrative…
MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Denham, you make a very, very good point, but I would argue that if there’s common ground to be found, that only happens as a result of these compacts being rejected as they are currently proposed, and then we’ll see what happens.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, the whole question comes back to, is the TLRO something that works in these compacts or not?  As we talked about yesterday with some questions with Morongo, and you brought up Barona and the situation there, let’s bring it back to Pechanga.  Have you filed for a license at Pechanga?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, we have not, for the reasons I’ve already described.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I understand that it hasn’t worked well at Barona according to you.  And according to CWA, their process has worked well at other casinos; why not at least give it a shot?  Then you could appear before this Body and say, “We applied for a license and they said no,” or, “We applied for a license and now they’re not letting us on their property.”

MR. GRIBBON:  Senator Denham, what we’re trying to do, and we’re trying to do in the fairest way possible from our point of view, is create a standard in an industry throughout the State.  That standard, in our view, was accomplished the first time in 1998 in the Pala Compact.  But subsequently in 2004 in compacts that had amendments to the workers’ rights section of those compacts, rather than prove over and over and over and over again that the TLRO does not work, and you have something right in front of you that speaks to that with some very courageous workers putting their names and faces to that point, rather than do that, we believe that has been proven.  And the fact of the matter is, not one worker has organized under the 1999 TLRO; over 5,000 have under the 2004 compact.  I mean, we don’t need to reinvent the wheel here.  We have a solution.

SENATOR DENHAM:  You’re proposing a one size fits all when we already proposed a one size fits all TLRO.  I did not negotiate that.  I wasn’t here at the time.  But, I’m looking at the facts before me, and the facts before me are, you’re telling me that this doesn’t work; that this is flawed.  Yet, you have not applied for a license; you’ve not demonstrated that you’ve tried to organize and somebody said “No, you can’t organize at Pechanga” (we’re talking about this compact); so my question still is, why does it need to be changed?
MR. GRIBBON:  And my answer is the same as it was two seconds ago, and I don’t have anything else to add to that.  I think I’ve made the point and I don’t know what else to say to satisfy you.  I mean, I’ve answered the question.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GRIBBON:  You’re welcome.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Is this from you, the packet of letters that the Tribe sent out to employees saying….

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

SENATOR BATTIN:  You have a letter in here—well, actually you have two; one signed by Patrick Murphy, talking about HERE.  You said it’s a letter of intimidation.  What struck me on it was the date.  It’s February 12th.  Were you trying to organize at Pechanga then?

MR. GRIBBON:  We have been talking to workers throughout the tribal gaming industry since 1997.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Okay, so the letter here, I just want to make this clear, the letter here is prior to the ratification or even the negotiation of the 
’99 compacts?

MR. GRIBBON:  It appears that way to me, as well.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Yes.  So this has got nothing to do with TLRO at all.  

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, I would disagree with that.

SENATOR BATTIN:  No, because it didn’t exist.

MR. GRIBBON:  I still disagree with that point.

SENATOR BATTIN:  It wasn’t even in Burton’s or Villaraigosa’s mind at the time.

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, see, I would disagree with the point because what you’re saying is…
SENATOR BATTIN:  It was eight months before.

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, but here’s the point:  The point is, if workers are harassed, intimidated or just given implicitly from the employer (who has the power of their employment), the understanding that they don’t want them to organize a union, notwithstanding whether there is a TLRO or whatever, those workers are not in a balanced situation with respect to that.  So I guess maybe you’re arguing that, you know, intimidation was appropriate prior to the 1999 TLRO; is that what you’re saying?

SENATOR BATTIN:  No.  What I’m saying is…

MR. GRIBBON:  Actually there was a TLRO in 1998.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I’ll ask/you answer; okay?  In ’99, there was no compact—Pechanga didn’t have a compact with the State of California and it was eight months before the compact passed—the ratification occurred.  So my point being, that the letter has nothing to do with the TLRO at all.  But, let’s talk about the letter.


Do you think that an employer should be silent if somebody shows up at an employee’s house and says, “Hey, I want to talk to you about organizing,” and they say, “Well, how did you get my address?  Why do you now where I live?”  And if they express concerns to the employer saying, “These people showed up at my house and I’m just kind of concerned about how they got there,” is it appropriate that they should just be silent about it?  They should just say, “Well, hey it’s too bad for you?”


MR. BROAD:  Well, Senator, Barry Broad, on behalf of the Teamsters and other unions.  I think we’re getting into the very nature of what first amendment rights are in the United States.  Workers are not owned by employers.  They don’t control their private lives.  Just as if the employer is a Republican, as a lot of them are, and the Democrats send people walking around to talk to people, or the opposite, it’s not the employer’s business to say, “Hey, some stranger came and talked to you and said vote democratic; we don’t like that stuff,” because that’s the first amendment.  People have a right to associate with one another.  That’s sort of America here. 


SENATOR BATTIN:  So an employer doesn’t have a first amendment right to communicate with their employee either?  Or maybe they both should be able to communicate.

MR. BROAD:  Well, actually, the whole point of the history….look, we have to deal with the reality of the circumstances, not fantasy baseball here; okay?  This is a country and a state in which extreme violence has been used against workers who are trying to organize themselves; okay?  People have been shot.

SENATOR BATTIN:  Mr. Broad, let’s not take this to…


MR. BROAD:  I’m telling you the reality.  That’s how these statutes got started.  How do you think we wound up with a Farm Labor Act here, because it was all funsy in the fields?  I mean, do you think that…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s, let’s…


MR. BROAD:  I mean, I just think it’s a pointless philosophical discussion, because we’ll never agree.

SENATOR BATTIN:  It’s not because you’re argument here is that it is wrong that the Tribe communicate with its workers; that that’s intimidation.  That’s what you’re saying by saying, “It’s come to our attention that employees have been approached both on and off the reservation by representatives of the Hotel Employees Restaurant Employees HERE Labor Union.  HERE has no right to enter the reservation or force you to talk to them, nor do they have any right to visit you at home without being invited, as they apparently are doing so.  We do not know how they’re getting home addresses.”  That is what they’ve communicated to them, and you’re saying that that’s intimidation.  And if you’re saying, well, it’s your first amendment right to talk to them, I’m arguing that it’s the first amendment right of the Tribe to communicate with them, as well.  But, your position on this whole thing is card check neutrality, which is you silence the Tribe.  You only get to talk but they don’t get to.  So you’re wanting this one way.  You’re saying, well, it’s our first amendment right to talk to the Tribe, and if the Tribe talks to their employees, somehow that’s intimidation.  Well, it doesn’t work that way in this country.  If we’re going to have open communication, and I’m fine with that, let’s have open communication.  Let both sides campaign, just like Republicans and Democrats do, we both get to go to that person’s house and talk to them and then we get to do one more thing, the employee, or the voter in your analogy throughout, they get to vote in secret because then nobody gets to know how they voted.  They get to vote by themselves with their own conscience; just let them be what it is.  And you know what—that is what the TLRO states.  But you guys don’t want that.  Because in effect, when you don’t have a TLRO, when you have card check neutrality, you get a union.  Because you follow them home; the Tribe can’t say anything; and then you just sign them up one after another.  And so, if you want it both ways, let’s have it both ways.  But you can’t have it one way—it’s not fair.


MR. BROAD:  Well, I don’t know.  This system works in lots of places and it doesn’t seem to be….including the United States, all over the place, particularly in the public sector.  And it works there among our evil Canadian brothers to the north—that’s they’re system.  And I think Canada is a pretty benign democracy, as well.  And it works in most of Europe, as well.  Because implicitly, labor laws recognize the imbalance of power—that’s a fact—there’s an imbalance of power.  


SENATOR BATTIN:  Card check neutrality is not the norm in the United States.

MR. BROAD:  Well, it’s basically the norm of the way most workers have been organized in the last 20 years.


SENATOR BATTIN:  Through card check neutrality?


MR. BROAD:  Yes, 80 percent of them.


SENATOR BATTIN:  If you’re going to a business and you want to sign the business up, which you have every right to do, there aren’t card check neutralities.


MR. BROAD:  There a lot of businesses who say, “We will agree to that system.”


SENATOR BATTIN:  Not that law of the land.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great. We’re done with this discussion, so let’s move on.  And let’s go ahead and have the next witnesses please come up.  Is anyone else in opposition to this?  Seeing and hearing none, Mr. Macarro, you can come up and close.


Okay, are you in opposition?  Were you hear when I asked if there was any other opposition at the beginning of the hearing?  


UNIDENTIFIED:  _________ (off mike)


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, but at the beginning of this I asked if there was anyone else other than the three that raised their hands.


UNIDENTIFIED:  _________(off mike)


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Were you watching the TV outside?


UNIDENTIFIED:  Yes, we were.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, come on up then.


UNIDENTIFIED:  We’ll make it very quick.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it anything different than what you said yesterday?


MR. FOX:  Actually…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ll be listening intently so I hope it goes further and I hope it speaks to the compact specifically in this realm—the core geographic area.

MR. FOX:  Our objections are the same as were expressed yesterday and I just wanted to reiterate that for the benefit of the committee.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  The next witness.


MR. BAEDEKER:  I’m Rick Baedeker.  I represent Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park Racetracks.  And, Senator, I apologize for coming back again today, but I just have to sit before this body and say that…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You don’t have to apologize, you can just give us your testimony.


MR. BAEDEKER:  Okay.  Well, I’m not just going to say “remember what I said yesterday,” I’d like to just reiterate a couple of things.  First of all, I’d like to thank Senator Vincent for sticking up for the horseracing industry.  I’ve been in the game 57 years.  
My racetrack is about to go out of business.  And I just think that I ought to make the point again that we don’t begrudge the fact that the tribes are going to be able to expand their business.  We certainly don’t begrudge the State the fact that the State is going to realize revenue.  But while giving the tribes….to expand the business, don’t handcuff us.  We need to go to this Body or to the voters and we need to get other forms of gaming or some other kind of relief, and if these exclusivity compacts become law, we don’t think that we’ll be able to do that.  We can’t come to you and say, for instance, “Let’s pursue instant racing,” when the first thing that you will realize is that that will be in L.A. County, violate the exclusivity clauses, and, therefore, you would say, “We can’t do that.  We can’t lose the money that we’re getting from the tribes.”  
We simply are asking to be a part of the process.  We’re asking you not to ratify these compacts until we’ve had a chance to be part of the conversation.  If the exclusivity clauses are absolutely necessary, then we would like to pursue some other form of mitigation.


Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that your reading of the word “gaming devices” in this compact?

MR. BAEDEKER:  Pardon me, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that your reading of the term “gaming devices” in this compact, as to exclude instant racing?  That’s not my reading of it.  I’m just wondering if it’s yours.

MR. BAEDEKER:  I don’t know the legal answer to that question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m not going to ask Mr. Levine  to come up and to ponder on that, but I’m just asking.  So if you don’t know that, then how can you say it would exclude other types of gaming?

MR. BAEDEKER:  It’s our presumption, as a matter of fact, that a court certainly could…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s not my presumption, but that’s your presumption.

MR. BAEDEKER:  But I’m guessing that there would be a difference of opinion that probably would end up in court.  And we just think that our opportunity to solve the problem is now, before the compacts are ratified.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And those who would probably take that to court would be?

MR. BAEDEKER:  I’m guessing anybody that wouldn’t want competition; that wouldn’t want competition from some other form of gaming machine.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who would that specifically be?

MR. BAEDEKER:  Well, if I were the tribes, I wouldn’t like the idea.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, is it a good strategy to oppose the tribes’ compacts, those who would take you to court, if the definition is open on gaming facilities?  It doesn’t seem to me to be a good strategy; I don’t know.

MR. BAEDEKER:  What we’re opposing, Senator, is the exclusivity clauses.  We believe that would preclude us from coming back to this Body or from going to the voters and getting some other form of gaming to compete with the other states that are now offering prize money for their horsemen purses that are double what we’re able to offer in California.  
And as I said yesterday, I represent two racetracks of the five major racetracks in California—that’s 40 percent of the racetracks, one of which is slated to close in November, and the other could close at some point after that without some kind of meaningful relief for racing.  So I have no choice, I’m up against the ropes here, I have no choice but to speak up for racing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Next.

KIRK BREED:  Senators, Kirk Breed, on behalf of Pacific Coast Quarter Horse Racing Association, the men and women who own, breed and train in running quarter horses.  We’re opposed to the expansion of this compact and the other compacts, because it does constitute an expansion of gaming in California.

Thank you.

RICHARD CASTRO:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Richard Castro, representing Pari-Mutuel Employees Guild, Local 280.  For the same reasons that the others have spoken, we’re opposed to the compacts as currently written.
Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

BUTCH CRANFORD:  Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, my name is Butch Cranford, from Plymouth, Amador County.  I’m opposed to the expansion of gaming as prescribed by these compacts.  I think the purpose of IGRA has been fulfilled with the first compacts.  I also believe that if the Legislature were to approve these compacts. it would just be an encouragement to other tribes in California to then seek expansion of gaming in the remaining operating casinos.
Mr. Florez, I think you spoke earlier about the situation that we have in Amador County at Buena Vista.  I don’t know how many people follow The Federal Register, but recently, that tribe did pass a resolution regarding the use of alcohol on their properties.  The vote was one to nothing.  This is a tribe of one adult member now receiving in excess of $1 million a year as a non-gaming tribe in California.  It is a tribe with which California has compacted.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  That’s the Tribe that’s supposed to be giving the State of California some money; is that correct?

MR. CRANFORD:  Well, it’s going to be difficult for them…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you oppose that?

MR. CRANFORD:  I do.  It’s going to be difficult for that tribe to give the State any money because they simply don’t have a casino.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, that’s another issue.  Let’s move onto Pechanga.  Thank you very much.

MR. CRANFORD:  The County of Amador, you asked who would take legal action in these areas—the County of Amador has already, and has on file in the federal court, a suit regarding the status of the land at Buena Vista.  And most recently with the proposed casino for Plymouth, Amador County has also taken action on behalf of the citizens of California.  I think that for the Legislature, at this point in time, to move forward with an approval of the expansion of gaming in California without taking a very close look at what has occurred and is occurring, is just not responsible.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Yes.

JAMES MARINO:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair and members of the committee.  My name is James Marino.  I’m an attorney from Santa Barbara, California.  I represent a number of groups not only in my county, but all over the State—community groups and individuals, some who are former employees of casinos; they have casinos in their communities and are suffering from the consequences of those casinos as they exist now.

When Congress enacted the Indian Gaming Act in 1988, they envisioned that the state government would protect the citizens of the state and the local communities by incorporating into a Tribal-State Compact all of the laws they thought should apply to that gambling operation.  That included, workers’ compensation; that included tort law; that included environmental protection laws.  These were all supposed to be in the compact if there was going to be protection for the citizens of the State.  
As you all know, in 1999 prior to the passage of Proposition 1A, Governor Gray Davis negotiated compacts behind closed doors, basically excluding all the major power groups in this state;  labor, the workers’ compensation lawyers, the tort lawyers, the consumer protection lawyers, the women’s rights and environmental groups, and he came up with the infamous ’99 compacts which many of us describe as a giveaway compact.  Not only did the State get no money, the people of this state got no protection.  
Now, I don’t know how many of you have looked into this.  For example, the compacts require that each tribe provide either their own workers’ compensation insurance, or they participate in an equivalent system.  How many tribes do you think have done either?  I venture to say none of them have done either.  And the fact is, the State has done nothing about it.  The Governor has not enforced the 1999 compacts or any provisions in them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What do you dislike about the Pechanga Compact?

MR. MARINO:  Well, it’s one of several; all of the same.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What do you dislike about the Pechanga Compact?

MR. MARINO:  It represents an expansion of something that is a major problem in this state that is being overlooked by this Legislature.  And I don’t think it’s smart, frankly, as Mr. Cranford said, to expand something that’s as big a problem as it is today.  And it’s a problem that cannot be swept under the carpet; it can’t be buried in campaign contributions, of which there has been millions of dollars flowing in here from a handful of tribes whose total collective membership is less than 3,000 members.  And we have 35 million people in this state who need protection.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Who do you work for again?

MR. MARINO:  Well, I represent a lot of groups all over this state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t you name some of them?

MR. MARINO:  Friends of Amador County, No Casino in Plymouth, Preservation of Los Alivos, Preservation of Santa Inez, Stop the Casino 101, there are several.  I could go on.  Do you want the individual names?  I represent workers who were fired because they made workers’ compensation claims.  Do you know what their recourse was?  Go to Tribal One, a wholly owned Indian adjustment company who declined…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you don’t like this section in the compact that deals with workers’ comp?

MR. MARINO:  Yeah.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  

MR. MARINO:  That’s just one.  I could go on.  There’s the environmental protection—you remember that one—a good faith effort to mitigate the impact.  Are you a lawyer, Sir?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank goodness, no, I’m not.  That’s why I have so few questions.

MR. MARINO:  As a legislator, you probably would know.  You wouldn’t write any statute that said that the people who are regulated by that statute would make a good faith effort to comply with it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have lots of statutes with good faith efforts in them.  It isn’t the only statute in the State of California.  It allows lawyers to be employed.

MR. MARINO:  In this case…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, let’s get specific on the compact and let’s move onto the next witness.

MR. MARINO:  Well, the specifics are, the compacts in existence today don’t work.  The language is virtually ambiguous and unenforceable, and the tribes, for the most part, most of them have not executed those compacts and not abided by them in good faith.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Denham, who is also not an attorney, you have a question.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.  Yes, Sir.  You don’t support this compact or you don’t support all compacts?

MR. MARINO:  I don’t support them all, Sir.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Are there any that you have ever supported?

MR. MARINO:  No, Sir.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MARINO:  For the same reasons—I don’t believe the expansion of something as big a problem as we have now, should occur.

DOUG HERTHEL:  Good afternoon.  My name is Doug Herthel.  I’m a veterinarian from Santa Inez, California.  I had the pleasure of working with President Reagan for quite a few years.  I was his veterinarian.  And I’ll never forget him telling me that if we don’t change federal Indian policy, one of these days this state and this country is going to be in huge trouble.  Well, obviously, he was right.  We are at a breaking point right now—if you ratify these compacts, you have unleashed the door to the rest of California.  15.4 allows this, the ratification of these compacts, to unleash it to, what is it—120 tribes that have gaming.  And how many tribes have preferred status?  By default, all these tribes are going to have 5,000, 7,000 slot machines.  The largest casinos in the world are 8,500 slot machines.  So we’re going to put mega casinos all over California.  

In our area, crime is up 2,400 percent.  The money the tribes are making, which is a net of 65 percent (I have a business; if I net 3 percent I’m pretty excited), sixty-five percent net because they’re unregulated slots.  The patrons are being cheated, but the taxpayers are subsidizing this.  And you are here to protect the taxpayers.  

Hard crime has gotten to the level where people want to leave California.  There’s no place to go because there’s going to be a casino on every corner.  The way we’re going, you are unleashing unlimited power and money to a group of people that have sovereign status that actually trumps the State of California; it totally trumps the local government.  And the biggest problem we have is the money co-ops are local government and it co-ops our press, so I guess we’re begging you not to ratify these compacts and show allegiance to the taxpayers who are supporting this.
SENATOR BATTIN:  Were you aware that President Reagan signed the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act?

MR. HERTHEL:  I’m absolutely aware.  But I also am aware that he vetoed the Pecots from becoming a tribe.  And so, that one person tribal member built a billion dollar casino that pays the State of Connecticut….there’s two casinos that pay the State of Connecticut $400 million a year.  Okay, the State of California gets $30 million from 50 casinos.
And in our discussions with the Governor’s negotiators, they have no idea how they’re going to audit the books or collect the money, so why are we doing this?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have no idea how we’re going to audit the books or collect the money?

MR. HERTHEL:  Audit the books.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the Governor’s Office told you that?


MR. HERTHEL:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Tell him to send us a letter on that; we’d be very interested in finding out how that works.


MR. HERTHEL:  I will.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Go ahead.


PETER DREIER:  Good afternoon.  My name is Peter Dreier.  I’m a professor of public policy at Occidental College and I’m the director of the urban environmental policy program at that college.  I’ve had three decades of experience as researcher, scholar, and government official, working in the areas of economic and community development.  And I just want to raise four questions about these compacts.  I’m not for them or against them.  I think there are some important issues that haven’t been addressed and need to be thought about.


I’m currently conducting research on the likely effects of the proposed 
$60 billion agreement that triples the size of the casinos and adds 23,500 additional slots in California and creates what will likely be the largest casinos in the world, or among the largest in the world.


So my research and my forthcoming report focuses on four questions:

First, does the revenue sharing formula work in California’s public interest?  The forecast revenue sharing formula, about 12.6 percent and 18.3 percent of net win, compares extremely unfavorably to the 25 percent in Connecticut, the 50 percent in Florida, and the 55 percent in Pennsylvania.  Is that a good deal?  Since increased revenue sharing is one of Governor Schwarzenegger’s main arguments in favor of the expansion, I think it needs to be looked at in its context, especially given that the LAO said that the compact related sources will provide the General Fund with less than one-half of one percent of its annual revenues in the foreseeable future.
Second, and I think most important, what are the risks to Californians following the Colorado River decision eliminating all federal regulations, and for all intents and purposes, all independent oversight of tribal casinos?  Given the elimination of federal gambling regulation and auditing, what are the practical problems that would impede the State’s ability to obtain revenue sharing in the proposed agreements?  Without federal internal controls, what are some of the public safety and law enforcement risks that emerge from authorizing what will be among the biggest casinos in the world?  
The National Indian Gaming Commission was previously very active in California, but currently, there is no effective replacement.  What are the risks and potential remedies to protect California residents?  And why should we ratify these agreements when these questions are still pending?
Now, these are not just questions that I am asking, both Governor Schwarzenegger and Senator Diane Feinstein raised serious concerns about the vacuum of government oversight of Indian gaming in separate letters to Senator Brian Dorgan, the chair of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs.  And his letter, which I have here from Governor Schwarzenegger—in his letter, Governor Schwarzenegger called for federal legislation to allow the federal government, through the National Indian Gaming Commission, to establish and enforce the minimum internal control standards for Indian Gaming.  What does this mean?  By doing so, in this letter, the Governor is acknowledging that current state oversight, including those in the proposed compacts, are seriously inadequate.  
In her letter, which I have here, Senator Feinstein expressed “deep concern,” about the elimination of federal oversight of Indian Gaming.  She wrote in this letter, “Even if the State were to take measures to address the current oversight deficiencies, it could take years for an updated effective enforcement regime to be established and effective.”

Third, and I only have four, what about the distributional effects of the proposed agreements?  In other words, do these proposals advance the very important public policy goals of addressing poverty and the welfare of Native Americans, or do these agreements benefit a tiny minority of California’s Indian population?  According to the Census Bureau, the five tribes with amendments before this committee comprise just .6 percent, less than one percent, of California Indians.  However, the current agreements seem to create a virtual cartel for a small, wealthy and select group of small but powerful tribes that contribute enormous amounts of money to elected officials.

Fourth, and finally, the Legislature must study and understand fully, the effects of these proposed huge casinos on their host communities.  While the Legislature is understandably focused on the General Fund, as a former local government official and a policy analyst, I think we need to seriously explore the local environmental, fiscal and public safety effects of these proposed huge casinos.  Is the state government taking every step necessary to ensure local communities can protect themselves from the negative effects of these casinos?  And is the State empowering local residents to have a voice and contribute to the production of a sustainable future for their communities, or are we being shortchanged on the promise of more gaming, more revenue and left to simply hope that benefits will reach beyond less than one percent of California’s tribal members?
So in conclusion, there is no question that this committee needs to conduct a very thorough examination of the proposed agreements.  They carry with them a 23 year term and no provisions for later amendments or revision.  My preliminary research has identified a set of very fundamental questions about the proposed agreements that this committee needs to examine in thorough detail.  And I offer my support to this committee’s careful deliberations about the significant and long-term effects of these proposed agreements.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  The next witnesses.  Any other witnesses after this?  None.  Mr. Macarro, you may close after this presentation.  Please begin, because we are on a schedule.
BERNIE ACUNA:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the committee.  I am Bernie Acuna, council member, Gabrielino Tongva Tribe which is indigenous to the Los Angeles County.  There was some information given to you yesterday so I’m not going to be repetitive.  I know you have a short time.  And I would like to introduce to you retired Supreme Court Justice Cruz Reynoso.  He will speak about exclusivity clauses and how it is detrimental to our Tribe.
CRUZ REYNOSO:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, thank you so much for allowing me to testify (yesterday, unfortunately, my wife had a serious doctor’s appointment and I had to be with her), so I very much appreciate it.  
I’d like to speak just for a moment about the exclusivity clause.  Last year, the Gabrielino Tribe retained me to look at the issue of whether or not a state recognized tribe could be authorized to game in the State of California.  Manifestly, I went to the constitutional provision and the issue there, to me, was the following:  Is there some ambiguity in the constitutional provision, and I noticed very quickly that in one sentence the term “Indian lands” is used, and in another sentence the term “tribal lands” is used.  

I served on the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights for 12 years and we had many hearings on Indian issues.  And it was made clear to me by testimony by federal and other officials that, in fact, there’s quite a difference in the definitions of Indian laws and tribal lands.  Indeed, yesterday in preparing for this testimony, I Googled the two terms just to see whether the same material would come up, and, in fact, very different material came up.  And I thought, “Gee, even lay people recognize that these terms are distinct terms.”  
The importance of that, Mr. Chairman, is that there’s an ambiguity and a constitutional provision.  The Legislature can interpret what that constitutional provision is.  If eventually it gets to the courts, the courts will perhaps have the last word.  But in my experience, the Legislature, the courts very often defer to the interpretation of the Legislature.  So what’s happening here is that in the exclusivity clause, the choice that the Legislature has to consider that ambiguity is basically being taken away for the next 24 years.  So it’s a matter of policy, it seems to me, that the Legislature would want to retain that possibility of looking at that issue and, in fact, deciding whether or not they agree with me that a state recognized tribe, once it has some territory, might in fact be able to game in the State of California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  What is the criteria for being a state recognized tribe?

MR. REYNOSO:  I beg your pardon.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What is the criteria for being a state recognized tribe?

MR. REYNOSO:  The State Legislature simply recognizes them.  And I’m not sure that any straight criteria has been established, but presumably, those tribes have to show the longevity of existence and so on.

JONATHON STEIN:  If I may say, you’re asking a question that I wrote a law review article on.  There are fifteen different states that have state recognized tribes; about four of them have sent forth very defined seven point, eight point criteria.  Alabama is one of them.  ____________ is one of them.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do we have any of that criteria in our law?

MR. STEIN:  We don’t have it in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So how do we determine what a state recognized tribe is?

MR. STEIN:  The way the other twelve states without criteria determine—it’s a legislative decision much like any other.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And until that time there is no such thing as a state recognized tribe?

MR. STEIN:  Well, until the State Legislature acts again to recognize a new one, but if the State has already recognized two tribes using processes very similar to seven of the fifteen states, which is…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But until you use those processes there is no state recognized tribe?

MR. STEIN:  I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Until you use those processes you’ve mentioned, there is no state recognized tribe?

MR. STEIN:  Well….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a simple question.  It’s a yes or no question.

MR. STEIN:  Do you say that the Gabrielinos are not currently recognized; is that the point of the question?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I’m asking you a point of law.  You’ve mentioned…

MR. STEIN:  Right.  Until the State makes a formal action, then there is not a state recognized tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.

MR. STEIN:  My apologies for misunderstanding.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No problem.

MR. REYNOSO:  I should emphasize that there are many tribes in California that haven’t been recognized either by the State or the federal government because the procedures federally are so difficult and expensive, and on the State’s side, I suppose, because they haven’t asked to be recognized by the State.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Thank you all for your testimony.  Mr. Macarro, you may come up and close.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I always think it’s a blessing and a curse to be between everybody else and lunch, so I’ll be as brief.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  There will be no lunch for the committee today.  We’re going to proceed all the way through today, just to let every one know that, Mr. Macarro.  So, enjoy your lunch after this presentation; we’ll still be here.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I would like to thank you and the committee for the time that you’ve provided us.

There’s really a lot that, I think, we would like to respond to, however, I’d like to ask the committee if we can do so in writing subsequent to this hearing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That would be preferable.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Is that appropriate?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, that would be appropriate.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Okay.  And then I’ll just go ahead and give some closing remarks here. 

First and foremost, I’d like to thank our team member employees who came with us, three of whom you heard from today; Lisa, Rosie and Lourdes.  You didn’t hear from Mama Pat, from Lucy, or from Rudy, but they also attended as well.  So I wanted to mention them.
Let me point out that virtually all the issues that were raised by opponents here did not involve Pechanga.  And I speak for our Tribe.  We negotiated a compact in good faith with the State of California, a process that was created by Congress under federal law—that’s the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.  It’s tantamount to a treaty.  We abide by this.  We have abided by it, the spirit and the words, and we intend to, as well, with the new agreement in front of us here that’s pending ratification.  So, I would like to ask, respectfully, the committee, I would like for your consideration to have our compact be supported by you and ratification.  I’d like for that due deliberation to take place, and, ultimately, support.

Let me also just mention that quality of life is absolutely important to us.  We provide a positive workplace environment.  It’s a safe environment.  Working conditions are excellent.  The OSHA finding of zero cases was absolutely…it’s what we do; it’s what we strive for.

Let me mention, too, that we provide better than a living wage and full health care benefits for our employees.  We’ve been there.  We know what it’s like to be in the trenches.  And consequently, we like to go the extra mile to provide things that are important to employees.  So I wanted to point that out.

And again, the opposition’s witness stories about intimidation did not occur at Pechanga.  We respect workers.  And let me just point out that we did allow access for a union to occur on our premises under the terms of the TLRO.  And should it happen again, we’ll engage a TLRO; we think it works; and it’s a part of the overall agreement that we already abide by.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Chairman Macarro, thank you for your testimony and your team’s testimony.  Mr. Levine, good seeing you again.  And I guess we will move this compact to the Floor, and we’ll see you then.  And thank you for this.

CHAIRMAN MACARRO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  If we can have Chairman Duro from the San Manuel Tribe, please.  Chairman Duro, thank you for being here today.  This is the fifth compact that we’re about to hear.  Some of the questions will be somewhat repetitive, but it is on the record; trying to get as much information as possible so our sovereign can judge whether or not these compacts are good in your negotiations with the Governor’s Office.
Let me first ask you, you’re amended compact expires also in the 2030?

VINCENT DURO, VICE-CHAIRMAN, SAN MANUEL TRIBE:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And your 1999 compact expires?

MR. DURO:  Expires in 2020.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   2020, as well.  So it’s a ten year extension but with different terms and conditions?
MR. DURO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  If you could, give us, a picture of the Tribe and any information you would like to give the committee on the record.  And then, we’ll proceed in going through the compact.
MR. DURO:  Thank you.  For the record, I am Vice-Chairman Vincent Duro.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sorry.

MR. DURO:  Chairman Florez and committee members, I don’t do well on an empty stomach either, so I will try to make this as brief as possible.  My name is Vincent Duro.  As I’ve stated, I’m vice-chairman of the San Manuel Band of Serrano Mission Indians located in the County of San Bernardino.  I’m happy to be here today to speak in favor of SB 941, a bill to ratify amendments to our 1999 Tribal-State Compact, which we successfully negotiated last year with Governor Schwarzenegger.

Our tribal chairman is Henry Duro and he sends his regrets.  He’s recovering from an illness and he’s not going to be here today, of course.

A brief overview of our Tribe:  From time immemorial the ancestor homelands of the San Manuel Band of Serrano Mission Indians, known as the _______(native language), the People of the Pines, include a vast territory.  From the high dessert areas north of Barstow, south to the San Bernardino Valley from just east of present day Los Angeles to Twenty-nine Palms, the Serrano Indians called home.

In 1891, a presidential executive order set aside some 640 acres and created the San Manuel Indian Reservation along the steep foothills of the San Bernardino Mountains.  Today the cities of San Bernardino and Highland lie to our south, the National Forest Service land to the north.  Although within our ancestral homeland, the reservation was not conducive to development or future sustainable growth.  It is comprised of mostly mountainous terrain replete with four known earthquake faults; most notably, the north and south branches of the San Andreas Fault, and very little flat land.

The recent wildfires of October 2003 remind us of how vulnerable our land base can be.  San Manuel tribal law requires that all developments, including tribal housing, be done in accordance with the nationally recognized Uniform Building Code, and this is most expensive given the physical terrain of our reservation lands.

Until the 1980s, the Tribe struggled with basic subsistence.  The typical challenges in Indian country, including high unemployment, lack of educational opportunity, substandard medical care, and the resultant need for federal assistance, this all continued as our tribal government’s ability to provide basic services to our citizens was significantly challenged.
In July of 1986, San Manuel embarked on a major economic development project to test the waters of a new venture with Indian bingo.  We opened a 2,600 seat bingo hall and built that business from the ground up.  Many of those employees with us on opening day 21 years ago remain loyal employees to this day.  Through good management, the bingo operations flourished and became the foundation on which to explore new tribal government gaming options as the opportunities were presented.

As we now know, these opportunities, along with some intense negotiations, produced the 1999 Tribal-State Compact.  You may recall that the 1999 compact was ratified in March 2000 with a super majority vote by the people of the State of California to approve Prop. 1A.  With their vote, the electorate also established the State’s public policy of a limited scope of class III or casino style gaming conducted by Indian tribes on Indian lands.  The 1999 compact shows its true value when measuring the numerous positive impacts and benefits for California.  Indian tribes began to have greater self-reliance and paved a promising future by providing for the necessary government services of health, housing and education, creating economic engines for employment in our communities and a means to invest in the future of California.  

By way of illustration, San Manuel Tribal Government employs, some 3,400 employees, including approximately 2,900 in the casino itself.  It ranks among the top twenty employers in the county with its annual wage for all occupations exceeding California’s average annual wage by some 12 percent.

In the summer of 2006, we successfully concluded negotiations for the third three year collective bargaining agreement with the Communication Workers of America.  Since June 2004, our union job classifications have increased 
40 percent while the collective bargaining unit overall has grown by 153 percent.  This is a positive relationship that has evolved steadily since our first agreement was negotiated in 2000.
According to economic studies, our new gaming facility, which was completed in just about one year, in late 2004, contributed some one-half billion dollars into the State’s economy during the construction phase alone.  Government gaming has enabled San Manuel to give back to our neighboring local communities and, indeed, even to causes nationally at a time when local, state and federal dollars are hard to come by.  And, perhaps most importantly, tribal government gaming has allowed the Tribe to secure long-term viability for many generations to come even though the future is always unpredictable and uncertain.

We believe the voters understood this when passing Proposition 1A in 2000.  We believe their collective consciences knew that what was good for Indian country was also good for California—good jobs and business opportunities and a growing vibrant economy.

For some 21 years, San Manuel has strived to be among the best in entertainment options for Southern California.  We remain committed to providing a gaming venue that our patrons and guests will enjoy, and a work environment that is safe and friendly for our employees.

We come before you today to seek ratification of our compact amendments negotiated between two sovereigns; one that expands opportunity in a responsible way.  I ask that you support SB 941 when it comes up for consideration in the Senate.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Let’s, if we could, go through the amendments.  I’m not sure Mr. Levine knows that we….are you still here, 
Mr. Levine, in the same chair for the duration for this…

MR. LEVINE:  In the same chair with a different client.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go through the authorized facilities—Amendment I, if we could.  And thank you, Mr. Vice-Chairman, for the comments on the record.

First and foremost, obviously, you have one casino in operation at this point in time?

MR. DURO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And are there plans for construction of a second?

MR. DURO:  There are currently no plans for a second casino.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the amended compact includes a cap of 7,500 slot machines; is that correct?
MR. DURO:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move onto Section 2, the revenue contributions.  The 7,500 machines, that is, the 2,000 current machines are captured under this particular compact—the current 2,000?

MR. DURO:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And there is a set amount for that for the State of California?

MR. LEVINE.  That’s correct.  They now will pay a flat fee on those 2,000 machines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what is that flat fee?  Is that $45 million?

MR. LEVINE:  That’s $45 million.  It’s going up from $19 million 500 to 

$45 million.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, you were paying how much at this point in time?


MR. LEVINE:  At this point they’re paying $19.5 million, and that’s based on a percentage—on a sliding scale.  That’s going to be converted to a flat guaranteed $45 million a year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that $45 million over the terms of the compact gets the State of California on just this, about a billion dollars?


MR. LEVINE:  A little over a billion.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  A little over a billion.  And that would not include the additional 5,500 slots that have a graduated percentage?


MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.  Between 2,001 machines and 5,000 they will pay 15 percent of their net win, which is a form of gross, really, and above that it’s 25 percent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And tied to the revenue, Vice-Chairman,  in terms of the space provided for additional growth of those above 2,000 slots, I mean, when do we expect those to come online or onboard?

MR. DURO:  I have brought with me one of our managers, Mr. Steve Lengel, to address those types of questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And, Steve, just for the record, the Vice-Chair said you were a happy employee; is that the case?  Because I want to make sure.


STEVE LENGEL:  Extremely happy.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, go ahead.  Tell us what the plans are in terms of the current facilities above the 2,000.


MR. LENGEL:  The current facility could add an additional 3,000 machines.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  An additional 3,000.


MR. LENGEL:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what would be the ramp up time for those additional 3,000?  Are those that need to be ordered?  Are you in a queue for that?  Are those somewhere in a warehouse?  I mean, what’s the expectation for the additional 3,000?


MR. LENGEL:  How quickly could we get this ratified?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Really?  That’s a fair question.


MR. LENGEL:  I mean, we’re ready.  We would need to….the room was equipped for growth.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  So the room is equipped for growth and ready to put these particular class III games online?


MR. LENGEL:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the 2,000 could be, very quickly, much more substantial in terms of the 15 percent—the additional 3,000?


MR. LENGEL:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Class II games being operated now at this point in time?


MR. DURO:  There are some.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  There are some.  And are those planning to be phased out, obviously, if this compact is successful?


MR. LENGEL:  We probably would after the ratification of the compact.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, is this the standard flat $2 million payment?


MR. LEVINE:  Yes.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what was the current contribution by the Tribe to this account?


MR. LEVINE:  $898,000 a year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How would you characterize the payment—the $2 million?  Obviously, it’s a substantial increase; could you do more, or do you see this particular account….your perspective is probably more so….we’re not going to change the compact if you say yes, so just in general, I mean, how do you view the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund and the new contribution under these amended compacts?  Is it positive?

MR. LENGEL:  I believe with more tribes coming up with renegotiated compacts and doubling their amounts that we should, hopefully, we hope to arrive at a significant amount of increase for those tribes without gaming today.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the reason maybe I ask is, obviously, there is lots of discussion about additional tribes moving into Barstow and other areas, and, most of those tribes, in essence, see this as a more lucrative market, and the major argument to the committee is; that it will alleviate severe economic pressures on non-gaming tribes.  So that’s why, as we start to look at the new compacts, the question is; are they enough, are they sufficient enough to, in essence, look at some of those venues as either good or bad, anyway you look at it?  And, obviously, this amount is very important in terms of what we’re looking at?


The backfill mechanism—there is also the language in this that allows for that, Mr. Levine.


MR. LEVINE:  The same language does provide for the State’s backfill from the games.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 3 of the amended compact dealing with authorization exclusivity.  Obviously, the core geographic region in this case the same—San Bernardino, Riverside, Los Angeles County and Orange?


MR. LEVINE:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the basis for selecting these regions?


MR. LEVINE:  The same thing.  They’re ones that relate to the location of the Tribe’s facility.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of breach of exclusivity, the same terms and conditions apply?


MR. LEVINE:  Exactly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And those would be?  Again, this is a different compact and a different transcript and a different record.


MR. LEVINE:  Okay.  Well, the exclusivity provision looks at two forms of the permitted gaming under the compact.  One is the gaming devices and if gaming devices are introduced into one of the core geographic areas, then the payment on the 2,000 machines to the RSTF go away.  If the Tribe continues, however, to engage in gaming device operations and utilizes more than 2,000 machines, then they pay 12.5 percent on those machines over 2,000.


The other form of gaming that’s impacted would be card games that are either percentage or banking games.  And within that core geographic area, if those kinds of games are introduced within a 100-mile radius of the facility within those core geographic areas into an operation that has 25 or more tables, then the same two forms of payments go away. 


It would have no impact, though, on any other agreements.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Levine.  You’ve taken away my five standard questions in one comment.  I appreciate that.  So let’s not belabor that particular point.  


I would like to ask your opinion on the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, because if the exclusivity is breached, there’s not an obligation to pay into it and I guess my thought would be, you still have the opportunity to operate slot machines and would you still pay into it even though?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, remember that the Tribe is still going to be paying.  Assuming they’re not going to shut their operation down, they’re still going to be paying a substantial amount of money and there is opportunity for the State, then, to make up that difference.  Because, if that “exclusivity provision” is breached, it means that a policy decision has been made by the State to get revenue from some other source, and so, I think those are matters to be dealt with when and if that occurs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  From the Tribe’s perspective, the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, as a decision, is still within the purview of the Tribe; correct?


MR. LEVINE:  It would be.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any thought about what would happen in that event?


MR. LEVINE:  I leave that to the policymakers of the Tribe.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Vice-Chairman?

MR. DURO:  I don’t know the answer to that question today.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I hope the answer would be, “we’d still pay.”

MR. DURO:  Between you and me, I mean, I’d have to check with the Tribe, how they would want to bat that ball, but I believe so too.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Sections 4 & 5, if we could.  Just on the testing of devices in the building codes.  Those are new, enhanced and more local; is that correct, Mr. Levine?


MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Section 6, if we could—patron disputes; binding arbitration; uniform processes for doing this; the same in this compact as they were in the past?


MR. LEVINE:  Exactly.  There are binding and enforceable remedies for patrons both in terms of patron disputes and personal injuries.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then moving onto Section 7—public workplace health, safety and liability.  Under the new amended compacts there are standards, obviously, for safe water standards, standards that mirror the Fair Labor Standards Act; anything you’d like to add onto this particular section?


MR. LEVINE:  No.  Again, I think this is just a matter of making it a little more clearer what the tribes are doing and they should be doing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Section 8 deals with workers’ comp—pretty straightforward again, the participation in this?  

MR. LEVINE:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you participating, are you self….what’s the term?

MR. LEVINE:  Yeah, they have a comparable system that is subject to monitoring by the State, so they have got to be comparable at every point of the workers’ compensation process.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Self-insured, I guess, is then the question.

MR. LEVINE:  Well, they’re partially self-insured.  There’s insurance that obviously helps in the regard.  But there is an advantage here to the worker, and that is that this is a faster system than they would be entitled to under the State’s system.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s move onto Section 9—mitigation of off-reservation impacts.  The Tribal EIR in this is the same in terms of this, and then, do we have one in the process or is this after compacts are approved?


MR. LEVINE:  No, with the environmental process, there already is an environmental process, of course, that the tribes are following and prepare extensive environmental reports, but this now codifies it a lot more and adopts the CEQA checklist that has to be used.  And then there is, of course, the Intergovernmental Agreement that has to be entered into that supports this.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask just some general questions now outside of the compact—it’s the standard question about problem gambling.  What’s the commitment from San Manuel in terms of the issue of problem gambling?


MR. DURO:  I’m going to let Steve talk on that, but we will work with you on it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  


MR. LENGEL:  Currently, San Manuel is proud to be the second of two casinos in the State that will be certified from the California Council of Problem Gambling.  All 2,900 employees will have gone through the training.  We, for many years, have had the 1-800 number, the signage information available for patrons, as well as a self-exclusion policy and public service announcements.  We take it very seriously.  And as the Vice-Chairman said, we look forward to working together with the State.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Let’s get to the labor questions for the compact in terms of the United States Court of Appeal decision, obviously, we’ve talked a bit about that, issued in February in terms of the National Labor Relations Act.  The tribe, San Manuel, obviously, challenged whether or not this Act applied to employment in casinos, so I guess the question I would have is; what’s the genesis of this case and what was the rationale for it?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, you’ve heard a lot of the genesis of it when you heard from both CWA and HERE.  It was basically an internation dispute between the two labor unions and a claim by HERE that the Tribe committed an unfair labor practice under the federal act by favoring CWA as opposed to permitting equal access to HERE.  That was the nub of the complaint.  The tribe asserted as a defense, however, that the National Labor Relations Act didn’t apply and the case was all about whether or not, as a matter of procedure and jurisdiction, the national act applies, and the Court of Appeals ruled that it did and that matter is on appeal from that decision.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the Fort Apache Timber Case, how does that play into this?

MR. LEVINE:  Well, it really doesn’t.  We’re past all the cases that the NLRB had formally held; did not make those rules apply to tribes because this new court decision overturns 30 years of precedent and on which the Tribe was relying when it engaged in its interchange with both unions.  And so, we’re in a new era assuming this decision is upheld.  If the decision is not upheld, we still have the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance, which, frankly, may be more favorable to employees than the National Labor Relations Act.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I guess at the end of the day, then, the decision, however it plays out, still means you’re in good standing in terms of the labor relations aspects.


MR. LEVINE:  This tribe has a collective bargaining agreement; they’re in their third renewal of that.  It won’t have any impact on that.  And moving towards the future, one way or the other, employees are guaranteed the right to organize.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this is one of the, I think as you’ve mentioned, the fact that this is one of the few tribes that have actually gone through, if you will, the successful union organizing drive without card check neutrality.  Can you tell us a little bit about this?  Why is this unique to San Manuel?

MR. LEVINE:  Well, let me just jump in for a moment.  I was the one who initially negotiated this, and I want to clarify something on the record because CWA had mentioned that the TLRO….this wasn’t subject to the TLRO or not done under the TLRO, but bear in mind that both the TLRO and the National Labor Relations Act are procedural rules about how you organize and they don’t get invoked if there’s no dispute.  And this was an instance in which CWA wanted to organize its employees and there was no dispute with the Tribe over that effort to organize and so there was no need to invoke either the NLRA or the TLRO.  Ultimately, however, HERE tried to invoke the NLRA because they felt that they had been wrongfully excluded.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  As you know, this is such a contentious issue, as you probably followed the last hour and half of the end of the testimony on the Pechanga Compact.  So I guess the question I would have is; is this, in essence, working for you?  I mean, you’re the showcase tribe, if you will, in terms of a unionized workforce, what would you say about that?


MR. DURO:  I can only speak to our position and we’ve had this union in place, you know, it’s the third term of three years, so we’re going on a contract of nine years here and we’ve had a good relationship with CWA.  As far as I’m concerned, it’s working.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Mr. Vice-Chairman and your team, thank you and we’ll ask you to come up, if you could, for some closing remarks.


MR. DURO:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any support for the San Manuel Compact?  


PHIL WYMAN:  Thank you.  My testimony will be somewhat repetitive but that is intentional.  But I must say, the San Manuel is a particularly close sister tribe to the Chemehuevi and we very strongly support approval of their compact.  And I think I am going to mention Article IV Section 19, which, of course, is in the constitution, and it is the organic legislation that the people put on the ballot authorizing the Governor to negotiate compacts.  And as it notes, “by federally recognized Indian tribes on Indian lands in California.”  Clearly, this tribe is doing that and, clearly, that’s the instruction to all, including the Governor.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And for the record, this is Mr. Wyman.


MR. WYMAN:  Yes, Phil Wyman, representing the Chemehuevi Indian Tribe—Phil Wyman and Associates.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Pulaski.


ART PULASKI:  Mr. Chairman, Art Pulaski, from the California Labor Federation.  You may recall that yesterday I sat before this committee in opposition to a number of the compacts.  Conversely today I stand in support, or I sit in support, of the San Manuel Compact because the San Manuel Tribe has, in fact, agreed with the union to have a contract there that represents the interests of those workers in many, many details, and because, in fact, this tribe respects the workers to the degree that they have permitted; they have not opposed a collective bargaining agreement; and they have, in fact, succeeded at a joint bargaining agreement with the union and the workers there; and so, we, therefore, support this.


They have—and I should say, informally done—achieved the process that we have been advocating in relation to the other tribes’ compacts and that is, essentially an agreement around a card check and neutrality.  It worked here; it worked to the satisfaction of both parties and we support the compact.  Thank you very much.


MICHAEL HARTIGAN:  Mr. Chairman, members, Michael Hartigan, President of the Local CWA 9400.  I, too, am in support of the San Manuel Compact.  As you’ve heard already, this was done through a voluntary election agreement.  San Manuel was not opposed to their employees being organized.  And, in fact, allowed us to come in and organize the employees.  We were very successful and we are, again, in a third contract with San Manuel.  The relationship has been amicable.  And while I’ll never say in front of an employer that the contract is the best—we always want more—we have been successful in the negotiations, the contracts negotiated by the members of the employees and members of CWA 9400 and ratified by the membership, and was just done.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


KEITH OLBERG:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members.  Keith Olberg, representing Big Lagoon, Los Coyotes and our partners for a discussion with the Chair.  We have asked our tribal secretary to make a very brief statement.  This would be the only compact of six that she will speak on.  Without any objection, could we have a couple of posters to show?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That would be pushing it, so why don’t we go ahead and just get testimony, if that’s okay.  We can submit it for the record, if you can, submit it for when the transcript is completed.  Go ahead.

FRANCINE KUPSCH:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Chairman and members.  My name is Francine Kupsch.  I’m the Executive Tribal Secretary for Los Coyotes Band of Cahuilla and Kapeno Indians.  I live on our reservation which is a remote mountainous wilderness area in the northeast San Diego County next to the Cleveland National Forest.  I’m here today for two reasons:

First, to support this compact.  I believe in the sovereign right of Native American tribes to be self-reliant.  


But I am here for a second reason, as well; to remind the Legislature that Los Coyotes Compact, which was agreed to and signed by our governor long before any of these compact amendments before you today, still sits before the State Legislature with no sign of ratification in the near future.  

Mr. Chairman, I’m here today to seek justice for my people.  You see, 
Mr. Chairman and members, I was the face of California Native Americans.  When California tribes needed a poor Native American face to persuade the California voters to pass “Yes on 5” and Proposition 1A, California tribes could find nobody poorer, no person living in more impoverished conditions than me.  It was my face and my life that was used in the advertising to help sell the case for class III Native American gaming to the voters in the State of California.  When they needed me, Mr. Chairman, I was there; I was the face of the poor Indians in California.  I was the one who cared enough to read to my son, even if it meant reading with a kerosene lamp.  The difference between then and now, Mr. Chairman, is these other tribes have become wealthy and don’t care to hear me anymore. 

I’m still poor, Mr. Chairman, and I live in still third world conditions.  My friends, my aunts, my uncles, my cousins who are members of other tribes in California, all have made millions while Los Coyotes people still have no stability on our reservation.  We still have a small portion of our reservation that doesn’t have electricity continuing onto the other members that live without the power and water.


Mr. Chairman, the rich are getting richer and the poor are getting the shaft.  There’s no equality in Native America, and, at least, not in Native California.  But I want to make it clear, Mr. Chairman, I’m not here today out of jealousy about the wealth other tribes have and do enjoy.  I do support their compacts and compact amendments.  What I want to say, Mr. Chairman and members of this committee, is that the time has come to lift the greedy finger of the hand that has held our tribal members in poverty.  Let the freedom and self-sufficiency that has been made possible for some Native Americans in California and promised by “Yes on 5” be made available to all Native Americans.  

So we are here today, Mr. Chairman and members, to ask that you make it a priority to set informational hearings for all tribes, including Los Coyotes and Big Lagoon, our compacts to build in Barstow.  Please, Mr. Chairman, give us, the poor tribes in California, the same opportunities to share the Native American dream that others have been offered and are living today.

Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Let me ask a question, and that is, first and foremost, is there a bill for Los Coyotes at this point in time?


MR. OLBERG:  I might answer that, Mr. Chairman, yes, there is and it’s before your committee—SB 157.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the person carrying that bill is?


MR. OLBERG:  One of your colleagues in this committee, Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you’re seeking a hearing for that particular bill?


MR. OLBERG:  We’d love to have an informational hearing, Mr. Chairman, yes; that’s what we’re asking you.  We urge that before the deadline at the end of this month.  All we’re asking is that you give us the same informational hearing that you’ve given all the other tribes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. OLBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Keith, come see me about that.  Come see me about that; okay?


Mr. Vice-Chair.  Or is there any other opposition/support?  Mr. Vice-Chair, any closing comments?


MR. DURO:  Just to thank you for your time.  And one quick comment:  While I was sitting at breakfast today it was pointed out to me that a short 150 years ago, the State of California was endorsing hunting down tribes and tribal members to exterminate them.  And today, we’re here before you to partner with the State, and I believe in an accord that is mutually beneficial to all parties involved.  And I appreciate your support in that endeavor.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Vice-Chair, I also want to say, we appreciate your sovereign taking the time to come to our sovereign to have testimony on this important compact, and I think, that at the end of the day as we move these through the Legislature, I do appreciate the willingness to stick with this side of the sovereign’s inability to get a compact until this time.  I think that time has probably come, so we appreciate your patience.  Thank you, Mr. Vice-Chair.

MR. DURO:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That will end the informational hearing on San Manuel.  I’d like to, if we could, have Chairman Tucker from Sycuan please come up.

(Senator takes a two-minute break)

Okay, let’s begin.  Chairman Tucker, thank you.  I apologize for leaving you at the table.  Chairman Tucker, I do want to tell you, thank you for being here.  Obviously, the amendments to the ’99 compacts with Sycuan and the amended compacts for review are our topic.  In many cases, you are very fortunate because I don’t think there’s anything I’m going to ask you in any some sort of order that you haven’t heard before.  I would like to ask you to take a little bit of our time and give us, if you will, for the record, some background on Sycuan and making sure that we fully understand the Tribe; its area; its goals; its history, and then I’m going to go through the compact.  But I would like to give you that opportunity and please take your time.  And thank you very much for being here again.


DANIEL TUCKER, CHAIRMAN, SYCUAN INDIAN TRIBE:  Well, thank you Chairman Florez and the committee members, for the opportunity to discuss the proposed amendments to our Tribal-State Compact today.  And in my opening statement we will discuss what the Tribe is doing, so you’ll get a pretty good picture of that.


But Sycuan has been involved in gaming longer than almost any other tribe in California, having opened its bingo in November 1983.  Our gaming operation has transformed our reservation community from a pocket of poverty where many houses lacked running water and even electricity, to a community that anyone would be proud to call “home.”  We are extremely proud of what we have accomplished, including our relationship with our neighbors, San Diego County, the State of California and the federal government.  


Today when many people think of tribes, they think of casinos.  This is important.  But first and foremost, Sycuan is a government, not a casino, and Sycuan’s government is dedicated to improving the health, welfare and quality of life for our members, their families, and our surrounding communities.  
For the past seven years under our 1999 compact we have considerable success, but that compact will expire in a little more than 12 years from now and if we are to continue to make progress, we need to be able to make longer-term plans to meet the changing conditions of our market.  That is why we returned to the negotiating table, with the Governor inviting us to do so in the spring of 2006.  The negotiations went on for a period of several months and involved hard bargaining on both sides.  There are lots of technical changes in our amended compact but two standout as being of particular importance.


First, the State General Fund receives no revenue for our ’99 compact.  Under the amended compact, the State’s General Fund would receive $20 million per year in a fixed annual payment in our existing 2,000 slot machines and 
50 percent of a net win on the additional 3,000 machines that will be allowed to operate.  We plan to put the first 1,000 additional machines into operation fairly soon after the amended compact takes effect.


Second, the current compact termination date has been extended until December 31, 2030, assuring both the Tribe and the State of a significant income stream for many more years.  Our 1999 compact has worked very well.  So although the amended compact makes many changes, we do not expect to see any significant technical changes in the way we operate or in the benefits and protections that our customers and employees and vendors already enjoy.  


I’ve heard our amended compact criticized as weakening our employees’ rights to organize and be represented by a union.  This is absolutely untrue.  Sycuan employees have had the right to organize under Sycuan’s 1999 Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance since our compact took effect in May of 2000.  
For the past seven years, no union has made any effort to organize our employees.  Sycuan is not antiunion and will not engage in any conduct that would impede organizing rights currently available to unions or our employees.  In fact, 95 percent of our current capital construction project costs go to unionized contractors.  
Based on retention rates, employee satisfaction surveys, and interaction between our employees and both tribal officials and casino management, and the fact that in seven years we have had not been contacted by a union or by employees seeking to be represented by a union.  We believe that our employees are very satisfied with a generous wage and benefit package that they receive, which includes employees and dependent health care, retirement plans, insurance, career advancement, education support and other benefits that equal or exceed most other similar workplaces in San Diego County.

We are proud that we have been able to be a significant contributor to the quality of life not only on our reservations, but to the rest of San Diego County and even the City of San Diego.  Our professional fulltime fire and ambulance services make more calls off the reservation than on.  Our health clinic and the pharmacy serve people from the surrounding community as well as from the casinos and other reservations.  Our wild and fire crew protects land, structures and people _________ reservation, and we have helped to provide county emergency crews with equipment that is saving lives every day.  
Our emerging role in the life of San Diego County has brought broad support from local elected officials and community leaders and organizations.  And we have some copies of those letters from our local businesses, organizations, elected officials and various groups.

We are proud of the strong relationship with the surrounding community.  We have great strides in meeting with them on a regular basis for many years.  And although we may not always agree on everything, we have accomplished all that we have had asked for us to do so.

In summary, Sycuan’s amended compact is a good deal for California, for San Diego County and for Sycuan.  We ask that the Senate ratify this agreement without delay so that it can move onto the Assembly for a swift action.

I’m happy to answer any questions at this time.  Thank you, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  If you could, before I begin going through the compact, if you could introduce your team for the record, that would be very helpful.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  To my right, is Noreen Kirsch, our human resources lady.  This is George Forman, our attorney; and Adam Day, our governmental affairs….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go through, if we could, the amendments.  Amendment I—authorized facilities.  The ’99 compact, obviously, was allowed to have two casinos; is that correct?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the amended compact talks about the potential of a second casino; are there plans to build that?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  No, we have no plans right now to put down a second casino.  Our investment exactly is where the reservation is on tribal lands, where it is right now, and there is no plan for a second casino.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the process for acquiring land, if there was a second casino, it would be on land in trust?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Yes.  There’s rules we have to follow from the federal government.  As to where those rules are, we still have to follow those rules.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s not in the course in this committee sometimes, but it could come in the compacts that we see, so I wanted to make sure I have that down for the record.

If I could, let me ask you about the compact….the reason I asked that is that it talked about a 1,600….you’re on 1,600 acres?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Our original reservation is 640 acres—one square mile.  And we have purchased other properties in our surrounding areas, yes we have.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to the Section 2—revenue contributions.  You’re entitled for a total of 5,000 slot machines and the 2,000 are the original under the ’99 compacts?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  That’s correct—the 2,000.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so 3,000 additional you can fit in your existing facility, then, if you don’t need to build…
CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Will they fit in there now?  No, they will not.  I think we could get probably 1,000 into our new facility….not into a new facility, into our old facility that we could probably accomplish 1,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So how do you get to the other 2,000?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  We’re going to have to master plan that into our older facility; probably expand our older facility in order to do so.  But we have to go with the market.  We’re not going to go and just put in 3,000 machines and think it’s going to work; we’re going to watch the markets in our area.  There’s ten casinos in San Diego County so the competition is getting pretty fierce, so we really have to look at the market value and where it’s going.  But otherwise, we ______ absolute for the future, and our Tribe is doing so by doing what it needs to do in a reasonable and in a respectful manner.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, I understand.  And I guess from our sovereign’s point of view, we’re very interested in when you’re fully built out because of the value of the particular compact beyond the benefits to your sovereign are, obviously, revenues to the State, and so, is there any thought process of what fully built out, meaning 5,000 slots, when that might be online at some point in time?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  I think maybe the most we’re going to get may be 4,000 at the point in the next four, five to six years, probably.  But, you know, we’d love to get the 5,000 machines tomorrow, but reality is reality, so we need to make those studies happen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s helpful.  Let’s talk about the cap on the 5,000 machines.  Those were negotiated, obviously, and that’s sufficient from your vantage point, at this point in time, until 2030?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  From our vantage point it’s very sufficient for us.  Because being located where we are, we’re not off no major freeway; we’re back in the rural community, and so, we’ve just got to be really careful about what we do with people coming out our facility because it is a rural community.  But the thing is, it can be done; it can be done correctly; and it can be done nicely, so that’s what we’re looking for.

Let me ask Mr. Forman to answer part of that question, why just the 5,000 machines, because it was tough negotiation, because the other tribes are getting 7,500, but reality is reality.  George, do you want to comment on that?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Forman, do you want to pen that in on this compact at this point?

MR. FORMAN:  The Sycuan Tribal Government has accepted an agreement that limits them to 5,000 machines between now and 2030 and if it’s good enough for the Tribe, it’s certainly good enough for me.  This was, as Chairman Tucker said, a very protracted, difficult negotiation.  There were no givens or give-mes in this negotiation, everything was on the table and involved give and take.  The tribe, from my perspective as their lawyer, did most of the giving, but they got certain things that they needed and they found the 5,000 cap acceptable.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the 2,000 slots that are currently being brought into the new compact, what did they generate prior to this amended compact?  What was the payment to the Special Distribution Fund?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  What were we paying—$2.5 million?  Two-and-a-half million.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Two-and-a-half million.  And with the payment now under just the 2,000 slots, what is that payment expected to be?

MR. FORMAN:  Under the amended compact it would be 

$20 million a year to the General Fund and nothing to the Special Distribution Fund.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we’ve gone from $2 million to $20 million—ten times.

MR. FORMAN:  Two-and-a-half to $20 million, yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that comes out to about $10,000 per slot; does that sound about right?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  That’s about right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Over the life of the compact, to give us some idea of what the State is guaranteed just on the 2,000 slots that are being brought in as a stable payment, that comes up to about $460 million?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you’re saying that you can get to 3,000 by when?  Not an additional 3,000, just to get to 3,000.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Just to get to the 3,000, it could take a couple of years—two to three years, probably.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And then we would get 15 percent in that timeframe that you’re speaking on, on the 1,000 above the 2,000 current slots?  So the percentage is still the same or is it 50 percent here on this?

MR. FORMAN:  From machine 2,001 to 5,000, which is the cap, the State’s cut is 15 percent of net win.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fifteen percent?

MR. FORMAN:  Fifteen percent of net win.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is there a 25 percent percentage in this, George?

MR. FORMAN:  No, because it cuts off at 5,000.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.  So anything above the 5,001 to 7,500 would have been 25 percent.

MR. FORMAN:  It would have go to 25 if it were a different compact, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.  The Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, the Tribe has agreed to pay $3 million, is that correct, to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?
CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Everyone else is paying $2 million, so what would be the…

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Like I said, the negotiations were tough and it was something that….we gave quite a bit, and in effect, it’s okay for us to do that because we still love our other brothers and sisters in this process—other tribes.  Sycuan—and I don’t know if you even know this—was the first tribe in San Diego County to give away profit sharing in the State of California and we got a lot of flack for that from people across this country, but we felt it was necessary and so we did it.  Sycuan, Barona and Viejas kind of have a pact to pay for the other tribes.  At the time, we didn’t know which way we were going to go—no compact was there at all.  So, to pay the $3 million it’s different, but still, it’s affordable for us, so it was something that’s….I know it’s a pride thing, but it was something that felt right to do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. FORMAN:  Mr. Chairman, if I might add one thing on that point?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MR. FORMAN:  Unlike the other compacts, the other four compacts, Sycuan had the fewest number of machines in September ’99 and thus needed the greatest number of licenses among this group of five tribes.  Sycuan was paying, for the last year, $2.3 million into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  The Administration wanted a bump-up in that annual flat rate contribution, and so, it ended up at three.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that was pretty significant given others have maybe paid quite substantially less than that historically.

MR. FORMAN:  Yes, it was.  I mean, this compact has…

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Pretty tough to follow.

MR. FORMAN:  This compact also has the provision that the State Gaming Agency, in the event of a shortfall in the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, may divert a portion of the State’s $20 million on the existing machines to make up for any shortfalls in the RSTF.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you, if I could, a bit about the backfill mechanism.  You’ve gone through this.  In terms of the binding arbitration and the State Gambling Commission control audits, those are all pretty standard as compared to the past compacts?

MR. FORMAN:  They’re identical to three of the four.  There was reference I noticed in the staff report to what happens if there’s a tribal court created, that is unique to the Agua Caliente Compact.  Pechanga, San Manuel, Morongo and Sycuan do not have that provision; it’s straight tribal process, dissatisfaction, binding arbitration in front of JAMS.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go into Section 3—the exclusivity and authorization portion of the compact.  If you could, the core geographic region in this compact, of course, is the same; Riverside, Orange County, Los Angeles and San Diego Counties; is that correct?
CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What are the penalties for the State in terms of exclusivity if it’s breached under this compact?

MR. FORMAN:  The State loses its flat guarantee of the $20 million; the RSTF loses its $3 million; if the Tribe continues to operate and the State does get reimbursed for its regulatory costs, any local Intergovernmental Agreement would not be affected by that with the San Diego County; and if the Tribe continues to operate in excess of 2,000 machines, the Tribe continues to pay the State the greater of 12.5 percent of net win or the State’s actual regulatory costs.  
One difference between the Sycuan Compact and the other four compacts is that Sycuan does not have exclusivity on banked or percentage card games.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Let me ask a question about that.  What’s the reason for that in terms of not having house banked or percentage card games as, if you will, a mitigating?

MR. FORMAN:  The Administration would not agree to include that in the compact.  You’ll have to ask them the rationale.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that’s very different than the other compacts that we’ve had; is that correct?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes, although the 1999 compact doesn’t give exclusivity to card games either.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  But in terms of the compacts we’ve heard thus far, at least in the compact it says “in the event the State authorizes any person or entity other than the Indian tribe with a federally approved class III gaming compact engaging gaming activities,” and it talks about subdivision 4.1.  And 4.1, obviously, talks about, even more so, the operation of gaming devices and it says “and not about banking or percentage card games.”
MR. FORMAN:  That’s absolutely correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So am I reading correctly, if a card club were to get approval for house banked or percentage games, any size, it could be located anywhere near you and there’s no breach of exclusivity?

MR. FORMAN:  That’s right, except when they get within 100 miles of somebody else and if there are bonds in place for the 2004 compacts, that would violate the exclusivity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So as long as they’re 100 miles away from every other tribe but close to you, that’s fine?

MR. FORMAN:  And if there are no bonds in place under the 2004 compacts.  Because if those bonds are in place, then any of those tribes, and there are several of them in San Diego County, could get an injunction against such a breach of exclusivity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I understand.  Something you weren’t, probably, excited about in the negotiation?

MR. FORMAN:  On August 30th of last year, it was more excitement than anybody could stand.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to Section 4 and 5.  The testing of the gaming devices, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Forman, in terms of these standards are higher standards than ’99?

MR. FORMAN:  They are more specific.  The ’99 compact, of course, gives the State Gaming Agency the ability to test machines.  This lays out with greater specificity their right to do so and eliminates any doubts on that question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the building codes and building standards are more localized in this particular compact?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes.  Instead of the ICBO Codes, the Tribe is required to adopt the California version of the Uniform Codes and the Life Safety Codes of San Diego County.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And Section 6 of the compact now—patron disputes.  Binding arbitration is the standard, and have there been any past problems with patron disputes at the reservation?

MR. FORMAN:  No, these are typically, to the extent that there are any, they never get past management at the casino that resolves them.  If they are a problem, they would go to the Tribal Gaming Agency.  They have not been a problem.  And, of course, under the amended compact if a customer is dissatisfied they have the streamlined JAMS arbitration enforced with the award enforceable in court.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is this a new provision that requires the Tribe to adopt standards no less stringent than the standards of the Fair Labor Act?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes, there is.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what does that mean—in malpractical purposes?

MR. FORMAN:  It means that in addition to the applicability of the FLSA directly by the Department of Labor, the Tribe has to adopt, as its own law, those standards and a failure to adhere to those standards would be a violation not only of DOL regulations, but if the State wanted to make an issue of it, a violation of the compact for which there are severe sanctions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And food and beverage handling, inspections, safe drinking water standards, all of those are mirrors of the past compacts we’ve heard?

MR. FORMAN:  Yes, both the 1999 and the 2004 compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anything different in terms of insurance requirements or tort liability ordinances in this compact and the other compacts we’ve heard?
MR. FORMAN:  No.  Again, with the exception of the Agua potential for a tribal court, but with respect to the other three compacts, it’s the same.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But I guess the reason I asked is, is that I did notice that the insurance doesn’t cover lands that are closed to the general public.  We did mention that in one of the compacts; is that different, as well?

MR. FORMAN:  It is like the Morongo Compact in that respect.  Again, the residential area of the Sycuan Reservation is access controlled.  There’s basically one primary road in and out from the casino, and so, the State was willing to carve out the non-gaming portion of the reservation as not subject to the Tribe’s Tort Claims Ordinance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In Morongo’s case, they explained the rationale for that; what’s the rationale here?

MR. FORMAN:  It’s the same rationale.  Here, too, there’s a gate through which one has to pass if one wants to go past the entrance to the casino, and that portion of the reservation is not open to the public.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Section 8—in terms of workers’ compensation; those are standard?

MR. FORMAN:  It’s the same provisions as the other compacts with the same level of detail.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go over the mitigation of off-reservation impacts, which are Section 9.  Does the Tribe have to show community support for the construction of a second casino on contiguous reservation land?

MR. FORMAN:  The compact does not require that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  No telephone poll, phone calls or nothing of that sort?

MR. FORMAN:  No, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You have to complete an environmental impact report, obviously, and what’s the status of that effort?

MR. FORMAN:  There is none.  Well, with respect to the Tribe’s existing construction of a new parking garage, there was exhaustive environmental review under the 1999 compact.  The Tribe has not yet commenced any project that would trigger the requirement of a new study with respect to any expansion or enlargement of its class III gaming activities under the amended compact.  If and when the amended compact is ratified, or even if it’s not, if the Tribe decided to modify its existing facility under its existing compact, it would go through the process of preparing the TEIR; consulting with local government; consulting with the community;, discussing mitigation with the board of supervisors.  Under the amended compact they would have to add a step of publishing notice of the intent to prepare the TEIR; go through the whole process using the CEQA checklist and a more detailed list of impacts to be identified; hold the hearings; enter into the binding and enforceable mitigation agreement with the local government; or negotiate the agreement and then they could commence their project.  If they’re unable to agree on all of the terms of the Intergovernmental Agreement, that goes to straight arbitration from which either party can go to a JAMS appellate panel, the result of which is binding on both.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s it for the compact in terms of the amendments.  Let’s go to the general questions.  Obviously, the recent appeals court decision in terms of the National Labor Relations Board, your opinion on that.  Is it going to affect operations?
MR. FORMAN:  Until that decision becomes final and until that decision is applicable to Sycuan directly, the TLRO (the Tribal Labor Relations Ordinance), would continue to apply.  As Chairman Tucker indicated in his opening remarks, nobody, no union, has contacted Sycuan since 1999 to indicate its interest in organizing Sycuan’s gaming employees.  There were SEIU employees in the building when Sycuan was operating its off-track wagering facility for about 
15 years, but no effort was made to go beyond that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you give us some idea of the Tribe’s employee benefits?

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  I’ll turn it over to our human resources person, Maureen, because it’s pretty extensive.  And under the TLRO, I mean, I’ve been listening to the conversation for the last day-and-a-half and it gets to the point where how much has got to be said about this.  And if it hasn’t been worked and it hasn’t been done where people come in and try to work this thing, especially at Sycuan, because my instructions from our council and from our organization is, we’re not going to stop anybody from coming in and talk with the union, and we’re not going to punish anybody for doing so, we’re not going to threaten anybody for doing so, because that’s not in our nature.  I was a retail clerk for 25 years and I understand what that is about.  But our protection for our employees will be well above what anybody can offer for those people, and our employees really, really believe that.  And I think the reason why it hasn’t been done right now is because they can’t match what we’re doing.  And I’ll let Maureen ____________ of that.
MR. FORMAN:  Yeah, I’d like to add one thing that seems to have been missed in all of the prior discussions that you’ve heard, particularly from opponents of the various compacts.  And that is, the TLRO is not a dead piece of paper.  The TLRO is a law of the Tribe.  And if somebody in a tribal casino, if it’s a supervisor, whoever, says something inappropriate that an employee interprets as somehow threatening or intimidating, that’s a violation of the Tribe’s law.  And the notion, the suggestion that a tribal government would not take seriously an allegation that its own law has been violated is a fundamentally offensive assumption.  It underlies much of what the committee has heard.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MAUREEN KERR:  Hi.  To answer your question on the benefits, without going into any other information that you might find too extensive, it does represent 48 percent of our payroll, so it’s quite an extensive benefit plan.  It includes things that you would expect—the medical, dental, vision plans, life insurance, long-term disability insurance, workers’ comp insurance, an employee assistance program, a work life program to help people balance life issues that may or may not have to do with their work environment, educational reimbursement.  We have an employee shuttle service, which is fully funded by the Tribe, to pick people up at central locations and bring them to work so they don’t have to foot the bill for gas and transportation.  We have odd little benefits like, onsite massages, which the employee contributes $5 to and the Tribe pays for the rest.  We have things like Toastmasters International—we have a Sycuan chapter that employees can join.  And most notably, though, I’d like to mention our 401(k) plan, because we do provide a 401(k) plan with an employer match similar to what the other tribes have mentioned.  But in addition to that, the Tribe offers all eligible employees, regardless of whether they contribute or not, 3 percent of their gross pay to their 401(k) account every year, so that’s very significant and not something you’d find normally.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  ___________ may add _____ in this country today, there are abuses that happen and drug abuse is part of that, and we do have a drug-free environment.  But those who are, and we find out, we look at those people who are; we do offer places to go for those employees who do have that problem.  If they’re selling, that’s one thing, we don’t tolerate the sale of narcotics or anything like that.  But if they do have a problem, our first point of action is to make sure that they’re taken care of healthwise and that they do go through a program, and I think it’s a six-month program, something like that.  We try to make sure this happens for our employees.  As well as, I know this question is coming, but the program for problem gamblers.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  That was my last question, in fact.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  And that’s very important to us, because we do have tribal members who do have, sometime, this problem as well.  So it is a big problem for all of us in this country, not just in the State of California, but also in Las Vegas and every other country that has this problem—something has to be done about it.  And we do do our fair share of that and we do offer help for those people who have it.  When we see somebody there who seems to be there a little too long, it’s time for them to go and we will approach those people and pass out pamphlets, and we have phone numbers where they can go to get the help that they really do need.  We don’t take that lightly whatsoever, Mr. Chairman.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chairman, we hope that we can get your commitment to work with us on a more comprehensive statewide policy than we have now, which is a brochure.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  We’re open to anything that we can talk to them and negotiate about.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Chairman and your team, thank you.  We’ll take other supporters and then opposition.  We’ll ask you to make any closing statement you’d like after that.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Thank you very much.  I appreciate your time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Those in support, please come forward.

MR. WYMAN:  Phil Wyman, Phillip D. Wyman and Associates, representing the Chemhuevi Tribe.  Again, this is an outstanding casino operating on reservation and ancestral land.  We support it.  That’s important to our Tribe, that that rule be applied generally throughout this state.  

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to appear before your hearing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Wyman.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  Mr. Chairman, Richard Milanovich, Chairman of the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians.  I sit before you this afternoon to also voice our support, Agua Caliente Band’s support for the Sycuan Band of Kumeyaay Indians ratification process.  
I realize this is just an informational hearing but by the same token your committee, I’m sure, once the transcript is put out, will help influence many of the senators who will be taking a vote sometime in the near future.  I also wish to voice support for the San Manuel Band of Serrano Indians compact ratification, as well as the Morongo Band of Serrano Indians ratification and the Pechanga Band of Luiseño Indians, their compact ratification, and, naturally, Agua Caliente.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Yurok.

CHAIRMAN MILANOVICH:  And, also, Sir, I have one other item.  I was reading the paper this morning and I found it rather interesting, the topic—“Referendum proposals on a $250 million Dixon Downs project to go before the city voters on Tuesday.”  The Dixon Downs proposal is to build a brand new horseracing facility in the City of Dixon, which is, as I understand, about 30 miles from here.  They’re talking about the latest campaign statement showed that since the first of the year the protract group “Don’t Let Dixon Down” has raised $508,000; $206,000 coming last month.  Most of that money is from Pacific Racing Association, an entity owned by Magna Entertainment Corporation, which owns or operates the Hollywood Park and the other one up here, the one that’s closing—Bay Meadows, I believe.  It’s a Canadian based conglomerate.  The cost of this facility—$250 million.  Evidently, with all the dire predictions that are coming about because of the tribal facilities, they see some light at the end of the tunnel here and I just want to point that out.  It wasn’t brought up today.  
Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

AUDREY MARTINEZ:  Good afternoon.  My name is Audrey Martinez.  I’m the tribal treasurer for the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians and would like to be on record that we are in support of the other tribes for their compacts; Sycuan, Morongo and Pechanga. 

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Others in support.

ALAN FERNANDEZ:  Mr. Chair, members, briefly, Alan Fernandez, Riverside County.  Just in the interest of brevity, I’d like to attach my comments yesterday for Morongo and Agua Caliente to the Pechanga Compact, as well.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Opposition.

MR. GRIBBON:  Mr. Chair and members, my name is Jack Gribbon, representing UNITE HERE.  We oppose this compact for the same reasons that were described yesterday and today unless you insist….well, I’ll just leave it at that, although we could start at the beginning if you would insist, but I’ll just leave it at that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s up to you, Mr. Gribbon.  Thank you.

WALDEN RIGGS:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and ladies.  My name is Walden Riggs.  I live in the Dehesa Valley and I have lived there for the last 
63 years.  I grew up with a lot of the Indian kids there and my kids grew up with their kids, etcetera, etcetera.
At this present time, I am serving as the chairman of the Crest Dehesa Granite Hills Harbison Canyon Subregional Planning Group.  I’ve been a member of that planning group for many years.  I’m speaking on their behalf.  And the planning group is a board elected by the voters in the subregion with the ratification of their election by the county board of supervisors to advise the planning commission and the board of supervisors on land use matters on the eastern portion of San Diego County. 

The subject of the proposed amended compact between the State of California and the Sycuan Band has been a topic of discussion, obviously, over the past several months, in fact, probably more than that.  The planning group entered into a memorandum of understanding with the Sycuan Tribe in November of 2000 which states in part, “In the interest of good relations among the Crest Dehesa Granite Hills Harbison Canyon Subregional Planning Group, the Sycuan Band of Kumeyaay Nation, collectively known as the “parties” and the creation of an environment and collective community that is conducive to the well-being of all, and in consideration of their mutual promises and responsibility, this agreement is entered into for the purpose of a common goal of shared community.  Each party will appoint an extension of their respective organization to be the representative to facilitate the spirit of this agreement.  The Band will form a Land Use Planning/Environmental Department (acronym BLUE) which will be responsible for communicating with the subregional planning group appointed advisory subcommittee.  SBGAC and BLUE will meet regularly as representatives of the SBG and the Band, respectively, for the purpose of engaging each party to continue to develop a progressive relationship by maintaining open communication, shared ideas and identifying the critical issues for either party.  SBGAC and BLUE will work together to promote mutually common goals which will include, but not be limited to, the quality of life and respect to air quality, community character, community density, traffic and water quality,” and it goes on from there which is not pertinent to what we’re talking about here today.
But I would like to make you aware of the fact that at no time over the previous several meetings was the fact that Sycuan was proposing to amend their ’99 compact, which is in violation of the MOU that said that there would be communication.  Also, at no time was it mentioned to the planning group the fact that they were in negotiations with the Governor.  We were not given the ability or opportunity to address any concerns or make any suggestion as to how the amended compact could best serve both the Tribe and the subregion.  We had to find out about the proposal from our local newspaper when the ratification failed.
At a special meeting called by the planning group on February 20, 2007 in Dehesa, the Sycuan Tribe was given the opportunity to make a formal presentation to the planning group, which they did.  Also, the Dehesa Valley Community Council made a formal presentation to the group outlining the many reasons why the amended compact, as proposed, would be extremely detrimental to the quality of life for the residents of the subregion, and, particularly, those in the Dehesa Valley. 

And at this point I’m going to stop right there and make you aware that the Dehesa Valley is a very unique topographical area.  There’s one way in that branches onto the east and onto the north, so it’s like a Y, and it’s a valley that goes quite deep and is very narrow.  

At the conclusion of the presentation, the public, which also included members of their tribe and the employees, were given the opportunity to speak to the issue, which approximately 80 people did.  Of those who spoke, approximately 90 percent were opposed to the amended compact as it was presented.  At the conclusion of the public speakers, the planning group discussed these issues.  After discussion, a motion was presented by me that states the planning group “go on record in opposition to the ratification by the State Legislature of the 2006 amended compact between the State of California and the Sycuan Band of Kumeyaay Nation as it is presented at this time because the planning group finds that this compact would cause significant impacts affecting community land use planning in the subregion.”  That  motion passed by a vote of 8 yes, 1 no, and 1 abstention. 
I have to make you aware that the addition of 3,000 slot machines for a total of 5,000, plus the ability of having a second casino “on newly acquired land,” will have a tremendous impact by increasing traffic, raising the crime rate (which has been raised significantly recently), degradation of air quality and almost total destruction of the community character of Dehesa Valley as we now know it.
Several years ago the community planning group was instrumental in drawing up a community plan and one of the goals, one of the many goals in our community plan was to preserve the rural community character of our area.  Now, when we talk rural, it’s more suburban than it is rural anymore.  It used to be rural when 63 years ago when I was a young lad, but it is not that way anymore.  But it is a residential area—basically residential.  
To continue; it will be extremely difficult for the planning group to do an adequate job of making responsible land use recommendations to protect the way of life for the residents if this amended compact is ratified as presented.  Therefore, the Crest Dehesa Granite Hills Harbison Canyon Planning Group respectfully requests the amended compact with Sycuan be denied.  That was the action of our planning group.  
I have a couple of remarks I’d like to make on a personal basis, if that’s okay.

Number one, and this is probably a different issue, but I think the Senate and Assembly should require the Governor to establish a budget to fit the income, not income to fit the budget.  Money, unfortunately, seems to be the focus of almost everything we do.  And it’s very important that the people, the every day average person who lives in the immediate area of any of these casinos, be considered and not throw those people away for the object of taking in more money for the State.

In the LAO report, and I don’t know if you’ve had an opportunity to look at that or not, but it’s quite interesting.  The LAO report shows that the money will be very slow in coming in, and I believe Governor Schwarzenegger alluded to the fact that all of this would be taken care of by July.  That’s rather ludicrous, I think.  Even if it does come by July, as been alluded to a few minutes ago by someone else, all that money that would come into the State is less than one-half of one percent of the entire budget of the State of California, so it’s really not a significant amount when you look at it in those terms, but it is a significant amount when you look at in terms like you and I, millions of dollars….a million bucks for me would be a really significant amount as it would be for most average people.  
Basically, that’s all that I have and if you have any questions I would be more than happy to try to answer them to the best of my ability.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Next witness.

PATRICIA RIGGS:  Good afternoon.  My name is Patricia Riggs.  I’m the other half of the Riggs.  And I’m president of the Dehesa Valley Community Council, a non-profit organization.  The bylaws of the council state that we promote the welfare of the residents of the Dehesa Valley area and to protect Dehesa Valley from the encroachment of any activity which would be harmful or detrimental to said area.  The residents in this subregion work hard to strive to provide for ourselves, our families, to secure our future and to give back to the community.  The community has gathered over 2,500 signatures on petitions within the subregion by going door to door.  This petition states:  “We the undersigned petition to prevent the ratification of the amendment to the Tribal-State Compact between the State of California and the Sycuan Band of Kumeyaay Nation.  

We’re not opposed to gambling, but we are opposed to the newly amended compact between the State of California and Sycuan as it is written.  The newly amended compact allows for an additional 3,000 slot machines, a total of 5-.  This will have a detrimental effect on our rural community which we access by a two-lane road which now has 14,300 average daily trips (account taken by the county last July).  It would further increase crime, light, air, noise pollution, road wear and tear and increase the cost of emergency services.
Also, the language in Section 4.2 allows for an expansion of a second casino off-reservations on newly acquired land approximately 1,600 acres; land that Sycuan has not yet applied to put into trust.  

The language of the compact does not provide adequate protection for the immediate community or its regional neighbors, nor has Sycuan made an attempt to sit down with the immediate community and discussed alternate plans.  In fact, in an email from Adam Day, Assistant Tribal Manager, sent to several members of our community on February 23rd, he states, “They certainly don’t stand a chance of getting the Tribe to negotiate directly with them.”  We would be willing to accept compromise through a process of renegotiation that would protect the community and we are respectfully requesting that this committee support our quest to prevent the ratification of the amended compact.”  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

BILL BENGEN:  Hello.  My name is Bill Bengen.  I’m from El Cajon, California.  I want to thank you for the opportunity to speak before you today.  I’m always thankful and grateful for the attention that public officials, such as yourself, devote to long hearings like this.  I know I was watching on TV yesterday and I just think it’s a privilege to have the opportunity to speak before you on this issue.

I’m not going to speak long because you’ve been going at it for a long time.

There are just two major points that I wanted to raise with respect to the Sycuan proposed compact.  One, is a question of….we view locally as fairness, and the other is, the question of what kind of California we want to have for our children in the future.

I represent an organization—hundreds of people who live within a four, five-mile radius of the existing Sycuan Casino.  Many of us have lived there for many years.  And the original casino was erected in 2000, and since then, we’ve noticed a significant deterioration in life where we live.  It’s still a very nice area.  We have a lot more traffic; we have crime that we’ve never had to deal with before; we have effects of pollution; and we are seeing more and more problem gambling, which I’m going to talk more about later, but we’re deeply concerned about that issue.  We’re not happy about all those facts but we bear with it because we’re lawful citizens and we understand that Sycuan has been granted what it has, and its existing casino, by law and by the expressed will of the citizens of California, so we grit our teeth and we live with these effects.
However, this new compact, from our viewpoint, goes over the top in terms of what it affords the Sycuan Band; it’s really a massive increase in gambling that is being granted to them.  And, quite frankly, we see no reason, no compelling reason why this band of Indians, which has been very successful financially, needs a further boost from the State of California to its gambling monopoly.  If the Sycuan Band never added another casino slot to its casino, they would continue to be financially successful for a long time.  They have diversified into other businesses; they generate an enormous income; and, quite frankly, we’re happy to see that because we knew what the situation was many years ago and we wish that all Americans could succeed as well as the Sycuan Band has.  However, we also feel that a massive expansion of gambling, such as contemplated by this compact, would have tremendous adverse effects on a local community magnifying all those effects I discussed earlier.  And we don’t see why, if the Sycuan Band can achieve its piece of the American dream, which is great, why ours should be destroyed in the process.  That’s the fairness issue.
The other concerns—problem gambling—I’m just going to briefly read you excerpts from two emails I received from our members recently.  This is one that says, “I live a quarter of a mile from the casino.  I have become addicted to gambling and am trying to stop going there.  We see many young people there and we have seen them become angry because of their losses.”

Another one:  “Indian gambling establishments are situated in our midst amongst residential developments.  Our kids are subjected to gambling temptations daily.  This is of big concern.”

Additional gambling means additional gambling advertising and there’s plenty of it—TV, radio—right now in the San Diego area.  We’re concerned that gambling is being legitimized for our young people as an activity that is okay for them to be involved with.  And I can tell you, that the people who live in our area don’t feel that’s the case; that’s not why we moved to California.  If we felt that way, we would have moved to Nevada.  In any event, we see this as a problem that really hasn’t gotten sufficient attention, and we know there’s over one million problem gamblers in California.  Expanded gambling is only going to increase that dramatically.  We fear for the future of our families, of our kids, of our grandkids.  We think our whole society is at risk. 

We ask, for these two reasons, respectfully, that the committee vote for non-ratification of the Sycuan amended compact as it is currently written.

I thank you for the opportunity to speak with you.

MS. SCHMIT:  My name is Cheryl Schmit, director of Stand Up For California.  I spoke yesterday, and I certainly still continue to support those same public policy positions I was asking for consideration yesterday.  But today I wish to speak to you on something new and different, and that is, basically what you heard before you, and this is, local control.

When card clubs or racetracks are put into local communities the citizens can call for a referendum and vote up or down whether or not they want the expansion of that gaming facility.  Even if there is an increase in the number of tables at a card club, there is the ability to have a vote on whether or not you want the expansion of that gaming facility.  

Now. last year, there was a lot of work and a lot of work by Senator Florez on off-reservation gaming, which was appreciated, and basically, this is kind of an extension of that off-reservation gaming.  This is an expansion of existing gaming.  While some of it is existing on reservations, others are, like Sycuan is, acquiring 1,600 acres of land that is contiguous and it is set aside in the compact in Section 4.2, and it’s as if the Governor is giving the State’s approval for this without allowing local government or citizens to have a meaningful voice in the federal process to oppose an acquisition, so we feel that it predisposes a second casino.  And while we recognize the Tribe has said that they have no plans at this time, the compact does go for another 23 years, so at some time in the future, there very well could be a second casino.
Mrs. Riggs, I think she may have forgotten to tell you, but she has brought to you today, a petition from the citizens.  There are over 2,500 signatures of citizens at the local level who have signed, who are opposed to the expansion of this gaming facility and this Tribal-State Compact.

In past years, you witnessed citizens in communities on off-reservation issues forming advisory votes in a number of counties to oppose the expansion of gaming in their community.  And, certainly citizens would ask for something similar if there is going to be these types of huge expansions.  

One thing that did not occur with these five compacts is that there was not contact between the Governor’s Office and local jurisdiction.  They were not consulted.  And certainly here, I have this morning that was sent to me, a letter from Supervisor Diane Jacobs, asking for amendments or enhancements to the amendments.  And the five points that she makes in this lengthy letter are significant:

1. Local government should be given a place at the negotiation table with tribes wishing to amend compacts, such as Sycuan, and the Governor’s administration.

2. Stronger language with regard to environment review and the enforceable mitigation agreement with local government.

3. Justification for the revised number of slot machines allocated to the Tribe.

4. An in to the preauthorization of a second casino on lands not currently held in federal trust.

5. Regulatory oversight of tribal gaming by the State of California and an independent audit on gaming revenues.

And the letter, of course, is addressed to you, Senator Florez, and copied to legislative leadership.


The other thing that’s in this compact, which I have never been satisfied with, and certainly, Senator Florez, again, you expressed dissatisfaction to it last year in the off-reservation proposals, and that was for the phone polls.  A phone poll is just not adequate to determine if there is widespread support among the citizens in a community if they want the expansion of gaming.


And, the Governor’s compact in this particular area arguably is contradictory to the proclamation that he submitted last May 18, 2005.  He says, “I shall oppose proposals for the federal acquisitions of lands within any urbanized area where the land sought to be acquired in trust are to be used to conduct or facilitate gaming activities.”  And the City of El Cajon is clearly on that list that was attached to his proclamation, so I’m quite perplexed why this was included in this particular compact.

I wanted to bring up one other issue that you mentioned today, and you talked about the Buena Vista Compact.  And, again, we have a situation in which Amador County was not appropriately contacted and communicated with on the development of that compact.  Had they been, and had there been some sort of consensus of the citizens in the area, I think they would have left it that the Tribe could have the ’99 compact with a limit of 350 slot machines instead of expanding it.  I don’t believe that that has anything at all to do with union workers in that case.

One suggestion, there’s a bill out, I believe it’s the Senator’s—SB 152—and this is basically an expansion of gaming for card clubs—the small card clubs; a small expansion.  But again, if there was language like that to allow for some sort of a vote, for some sort of local referendum for citizens and communities, it would be greatly appreciated.

That’s my comments for today.  Thank you so much.

MR. FOX:  Mr. Chairman, Bob Fox on behalf of the California Thoroughbred Breeders.  I won’t restate our objections.  Just to say that the comments we made on both the compacts yesterday and our brief comments this morning, apply to this one as well, and we oppose it.  Thank you.

MR. CASTRO:  My name is Richard Castro, representing Pari-Mutuel Employees Guild.  I’m also in opposition to this compact, but I’m going to give a couple of different reasons, if I may.

One, no one has really talked about the jobs.  Senator Vincent started to go down that road, how horseracing and jobs have been such a boon to California prior to casino gaming.  We’re about to lose all of that; security guards, supervisors, mutuel clerks, janitors—all soon to be gone.  These people are all residents of California; they’re all taxpayers of California; I would like you to think about that.  
I have utmost respect for the Agua Caliente leader who brought up Dixon Downs.  All of us in the room have heard for how many years—two, three, four, five?  Dixon Downs was going to be a racetrack.  They haven’t broken ground yet.  

What touches me even more, and what I’d like you to think about, I’m the SEIU local that had satellite wagering going to the Sycuan Satellite Parlor and they chose to shut the signal down.  And I’m assuming that the reason why they chose to shut the signal down because there was a more profitable way to use that space.  I can honestly tell you, my workers were sad to see that go.  And I would like you to think just what the plight really is for horseracing.  And, I’m asking you to help.  

Thank you.

MR. BAEDEKER:  My name is Rick Baedeker, representing Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park.  I, too, will not reiterate everything I’ve said over the last two days.  I would like to clarify a statement that was made by Mr. Milanovich about the Dixon Downs property.  That is Magna Entertainment.  Magna owns Golden Gate and Santa Anita.  I represent Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park.  We have nothing to do with their business venture at Dixon Downs.  I can tell you that the Dixon Downs proposal is a multi-use proposal; about a third of it is racing related, the other two-thirds is not racing related, so maybe that helps us understand why they want to make that move.  
So I would just like to finish by saying that one point of new information that I don’t think any of us said is that the racing industry each year contributes about $55 million in direct taxes to the State.  It used to be more than that back in the good old days (and those good old days stretch back some 70 years).  So over those 70 years, as a matter of fact, we have generated billions of dollars for the State of California.  

And as Richard said, I think I just would finish with asking the elected representatives to think about their constituents who comprise those 40,000 plus jobs—48,000 jobs.  These are good jobs.  These are good paying jobs with medical, with pensions, and they’re part of collective bargaining agreements that go back more than 50 years.  So, I would ask this body to be mindful of them and ask that racing be part of the discussion, of the negotiations.  That these compacts not be ratified before there is some plan for racing, some kind of mitigation for racing.  If this exclusivity will be part of the compacts, then I would simply ask that this body consider some other form of mitigation for racing.

Thank you.

JEANNE HOLLINGSWORTH:  My name is Jeanne Hollingsworth.  And thank you for listening.  I know you’ve had a really long, drawn out day and you must be tired.  But, I feel that the expansion of gaming puts democracy itself at risk in the corruption.  You take money from the hands of many and you take the money and you funnel it down into hands of very few which represent only maybe a percentage of one percent of the Indians themselves.  So this is an economic law that’s called a negative multiplier effect.  It will degrade the socioeconomic strength of California by taking money out of the economy and putting it into the hands of few; not only a few, but a select few that are not part of the California government.  
It’s shown by the National Committee on Impact of Gaming that for every one dollar that comes in from gambling, it costs three to five dollars in social costs through bankruptcies, larcenies, embezzlement, crime and other social ills.  Gambling itself can be a very bad social addiction.

We are from No More Slots from the Santa Inez Valley.  And although the Chumash are not asking to be part of these compacts, with the 15.4 being the “most favored tribe,” they can.  So from our rural valley which has 23,000 residents, we have collected 13,000 signatures in hopes that you will hear our voice.

Thank you.

CHARLES JACKSON:  Mr. Chair, Senators, thank you for this opportunity to speak.  My name is Charles “CJ” Jackson.  I’m from the Santa Inez Valley Concerned Citizens.  And I’m here to speak against the compact because I am concerned at a level of due diligence.  And the due diligence applies to something the woman just mentioned.  There is an item in the 1999 compact; it is item number 15.4.  It addresses the notion of a “most favored tribe’s” status.  In so doing, it asserts that if superior compact provisions are provided to one of those tribes that are considered “most favored,” that this also provided to others. 

I have not been able to determine a sufficient answer to the question whether or not such approval of these compacts would not, by default under 15.4, provide the impetus to a 5,000 slot expansion in my community.  I’ve gone to the Governor.  I have gone elsewhere.  I have not heard a meaningful discussion of whether or not that provision actually applies.  

My fear in coming to you, ladies and gentlemen, is that you may be evaluating five compacts here.  I can’t get an answer.  I’m seeking your help.  And I would imagine I would encourage you to seek further.  Does this approval that you contemplate today, by default, provide an expansion in other communities not presently before you today?  This is of a concern in our county.  We made a trip up here from Santa Barbara County to express that because we have not heard an answer that satisfies the notion.  As we read that piece of the compact, granted, it is very simple in its wording, I would ask that you please take a hard look at that and define it, because we cannot support the current compacts that you have before you if by default it creates an expansion of which we have had no opportunity to discuss, to input at our local level.

I thank you for this opportunity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Battin.

SENATOR BATTIN:  It’s an interesting point but I don’t believe it’s relevant to this because the Viejas and Pala and there’s, I think, three or four other folks that have signed the ’99 compacts, as well, that are under that language.  They have, in 2004, signed a compact amendment that has unlimited slots.  So if your argument is true on this, it’s already over because they’re unlimited, so the sky’s the limit.  I don’t think your argument is valid.  But my point is, it’s already done because those tribes that signed ’99 compacts now have signed an amendment with unlimited slots.  But I don’t believe that the most favored nation part of the compact applies to the amendments; it applies to the original compacts that they have signed.
MR. JACKSON:  I appreciate, Mr. Battin, that you don’t believe it.  I’m troubled by the answer that somehow this has already been taken care of.

SENATOR BATTIN:  I didn’t say it was already taken care of.  As a matter of fact, I said the opposite.  First off, I don’t believe that it affects the “most favored nation” part of that ’99 compact affects what your concern is; I don’t believe that to be the case.  However, if it does, then it’s already too late because the Legislature has ratified compacts in 2004 that had no caps—unlimited—so they were also signatories of the ’99 compacts amended in 2004.  So if your concern is a problem today, which also would be a way for all the tribes to not just go through this process and just take the MFN part of it as well, and they haven’t done that because I don’t believe it’s applicable.

MR. JACKSON:  Okay.  I felt compelled to share that because it is of grave concern to our community.  I still don’t know if that means that you’ve reviewed it to the degree that we have sought from the Governor to answer that question.  But I thank you for this opportunity to raise it.  And I ask you to continue to consider it.  Thank you.

ELIZABETH GALVIN:  And, actually, I will take it from there.  My name is Elizabeth Galvin and I also came here today under No More Slots.  Actually, we are a lot of moms and we actually went to the board of supervisors.  And when we found out about that, it’s because the head of our gaming industry, which is the Chumash Casino, actually did mention during the board of supervisors that actually if other tribes were negotiating for them they will, by default, get the same thing.  So, I see that it is very important for us.  And because of that, we decided to actually ask all of the residents, and we have only, like maybe, 8,000 families living in the Santa Inez Valley and we got 13,000 petitions that actually we delivered, with our copies, we delivered to the Governor this morning with Cynthia Bryant.  We asked the question to Cynthia Bryant and she said that was a good question to come here to ask you, so I guess it’s not that clear.  
And I really appreciate for you guys because you are representing us and I think that we cannot take any more expansion.  We have too many problems in our little valley and we need you to be our guardian angel, like we also need to _______.  
That gaming inside of California, it’s like a cancer which will just metastasize everywhere and the problem is, you are the only one who can stop that.  You can make it happen.  You can stop it.  And we just need you to do that because I have a daughter, she’s eight years old.  Her school is half a mile from that casino.  We see it every day and crime and drug issues.  And I understand that we try to just make our state the golden state and gaming. I moved from Nevada to the State of California three years ago to get away from the gaming and it’s still right there.  And you have the opportunity to make a stop to that.  This is not good for your economy.  It’s not good for the State.  So, please help us.  
And listen to our voice because the California residents are not in the equation anymore and why not—we do pay taxes and we did vote for you and we did give you our support, and so, we need your support to support our family and don’t sell ourselves for just trying to take a few hundred of thousand of dollars into the budget because you need billion.  And the problem is for every million dollar that you can get is going to cause three times more.  
And I have been spending four weeks since we started that battle to learn economy report.  I have a Ph.D. in public finance and I’m really good about looking at economy trend, economy report, and if you look at all of them, they are extremely appealing.  So I don’t know when and where you’re doing your homework before you do work on that, but please do.  And please, before you give any chance to just get spread out because this is a huge virus and it will affect you; it’s affecting us, and you have the power to say no and we need you to do that.  
So thank you very much for your time.  And please think of us, of all of us and our children when you make that decision because you’re going to make history if you decide to do that.  And as well, we vote for you; we want you to be there for us because that is the time to show it.  Thank you.

MARILYN SIMANDLE:  Hi.  My name is Marilyn and I live in Santa Inez Valley.  I’ve been there for 20 years and I have noticed quite a difference in our valley in the last five years since the casino was built.  

It’s interesting.  Las Vegas was created in Nevada because originally there was nobody living there.  There was no community there.  And our little community has been impacted in an amazing way; crime has gone up, traffic has gone up, our children are affected by it.  The casino has affected a 50-mile radius with the traffic and the crime.

Also, the proximity of the casino allows for….the gamblers that come, because it’s close, have a 50 percent chance more likely to become addicted to gambling and therein lies our problem.  When you get addicted to gambling you do bad things to uphold your habit; you steal, you break into cars, you steal purses, you do bad things; sell drugs.  And our children, because it’s close to three schools, are getting affected by this.
And I’m just pleading with you.  You have the power to stop this across the whole state and the nation.  You have the power to stop this cancer.  The slot machine is like the crack cocaine of drugs; it is so addicting.  And we plead that we do not want anymore gaming expansion.  

And I love what that guy said about the quality of life.  They have their quality of life now.  Why should that affect our quality of life—our American dream?  Why should it affect our American dream?

Thank you.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I have an answer for you:  The Governor wants the revenue.
MS. SIMANDLE:  Yes, but at what expense.
MS. GALVIN:  But we pay the tax.  And we, the residents, pay the tax.

SENATOR VINCENT:  You missed when I spoke before, and I kind of agree with you.  But here’s what’s happening.  The places you mentioned, rural places, okay, you see a lot of people coming there now.  They’re coming there now because the Indians have class III gambling at the reservations.  Now what class III gambling is, is slot machines, like in Vegas.  Now, most of those people (and I’m talking about racetracks again), most of those people come from the Santa Anita area—Bay Meadows, Hollywood Park, Los Alamitos, Del Mar and Golden Gate.  Well, do you know why they come to the Indian reservations?  So they can gamble.  How many times have you seen an Indian playing a slot machine?  They come there to gamble. And consequently, they leave these areas where there is money—they leave these areas where there is  money, they’re going to class III gambling, so you’ll see more.  

On the other side, when I was talking before, if you looked at what it’s doing to the racing in California—the racing in California, it’s a joke.  And it will continue.

MS. GALVIN:  But I think that the issue that you are bringing up is very important, because in economy, when you look at the speed and when 
Ms. Wiggins is telling us that the Governor has the budget, that the budget, you know, we all paying taxes.  But the issue here is, every time people go to a slot machine, the money stays there.  It doesn’t continue.  Like, I am a manufacturer, so I pay vendor, I pay my employees, I have a vendor who will pay employee, so the circulation of money keeps on going.  The problem about gambling and the problem about any type of gambling, the money stays where you lose.  So the problem is the money doesn’t continue to fluctuate and to bring _______ amounts _______.  
And you know, in Solvang, where we live, we saw the gaming tribe buying auto, buying restaurants and the problem, they are bussing people in, in the morning and they bringing them back at night after all the retail business close at 5:00.  That is not helping the economy.  And it’s little by little.  It’s taking everything apart.  It’s just spreading around.  It is why the cancer image, it’s a very sad image, but it’s exactly what it’s all about.  The symptom of gaming is about addiction; it’s about drugs; it’s about crime; it’s about depreciation; it’s about bankruptcy.  And it’s that that you guys should….I cannot even believe in America we actually have a discussion about trying to proliferate something that is as bad as that virus of gaming.  I cannot even believe….actually, it is real what we are doing today.  I have a real problem with that.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me give you a good example of this thing.  If the people who are going to the Indian reservation to play slots—pay slots, if in fact the places we’ve mentioned, and I just mentioned some like, Hollywood Park or Santa Anita and those places with the horseracing thing, they wouldn’t be going down there because they’d have….they don’t want to have slots in the cities where the people are coming for to go to the city.  They don’t want to have it there.  So what’s happening—I don’t know if it’s need or if it’s greed.  But when it happens, it’s that the people are leaving the city and going to the country.  They’re going to the agricultural because there’s nothing in the city.  You can’t go to Hollywood Park and play a slot machine.  You can’t go to Santa Anita and play a slot machine; you can’t go to Del Mar and play a slot machine, but that’s where all the people are.  

MS. GALVIN:  But you know what?  I live in the valley; I have for 13 years,

and actually watched people, because I have been involved with many organizations with children’s organizations, and I see people finally being completely apart.  And I think that you have a chance here in California; you are right at the beginning of something.  Of course, it’s always beautiful to hear “we’re going to get paid for doing that,” but if tomorrow you had some, I don’t know, business person who comes and says “You know what, can you help us to spread that virus all across the State of California?  Though you know, we have the remedy; we have the vaccine against it and when people get sick enough, we’re going to be able to release that vaccine and we’re going to make billions of dollars.  And you know what, you can get a cut ma’am or sir; I give you 10 percent.”  Can you imagine you guys doing that?  That is what you’re doing when you authorize gaming.  It’s a virus.  
And you have to not just listen to me for five minutes or people here, move in Reno; move in Vegas.  Live there for a week.  Go around, not with the eyes of being an Assemblyman or Senator, just with the eyes of being a mom or a dad and see if you want your kids to live there.  Why don’t you think that way?  And if the answer is yes, I can say yes.  But if the answer is no, think about us because we’re saying no and this is enough, and enough is enough.  And some people have said to us, “You know, the California residents voted for that in 2000.”  But the problem is, people didn’t get a trial test.  People voted for it.  And if you look at all the petition, people say “we regret our vote.”  But they have no way to say now we regret that because there is no way for them to go complain.  The only thing they are able to do is put their signature there, and we represent those people.

So if you can, please consider one thing, is maybe people didn’t know the _________ company was too strong; and they didn’t understand where they were going to put their finger into; and now they do know because they see the repercussion.  And just one little thing is…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, we’re going to need to close now.  Thank you.


MS. GALVIN:  Yes, I know and I’m finishing up with that, please.  If it takes the FDA 10 years to try to put on the market a new medication because they have to actually listen to the effect of the medication, why does it take you….it should take you at least 10 years and look at the effects of it before going and increasing something that is already affecting our community.  


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay, the next witness.


MR. MARINO:  Good afternoon, Chairman Florez, members of the committee.  I’m James Marino.  I was here this morning.  I’ll try to be brief and not touch on anything I mentioned this morning.


You should be aware that some of the existing class III casinos operating in California are operating on land that is not eligible for class III gaming and being operated by tribes who are in question in terms of their authenticity.  I mention that because when I met with Andrea Hauck(?) last year and asked her what steps the State would take to verify either of those required conditions and she said, “Well, we rely upon the BIA.” 


When I met last month with George Skibine in Washington, who is the director for gaming at the Bureau of Indian Affairs, he said, “If in fact, any tribe is operating on ineligible land or is ineligible themselves to engage in class III gaming, then it’s the State’s responsibility.”  His reasoning was that they’re outside of the Act at that point.  We only have authority under the Indian Gaming Act and if they’re not legally operating under the Act, then it’s up to the State.  
This is the kind of sort of ping pong that many local communities and many individuals are getting any time they want to have any kind of input or any kind of enforcement from any agency; is they get sort of, to put it bluntly, the runaround.
Now, I mentioned to you earlier, besides representing some communities, I also have represented a number of individuals, some who were fired because they had a work injury and never got past the adjuster.  They filed a claim and it was denied.  They ended up asking the State to enforce the compact; the State didn’t.  In my knowledge, hasn’t enforced the workers’ comp provision against any tribe (as I mentioned earlier this morning, that’s one of their required terms).  This case, literally, went all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court with the State’s attorney general arguing that as citizens we had no standing under the compact because it doesn’t provide for any third party beneficiary enforcement.  And also, that we had no standing under the Indian Gaming Act.  The bottom line is, these folks were told you don’t have any place to go.  If the State doesn’t enforce the terms of the compact, you’re out of luck, basically. 


So as I mentioned this morning, the biggest problem here right now is these compacts are basically worthless.  When I met with Governor Schwarzenegger’s negotiator, Dan Culke, in his office right after the Governor took office, I said, “Dan, you know, I know you’re a good negotiator and you’re making these new compacts which have now since been ratified (they were mentioned earlier).”  I said, “You can make the best compact in the world that provides for some of these things that are not provided for in the 1999 compacts, but if you don’t enforce them, let me tell you, the tribes are laughing at you,” and they are.  They’re laughing at the State because nothing is being done about anything.  Repeated violations have a remedy under the compact—Section 11 can terminate the compact for repeated violations.  You issue notice.  If it’s ignored, you can take action to terminate the compact.

I know of only one letter that Governor Schwarzenegger sent to a tribe down south because they were using those slot machine bingo machines, which are the ambivalent machines whether they’re slot machines or bingo machines and so on.  That’s the only letter that I know of that the Governor sent to anybody about the many daily violations that occur of the terms of the Tribal-State Compact.  And I mentioned this morning, that’s a big problem and why would you consider expanding gaming until these problems have been solved?


The last thing I want to say, and someone mentioned it earlier, there’s problem gambling.  And one of the problems with problem gambling is it’s very difficult to detect.  People don’t step up and say to you, “Well, geez, you know, I lost everything; I got divorced; I’m neglecting my family because I don’t have anymore money, I lost it all in the slot machines.”  I get calls from people who want to know what to do.  I got one last week from a lady down south who had lost basically everything in a casino and wanted to know if she had any legal recourse.  Believe or not; don’t laugh; she wanted to go down and meet with a casino manager and say “I want my money back.”  And it’s a problem because you cannot identify it easily.

And I read an article in the USA Today last weekend about what the Agua Caliente was doing to solve the problem, or try to solve the problem of gambling.  Their solution was, they were training their employees to look for people who say “I can’t stop gambling.”  Now, I don’t know if any of you have been in a casino; I’ve been in plenty—Las Vegas; here.  I don’t think I’ve ever seen anybody sitting at a machine or a gaming table saying “I can’t stop gambling.”  The problem is, you cannot identify it easily and it’s a much bigger problem already than you would realize.  

And I think that report that came out last June, I don’t remember the lady’s name, you probably read it, identifies it as a big problem and it’s a bigger problem than she said it was.
So I just want to close by saying, before you consider expanding casino gambling for any existing Indian Tribal Government, you need to address these very serious problems that you’ve been hearing about today.  And then if you’re satisfied those have been solved, that there is valid enforcement of the compact, and it really does have teeth, and you can make a tribe show you….and by the way, it’s a very easy thing.  All of these casinos have a very sophisticated computer system.  It can tell the central….if you plug into the central computer it can tell you not only every single bill that has been put into that slot machine, it can tell you every denomination of that bill and every penny that’s been paid out of that machine.  So all the State needs to do is plug into that computer and you’ll have no trouble figuring the net wins at any casino and enforce any agreement by a tribe to pay the State money—very easy to do.  I’d like to see that happen but I don’t think you’re going to have much success with that because the tribes are going to say, “Sovereign immunity, we’re not going to let you look at our computer or find out how much money we’re making.”

Anyway, I just reiterate….and thank you for the time; I know I’ve been a little wordy…,that you consider these many problems before you consider expanding any gaming compacts.

Thank you.

TRACE EUBANKS:  Good afternoon.  My name is Trace Eubanks.  I’m from the Santa Inez Valley, as well.  I’m here to oppose the expansion of any tribal expansions.  I’ve been living in the Santa Inez Valley for over 30 years.  I’ve seen the major impacts that have occurred in our community, and I’m certain that several other communities are experiencing the same negative impacts that we are.  And I can speak for many people within our community that we feel that we’re taking the brunt of the revenues that will be generated in retrospect to, and respect to, California having a deficit problem.  And these small rural communities may be rural now and you may not think that it’s harming very many people, but because these casinos come in and are allowed to expand, they do become an urban area slowly but surely.  And, unfortunately, with that comes traffic and crime and what have you, which is what we’re experiencing right now.
So my main comment to you is, what concerns me after hearing the hearing today is, we’re a beautiful golden state but are we going to become a gambling state?  And I think this is what this boils down to.  A perfect example is Nevada and Las Vegas.  Las Vegas was built as a gambling community.  They acclimated to it.  Their infrastructure was grown because it was a gambling community.  We’re not.  We’re being forced to adapt to a gambling community and our infrastructure is falling apart.  And our leaders are being basically….well, anyhow, we need control.  We have no control.  We have no voice.  We have an entity growing in our community and we basically have to sit there and wonder what’s going to happen next and if we have to move.  And we’d really appreciate it if you would take in consideration that this community and all small communities and all communities within gambling, have to acclimate themselves to the introduction of gaming that we’re not used to.

Thank you.

MR. CRANFORD:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, members of the committee, Chairman Florez.  My name is Butch Cranford.  I’m from Plymouth, California.  I’m here today supporting the folks from Santa Inez.  But as many of you may be aware, we have an expansion of gaming going on in Amador County not related to these specific compacts.  
I would invite each of you, Mr. Marino alluded to the fact that many of the lands in California, there may be gaming being conducted on lands that are not eligible for class III gaming and, therefore, the State has jurisdiction on those lands.  As a committee, I believe that you need to take a very close look and begin to investigate exactly how many lands in California are reservations and held in trust for the specific interest of a specific tribe.  There are few, if any, where gaming is being conducted today.  

The Office of the Inspector General in September 2004, 2005 issued a report and I can provide the report number and a copy.  The report is online.  Over 250 casinos in the United States have never had a lands determination done where class III gaming is being conducted.  Many of those lands are here in California.  

In Amador County, our county has filed suit because the lands determination at Buena Vista.  The NIGC has invented a reservation where none ever existed.  If you take a look at the opinion, and it’s on the NIGC web page, for Buena Vista, you will find that they admit that the 67 acres owned by the Buena Vista Tribe, Ms. Pope, one individual, is fee land.  It’s an admission that is in their opinion.  Then they go on to invent a reservation.  There never was a reservation.  
The situation that we have now in Plymouth, I would invite you to go read the Secretary of Interior, Carl J. Artman’s opinion about the restored land status because this is how gaming is being expanded.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, no, no.  I understand.  So, do you want a hearing in Amador County on this topic?

MR. CRANFORD:  I believe that we should have a….every community needs to have a voice.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you want this committee to go to Amador County and have a hearing on this topic?

MR. CRANFORD:  Certainly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Then you’ve invited us.  Okay, I just wanted to make that clear.  And tie it back now to this particular compact.

MR. CRANFORD:  These particular compacts, as I said before….and I believe it’s an invitation to the tribes that don’t have 5,000 machines.  Let’s go get one.  Let’s go expand it everywhere we can.  

Buena Vista is a classic example:  A one-member tribe with a 350 machine compact.  It’s now 2,000 machines.  I submit to you, anyone who could argue that a family of one adult member and three minor children needs any casino at all is a ludicrous presumption and suggestion, but it’s been expanded to 2,000 machines.  If you look at Buena Vista, take a look at what the Governor did there to get that compact renegotiated.  The original compact was entered into by a person who is a fraud—Donnamarie Potts.  In fact, the Governor had to have a federal court stay lifted for one day in order for her to signoff on the old compact so the new one could be put enforce.  
These are the kinds of activities that are going on in the expansion of gaming.  Those are the kinds of activities that are going on in existing casinos with these compacts, and they will continue to go on until the members of this committee, the members of this Legislature finally stand up and protect the interests of the 35 million citizens, residents and taxpayers of California and say, not stop, but let’s wait.  Let’s find out if these new compacts, of what additional benefit is it to the Tribe; what’s the detriment to the community?  Let’s just take a look and do what we’re supposed to do in IGRA.  Let’s have some local input.  Let’s go to those communities you suggest, Senator Florez, and let’s have some open forums and let the community speak.  

I thank you for the time here today.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let Senator Cox know you’ve invited us and we’ll make sure that…

MR. CRANFORD:  I will __________

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.  Thank you.  Are there any other comments, at the end of the day, here?  Mr. Chairman, you have the opportunity to close.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I appreciate it.  I know you guys have been here a long couple of days.  We appreciate your time and we’ll keep this short.

In 1875, Ulysses S. Grant, the president of the United States, put the Sycuan Band of Kumeyaay Nation on a one square mile of property in Dehesa Valley (640 acres), where half of it is a mountain, and they said “You go grow your corn on this property, Mr. Chairman.”  And I said, well, I didn’t say it because I wasn’t alive then.  But anyway, the thing is, that we’ve been here for a very long time and we’re not going to go anywhere.  And we want to work with our community.  We want to make sure they understand that.  We don’t want to hurt anybody.  This is our home.  We’ve been here for 12,000 years and we’re not going to spoil our environment; we’re not going to spoil this stuff either because we do care about who we are.
Sovereignty is based on land and land is our sovereignty, and if we don’t look at it that way, then the Tribe we say we are, we are not, because that’s what we are.  And so, these guys have got to do some technical stuff real quick, but I just wanted to make it clear to this Body, that this tribe, Sycuan Band, is very, very aware of environmental, very aware of the union issue, very well aware of what happens with problem gamblers, and we do take those things head on because we do take that stuff very, very seriously, especially myself as chairman.  As my constituents say “You go out and get the best things you can for our Tribe for the next seven generations that we’re still going to be a tribe seven generations from now,” and we’re going to be.  

So, with that, there were some things that were said about our place in the Dehesa Valley and what we’ve done in the Dehesa Valley, you know, the water issue.  We have brought in water and it wasn’t cheap.  It was expensive to bring the water to our reservation.  And, unfortunately, we have to go through a process now because we were a black hole in the water district area.  There were two water districts that we cannot get water to our own reservation original.  We get it to our surrounding properties via _____ Hills, via Big Oak Ranch, and the facilities around us, but we cannot get water yet to our own homes on the reservation because we’re not in a water district, so we have to deal with that.  It’s a two-year process that we have to deal with.  But we’re taking care of it.  We’re going to get there.  We still have our well water.  We’re going to keep using that.  So, we get that water to the school.  We didn’t pay for the whole bill, but we worked with the school to get their water.  In fact, they didn’t have any water for a couple of years; they were using bottled water in our school that our kids go to.  I think it’s had its 132nd graduating class.  That correct, Wally?  Pretty old, isn’t it, Dehesa School?  It’s about the 130th graduating class?  But anyway, my mother graduated from there.  It’s a very old school.  But, the thing is, that we’ve been here for a very long time, as well.  
And so, Adam, he was mentioning this in the briefing; Wally had ________ to tell them what that is, so do so.
ADAM DAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and committee members.  As the Chairman indicated, the Tribe’s very proud of the relationship that they’ve established with the local planning group.  In fact, we were the first tribe, to our knowledge, to sign a formal memorandum of understanding with the locally elected planning group.  It’s something that the Tribe is proud of and is going to continue to work very well towards accomplishing.  We’re also proud of the fact that we’ve received dozens and dozens of letters from elected officials in support of our compact.  We’ve handed those out to you.  Four of the five county supervisors are endorsing our compact, as is the elected sheriff and district attorney—broad bipartisan support from elected officials, community leaders.  We have thousands and thousands of individuals.  We didn’t prepare or copy those for you today, but we’ve got a lot of support.

The concerns that were addressed about negotiating with the planning group, while the Tribe is proud of the relationship with the planning group, unfortunately what they’ve asked you to ask us to do is a violation of federal law and the State Constitution.  Both documents are very clear that the Tribe must negotiate, on a government to government basis with the Governor, not with the locally elected planning group.  So while we’ve let them know everything that we’re doing and we’ve solved every problem that they’ve asked us to solve, including the extension of the water line, natural gas line, cable line and road and traffic safety improvements, reduction and elimination of light pollution, just a whole host of community concerns that have been brought to the Tribe’s attention that the Tribe has positively resolved.  You know, sitting down with the planning group is just not something that’s allowed under federal law or state law.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  _________ George, do you have anything?  If not, let’s get out of here.

MR. FORMAN:  I was just going to very briefly address that the amended compact is quite site specific and there’s not another tribe in the State that could do gaming within the boundaries of the Sycuan Reservation as described in the amended compacts.  So 15.4 is really not an issue, and even for a tribe that wishes to exercise the “most favored tribe” clause with respect to some other compact, they could not get one for a longer term than their existing compact.  And so, were a tribe today or tomorrow to get another tribe’s compact, they would have little more than 10 years left on it, which would not allow, financially, the kind of projects about which concern has been expressed.

CHAIRMAN TUCKER:  So, Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for the opportunity for us to come here today.  And your committee members, I want to thank you.  And, you know, it’s been exciting for me.  Quite an eye opener to be involved with this stuff, but it’s been very exciting in seeing how this system really works, and to be a part of it is being an American, so I really appreciate that.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and the members who have participated.  Thank you, Senator Vincent, particularly, Senator Battin, Senator Denham and Senator Wiggins.  I very much appreciate the very long hearings on these compacts.  They are now completed.  Our due diligence, at least from the legislative perspective, is, from this committee’s perspective, complete.  And I do want to thank everyone for sticking through these hearings.  And if there are any closing statements—seeing and hearing none, we will adjourn the Governmental Organization informational hearings on the 2007 compacts.
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